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Lingbao Gold Group Company Ltd. (“Lingbao Gold” or the “Company” and together with its subsidiaries,
the “Group”) is listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) since 12 January 2006.

The Group is an integrated gold mining enterprise in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”), and is mainly
engaged in gold mining, smelting and refining. The products of the Group are gold, silver, copper products
and sulphuric acid. The Shanghai Gold Exchange certified the Group as a standard gold bullion production
enterprise. The Group’s mineral resources are scattered in the PRC regions of Henan, Xinjiang, Jiangxi, Inner
Mongolia and Gansu, and Kyrgyz Republic (“KR”) with 35 mining and exploration rights with a total area of
240.75 sqg. km. The total gold reserves and resources as at 31 December 2022 were approximately 135.079
tonnes (approximately 4,342,736 ounces) respectively. The gold reserve and resources report is prepared in
accordance with PRC GB/T17766—2020, “Solid Mineral Resources/Reserves Classification”, GB/T13908—2020
“General Requirements for Solid Mineral Geological Exploration” and DZ/T0205-2020 “Geological Exploration
Requirements for Hard-Rock Gold”. In 2022, approximately 24,353 kg (approximately 782,967 ounces) of
gold bullion was produced by the Group, and the basic and diluted earnings per share for the year ended
31 December 2022 was RMB27.8 cents.

The objective of the Group’s strategy in the future is continuous expansion, to become the leading
integrated gold mining enterprise in the PRC and gradually promote our brand in the international market.
The Group will focus on the exploration and expansion of production scale and continue to acquire gold
resources with potential.

The following is a table of gold resources and reserves of the Group as at 31 December 2022:

Proven+

No. Mine (Project) Name Minerals Unit Indicated Inferred Total
1 Henan Lingjin No. 1 Mine Gold Ore () 2,854,233 3,402,901 6,257,134
Grade (g/t) 5.43 5.83 5.37

Gold Contained (kg) 15,511 18,152 33,663

2 Henan Hongtuling Gold Mine  Gold Ore (1) 116,856 113,120 229,976
Grade (g/t) 4.79 4.75 4.77

Gold Contained (kg) 560 537 1,097

8 Henan Hongxin No. 1 Mine Gold Ore () 113,027 36,065 149,092
Grade (g/t) 4.41 3.88 4.29

Gold Contained (kg) 499 140 639

4 Henan Lingjin No. 2 Mine Gold Ore (1) 691,058 364,941 1,055,999
Grade (g/t) 7.44 7.42 7.43

Gold Contained (kg) 5,144 2,707 7,851

5 Henan Lingjin No. 3 Mine Gold Ore () 126,395 131,354 257,749
Grade (g/t) 5.60 4.62 5.10

Gold Contained (kg) 708 607 15815

6 Henan Tongbailaowan Gold Ore (1) 102,752 532,739 635,491
Goldfield (Pengjialaozhuang Grade (g/t) 4.50 4.69 4.66
Section) Gold Contained (kg) 462 2,497 2,959

7 Henan Tongbailaowan Gold Ore () 402,652 310.353 713,005
Goldfield (Shangshanghe Grade (g/t) 4.56 4.80 4.67

Section) Gold Contained (kg) 1,838 1,490 3,328
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Proven+

No. Mine (Project) Name Minerals Unit Indicated Inferred Total
8 Henan Tongbailaowan Gold Ore (1) 675,652 3,027,674 3,703,326
Goldfield (Periphery of Grade (g/t) 5.80 4.87 5.04
Shangshanghe Section) Gold Contained (kg) 3,920 14,752 18,672

9 Henan Tongbailaowan Gold Ore () 138,124 116,534 254,658
Goldfield (Laowan Section) Grade (g/t) 4.32 3.42 3.91

Gold Contained (kg) 597 399 996

10 Henan Tongbailaowan Gold Ore (1) 440,564 189,845 630,409
Goldfield (Eastern Laowan Grade (g/t) 6.40 7.05 6.60
Section) Gold Contained (kg) 2,821 1,338 4,159

11 Xinjilang Duolanasayi Gold Mine Gold Ore (1) 353,735 1,019,839 1,373,574
Grade (g/t) 4.22 4.63 4.58

Gold Contained (kg) 1,498 4,726 6,219

12 Deep part of Xinjiang Gold Ore (1) 552,396 552,396
Duolanasayi Gold Mine Grade (g/t) 6.27 6.27

Gold Contained (kg) 3,461 3,461

13 Periphery of Xinjiang Gold Ore (1) 129,803 129,803
Duolanasayi Gold Mine Grade (g/t) 518 5.18

Gold Contained (kg) 672 672

14 Xinjiang Tuokuzibayi Gold Mine Gold Ore (1) 116,283 103,826 220,109
Grade (g/t) 4.70 8.18 6.32

Gold Contained (kg) 546 844 1,390

15 Deep part of Xinjiang Gold Ore () 21,828 318,909 340,737
Tuokuzibayi Gold Mine Grade (g/t) 4.76 4.90 4.89

Gold Contained (kg) 104 1,563 1,667

16 Jinchanshan Gold Mine of Gold Ore (1) 588,246 298,914 887,160
Inner Mongolia Grade (g/t) .18 5.04 .10

Gold Contained (kg) 3,016 1,508 4,524

17 Shuiguan Gou Gold Mine of  Gold Ore (1) 746,112 746,112
Inner Mongolia Grade (g/t) 10.13 10.13

Gold Contained (kg) 7,560 7,560

Total of gold contained — 37,219 62,953 100,172

Domestic
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Proven+

No. Mine (Project) Name Minerals Unit Indicated Inferred Total

18 Upper part of Istanbul Gold Gold Ore (1) 668,890 1,577,745 2,246,635

Mine of Kyrgyzstan Grade (g/t) 8.92 6.63 7.31

Gold Contained (kg) 5,965 10,460 16,425

19 Eastern Istanbul Gold Mine of Gold Ore (1) 101,075 1,560,364 1,661,439

Kyrgyzstan Grade (g/t) 7.96 6.64 6.72

Gold Contained (kg) 805 10,359 11,164

20 Istanbul Gold Mine of Gold Ore (1) 6,228 630,789 637,017

Kyrgyzstan Grade (g/t) 10.92 11.49 11.49

Gold Contained (kg) 68 7,250 7,318

Total of gold contained — 6,838 28,069 34,907
Oversea

Total of gold contained 44,057 91,022 185,079

The total gold resources and reserves of the Group were made according to the Geological Exploration
Requirements for Hard-Rock Gold (DZ/T0205-2020) issued by the Ministry of Land and Resources of the
PRC by adopting the following assumptions:

Henan Lingjin no. 1 Mine

Gold resources and reserves reporting cutoff grade was 1g/t, and the minimum industrial grade was 3g/t.
The ore resources and reserves depletion for Henan Lingjin No. 1 Mine was approximately 2.750kg.

The resources and reserves included diluting materials with an assuming dilution grade of 0g/t.
Parameters for short hole shrinkage mining method:

Length of block: 50m

Minimum width of block: 1.0m

Pillar between blocks: 5m

Crown pillar: 5m

Distance between levels: 50m

£ 0N =

Henan Hongtuling Gold Mine

The gold resources and reserves reporting cutoff grade was 1g/t, and the minimum industrial grade was 2.5g/t.
The ore resources and reserves depletion for Henan Hongtuling Gold Mine was approximately Okg.

The resources and reserves included diluting materials with an assuming dilution grade of 0g/t.

Parameters for short hole shrinkage mining method:

Length of block: 50m

Minimum width of block: 1.0m

Pillar between blocks: 5m

Crown pillar: 5m

Distance between levels: 50m

BB =
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Henan Hongxin no. 1 Mine

1.
2.
3.
4.

The gold resources and reserves reporting cutoff grade was 1g/t, and the minimum industrial grade was 2.5g/t.
The ore resources and reserves depletion for Henan Hongxin No. 1 Mine was Okg.

The resources and reserves included diluting materials with an assuming dilution grade of 0g/t.

Parameters for short hole shrinkage mining method:

Length of block: 50m

Minimum width of block: 0.8m

Pillar between blocks: 5m

Crown pillar: 5m

Distance between levels: 50m

Henan Lingjin no. 2 Mine

The gold resources and reserves reporting cutoff grade was 1g/t, and the minimum industrial grade was 2.5g/t.
The ore resources and reserves depletion for Henan Lingjin No. 2 Mine was Okg.

The resources and reserves included diluting materials with an assuming dilution grade of 0g/t.

Parameters for short hole shrinkage mining method:

Length of block: 50m

Minimum width of block: 1.2m

Pillar between blocks: 6m

Crown pillar: 5m

Distance between levels: 50m

L

Henan Tongbailaowan Goldfield (Pengjialaozhuang Section)

1. The gold resources and reserves reporting cutoff grade was 1g/t, and the minimum industrial grade was 2.5g/t.
2. The ore resources and reserves depletion for Henan Pengjialaozhuang Gold Mine was 92kg.
3. The resources and reserves included diluting materials with an assuming dilution grade of 0g/t.

Henan Tongbailaowan Goldfield (Shangshanghe Section)

The gold resources and reserves reporting cutoff grade was 1g/t, and the minimum industrial grade was 2.5g/t.
The ore resources and reserves depletion for Henan Shangshanghe Gold Mine was 423kg.

The resources and reserves included diluting materials with an assuming dilution grade of 0g/t.

Parameters for short hole shrinkage mining method:

Length of block: 50m

Minimum width of block: 0.8m

Pillar between blocks: 5m

Crown pillar: 5m

Distance between levels: 50m

>N

Henan Tongbailaowan Goldfield (Periphery of Shangshanghe Section)

No geological exploration and mining activities have been conducted since the record in the Ministry of Land and Resources of
the PRC in 2011. The former gold resources and reserves reporting cutoff grade was 1g/t, and the minimum industrial grade was
2.5g/t.
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Henan Tongbailaowan Goldfield (Laowan Section)

Eal I

The gold resources and reserves reporting cutoff grade was 1g/t, and the minimum industrial grade was 2.5g/t.
The ore resources and reserves depletion for Henan Laowan Gold Mine was Okg.

The resources and reserves included diluting materials with an assuming dilution grade of 0g/t.

Parameters for short hole shrinkage mining method:

Length of block: 50m

Minimum width of block: 0.8m

Pillar between blocks: 5m

Crown pillar: 5m

Distance between levels: 50m

Henan Tongbailaowan Goldfield (Eastern Laowan Section)

The gold resources and reserves reporting cutoff grade was 1g/t, and the minimum industrial grade was 2.5g/t.
The ore resources and reserves increment for Henan Eastern Laowan Gold Mine was 803kg.

The resources and reserves included diluting materials with an assuming dilution grade of 0g/t.

Length of block: 50m

Minimum width of block: 0.8m

Pillar between blocks: 5m

Crown pillar: 5m

Distance between levels: 50m

Xinjiang Duolanasayi Gold Mine

Ea I

The gold resources and reserves reporting cutoff grade was 1g/t, and the minimum industrial grade was 3g/t.
The ore resources and reserves depletion for Xinjiang Duolanasayi Gold Mine was 784kg.

The resources and reserves included diluting materials with an assuming dilution grade of 0g/t.

Parameters for flat base short hole shrinkage mining method:

Length of block: 50m

Minimum width of block: 0.8m

Pillar between blocks: 5m

Crown pillar: 8m

Distance between levels: 50m

Deep Part of Xinjiang Duolanasayi Gold Mine

The mine is conducting geological exploration activities. The former gold resources and reserves reporting cutoff grade was 1g/t,
and the minimum industrial grade was 3g/t.

Periphery of Xinjiang Duolanasayi Gold Mine

The mine is conducting geological exploration activities. The former gold resources and reserves reporting cutoff grade was 1g/t,
and the minimum industrial grade was 3g/t.
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Xinjiang Tuokuzibayi Gold Mine

1.
2.
3.
4.

The gold resources and reserves reporting cutoff grade was 1g/t, and the minimum industrial grade was 3g/t.
The ore resources and reserves depletion for Xinjiang Tuokuzibayi Gold Mine was 164kg.

The resources and reserves included diluting materials with an assuming dilution grade of 0g/t.

Parameters for flat base short hole shrinkage mining method:

Length of block: 50m

Minimum width of block: 0.8m

Pillar between blocks: 5m

Crown pillar: 6m

Distance between levels: 50m

Deep Part of Xinjiang Tuokuzibayi Gold Mine

The mine is conducting geological exploration activities, and no mining activities has been conducted. The former gold resources
and reserves reporting cutoff grade was 1g/t, and the minimum industrial grade was 3g/t.

Jinchanshan Gold Mine of Inner Mongolia

The gold resources and reserves reporting cutoff grade was 1g/t, and the minimum industrial grade was 3g/t.
The ore resources and reserves depletion for Jinchanshan Gold Mine was 146kg.

The resources and reserves included diluting materials with an assuming dilution grade of 0g/t.

Parameters for short hole shrinkage mining method:

Length of block: 50m

Minimum width of block: 0.8m

Pillar between blocks: 5m

Crown pillar: 6m

Distance between levels: 40m

>N~

Shuiquan Gou Gold Mine of Inner Mongolia

The mine is in the stage of applying mining permit procedure and no exploration and exploitation activities are carried out. The
former gold resources and reserves reporting cutoff grade was 1g/t, and the minimum industrial grade was 3g/t.

Upper Part of Istanbul Gold Mine of Kyrgyzstan

The gold resources and reserves reporting cutoff grade was 1g/t, and the minimum industrial grade was 3g/t.
The ore resources and reserves depletion for Upper Part of Istanbul Gold Mine was 755kg.

The resources and reserves included diluting materials with an assuming dilution grade of 0g/t.

Parameters for sublevel caving mining method:

Length of block: 50m

Minimum width of block: 0.8m

Pillar between blocks: 5m

Crown pillar: 6m

Distance between levels: 40m

> o
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Eastern Istanbul Gold Mine of Kyrgyzstan

1. The gold resources and reserves reporting cutoff grade was 1g/t, and the minimum industrial grade was 3g/t.
2. The resources and reserves included diluting materials with an assuming dilution grade of 0g/t.
3. Parameters for sublevel caving mining method:

Length of block: 50m
Minimum width of block: 0.8m
Pillar between blocks: 5m
Crown pillar: 6m

Distance between levels: 40m

Istanbul Gold Mine of Kyrgyzstan

The mine is conducting geological exploration activities. The former gold resources and reserves reporting cutoff grade was 1g/t,
and the minimum industrial grade was 3g/t.

The gold resources and reserves estimates were based on the estimates of resources and reserves as approved for record by the
Department of Land and Resources of the PRC in 2011. The changes in gold resources and reserves during the period were due
to mining consumption and exploration and was confirmed by qualified mineral resources evaluator.



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

We express our appreciation for the trust and support you have in Lingbao Gold Group Company Ltd. | am
pleased to present the operating results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022:

In 2022, despite complicated and volatile development conditions at home and abroad and various difficult
challenges, the Company has achieved good performance with the hard work of all employees by promoting
its production and operation in an overall manner and increasing its efforts to pursue internal reforms. For
the year under review, our overall business operation is summarized into five aspects as follows:

)

(1)

(1)

(Iv)

Orderly advancement of internal reform

The Company brought in a team of high-caliber experts and consultants to conduct research on its
strategic planning, technical management, production schedule and other areas, so as to provide new
ideas and recommendations for the Company’s future development. We promoted the reform of
production activities at underground mines, with initial results achieved. The Company also
strengthened the allocation of technical personnel to improve its research capabilities. Besides
establishing a sound compliance management system, the Company pushed forward with the reform of
the supply and marketing management system.

Progressive results from efficiency enhancement

The “Regulations on the Management of Used and Backlogged Materials (€& & & B2 47 & & 12 i 5%))”
was introduced and an accountability system was established to achieve efficient resource
management. By virtue of Period-end Uncredited VAT Refund Policy (88 #iE % %), the Company
strove for the pricing of financing activities to achieve financial efficiency. By tapping into the cost
management experience of industry peers, we gradually improved our cost report analysis system to
achieve cost reduction and efficiency enhancement. Besides improving the gold grade of purchased
raw materials, the Company carried out research on ore processing process and technical research,
and optimized the production process to achieve quality and efficiency improvement.

Orderly advancement of technical reform projects

The technical reform project of the processing plant and shaft reconstruction project of Xingyuan was
completed, resulting in significant improvement in the processing capacity and elevating capacity in
shafts. The technical reform project of the tailings dewatering workshop in Huatai was completed,
which resolved the challenge where the processing plant could not operate at a full capacity. The
smelting branch carried out various technical reforms, including the construction of the
cyanide-containing wastewater desalination project and the treatment of refined smelting flue gas.

Workplace safety and environmental protection running smoothly

Besides strengthening workplace safety education and training, we intensified the efforts to control
workplace safety hazards and environmental risks, inspect and resolve hidden dangers, and supervise
the implementation of the work system where the team head will lead the shaft operations with the
team members. As a result, production safety was effectively improved with a more solid basic
management. Through strengthening environmental risks control and implementation of treatment
measures, the overall operation of the environmental control facilities in use was running smoothly
resulting in stable operation in our workplace safety and environmental protection.
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V)

Integration and synergy of the party and league work

The Company carried out regular, systematic and normalized party building activities to improve and
perfect the work system of its party committee. It had organized its 20th anniversary celebration. The
Company established a sound democratic management mechanism for its employees, actively fulfilled
its social responsibility, while persisting in operating with integrity and paying taxes according to the
law. To fulfil our social corporate responsibilities, we carried out a series of public welfare activities
such as voluntary services for regular pandemic control, civilized city development campaigns, village
revitalization programs, and golden-autumn school sponsorship.

While fully recognizing the achievements, we are also conscious of the ongoing issues such as high
production costs and insufficient resource reserves in the Company’s development. We must take
these issues seriously by taking effective measures to resolve these issues one by one in the future.

Work Plan and Outlook in 2023

Looking into 2023, the Company will promote its strategic transformation and upgrading and implement its
extensive reforms. According to our overall work principle for 2023, the Company will strengthen its basic
management with reference to top domestic enterprises by focusing on the strategy of “becoming a large
gold production powerhouse”, while continuing to improve the development quality and business
performance by facilitating technological innovation and unleashing the momentum from reforms.

U

(m

()

To persist in the strategy-oriented approach to map the industrial innovation layout from a
high starting point

By fully analyzing the Group’s current conditions, future development potential and external
environment, the Group shall reconsider its future development strategy by further defining the
development orientation, vision and objective, and corporate culture and values of the Group in a bid
to build consensus in concerted efforts. In addition, we shall implement the strategy of developing a
robust company through talents and promote industrial transformation and upgrading by constructing
smart mines.

To solidify the foundation of resources for future development through vigorous resources
exploration and integration

To further consolidate the foundation of resources, we shall strengthen our efforts to explore and
integrate resources. Furthermore, for key prospecting projects, we shall accelerate our work progress
in mineral prospecting and reserve expansion by increasing incentives for mineral prospecting and
reserve expansion.

To further promote efficient and expeditious production and operation by vigorously enhancing
work efficiency

We are required to focus organizing and managing production activities at the mines to enhance
production efficiency by improving the mining volume and ore quality. Besides accelerating the
progress of key projects for the mines, we shall continue to optimize the production systems of
underground mines.



(v)

V)

(1)

(viy

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

To speed up the construction of technological innovation platforms and strengthen the leading
and supporting role of technological innovation

We will advance the reform of our technology ecosystem and mechanism by pursuing technological
breakthrough and innovation for the whole chain of mining, processing and smelting. In addition, the
application of the tailings backfilling technology shall be gradually promoted throughout our mines to
effectively resolve tailings discharge and safety management for goaf areas, thus promoting the
construction of green tailings-free mines.

To enhance risk control and prevention by tightening internal control and compliance
management

We shall improve the compliance management system by enforcing compliance requirements for all
business segments, including the whole process of decision-making, execution and supervision.
Furthermore, we will comprehensively improve and revise various internal management systems,
strengthen compliance management of key links, and reinforce the management of authorizations and
licenses of the Group.

To explore internal potential by fully implementing measures to reduce costs and increase
efficiency

By tapping into the advanced management experiences of our industry peers, we will establish a
practical cost control model and control system. In particular, we will constantly reduce costs by
exercising strict control over the mining unit price, improving efficiency, strengthening management and
optimizing financial management. Furthermore, incentives, if utilized flexibly, will help encourage and
motivate our employees to reduce costs when fulfilling their duties.

To deepen internal reforms so as to stimulate the business vitality

The Group will promote transformation and reform of its functions, advance the structural reform of its
branches and subsidiaries, and implement reforms of the remuneration incentive and personnel
systems to establish a scientific talent attraction and training mechanism, which aims to establish an
institutional mechanism that is more compatible with the Group’s new development pattern.

(VIIl) To secure the red line and bottom line so as to continue maintaining and stabilizing workplace

safety and environmental protection

By committing to a safety concept that prioritizes life above all else, the Group will vigorously advance
the standardization of safe production, the dual prevention system, and the intelligent construction of
mining sites, with the ultimate goal of comprehensively elevating our essential safety measures. The
Group will also strengthen its supervision and management of goaf areas, and rigorously fulfill our
environmental responsibilities to ensure that the emission of waste water, waste gas, and waste
residue meets relevant standards.

Great endeavors require joint efforts and important missions require the same dedication. We must
seize development opportunities in a concerted effort, and dedicate ourselves to pursuing pragmatism
when turning our plans and strategies into concrete actions, which will help advance Lingbao Gold
towards becoming a world-renowned and domestically renowned large-scale mining group.
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APPRECIATION
On behalf of the Board, | wish to express our sincere gratitude to all the shareholders for their support and
trust, and to the management and all the staff for their dedication and hard work over the past year.

By order of the Board

Chen Jianzheng
Chairman

Lingbao, Henan, the PRC
20 March 2023



REVIEW OF BUSINESS

In the year ended 31 December 2022 (“Fiscal Year 2022”), the Group produced approximately 24,353 kg
(equivalent to approximately 782,967 ounces) of gold bullion, representing an increase of approximately
11,101 kg (equivalent to approximately 356,905 ounces) or 83.8% as compared with the previous year. The
increase in the production volume of gold bullion was primarily due to (i) a year-on-year increase of
approximately 25% in the overall production volume of the mining segment compared with the
corresponding period of the previous year as a result of the Group’s efforts to strengthen the production
organization of mines, leading to further releasing the production potential and a steady and sustained
improvement in operating conditions; and (ii) an increase in the production volume of gold bullion processed
from compound gold purchased from external suppliers in the smelting segment to enhance the capital
utilisation efficiency. Benefiting from the increase in the production volume of gold bullion, the Group’s
revenue increased by approximately 90.0% to approximately RMB4,795,847,000 as compared with that of
the corresponding period of the previous year. As of the Fiscal Year 2022, the production volume for the
year increased significantly through the Group’s continued optimisation of the mine production system,
enhancement of the production capacity of the mining segment, continuous improvement of the internal
control system of the Group and strengthened production management. The net profit of the Group was
approximately RMB230,270,000 (for the year ended 31 December 2021 (“Fiscal Year 2021”): net profit of
RMB117,639,000). The basic earnings per share of the Company for the Fiscal Year 2022 was RMB27.8
cents (Fiscal Year 2021: RMB15.0 cents).

The Group’s mineral resources are mainly scattered in the regions of Henan, Xinjiang, Inner Mongolia,
Jiangxi and Gansu of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and Kyrgyz Republic (“KR”) with 35 mining
and exploration rights as at 31 December 2022, covering 240.75 square kilometers. The total gold reserves
and resources as at 31 December 2022 were approximately 135.079 tonnes (4,342,736 ounces).

1. Mining Segment
Revenue and production
Our mining business mainly comprises the sales of gold concentrates and compound gold. Most of the
gold concentrates and compound gold were sold to the Group’s smelting plant as intra-group sales.

The following table sets forth the analysis on the production and sales volume of the mining segment
by product category:

2021
Approximate

production Approximate
Unit volume sales volume

Gold concentrates (contained
gold) kg 3,250 3,060
Compound gold kg 1,088 1,098
Total kg 4,338 4,158
Total Ounce 139,470 133,683
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The total revenue of the mining segment of the Group for the Fiscal Year 2022 was approximately
RMB1,936,833,000, representing an increase of approximately RMB456,972,000 or 30.9% from
approximately RMB1,479,861,000 in the previous year. Such increase benefited from a year-on-year
increase in the production and sales volume of various mines to varying degrees compared to previous
year due to the Group’s efforts to strengthen internal control management. Among them, revenue from
Mining — PRC was approximately RMB1,769,349,000 (Fiscal Year 2021: RMB1,419,094,000), and
revenue from Mining — KR was approximately RMB167,484,000 (Fiscal Year 2021: RMB60,767,000).
In the Fiscal Year 2022, revenue of gold mines in Henan, Xinjiang, KR and Inner Mongolia represented
approximately 73.7%, 16.1%, 8.6% and 1.6% of the total revenue of the mining segment, respectively.
The production volume of compound gold in the mining segment decreased by approximately 249 kg
to approximately 839 kg while the production volume of the gold concentrates increased by
approximately 1,332 kg to approximately 4,582 kg.

Segment results

The Group’s total profit of the mining segment for the Fiscal Year 2022 was approximately
RMB511,646,000, representing an increase of approximately 6.1% as compared with that in the Fiscal
Year 2021, among which, the profit from Mining — PRC was approximately RMB516,640,000 (Fiscal
Year 2021: RMB521,676,000), and the loss from Mining — KR was approximately RMB4,994,000
(Fiscal Year 2021: loss of RMB39,424,000). The segment result to segment revenue ratio of the
Group’s mining business for the Fiscal Year 2022 was approximately 26.4%, as compared with
approximately 32.6% for Fiscal Year 2021.

In the Fiscal Year 2022, the revenue from the Mining — PRC segment increased by approximately
24.7% as compared with that in the Fiscal Year 2021, mainly benefiting from the Group’s efforts to
strengthen the management of mines by enabling major mines to organize production and further
release the production potential despite the impact of the pandemic. The Group completed the
production of 5,421 kg of gold concentrates (contained gold) and compound gold throughout the year,
representing an increase of 1,083 kg and a year-on-year increase of 25.0%. The Group deepened the
reform of management mechanism, and brought the advantages of independent operation from
Nanshan branch into full play to adjust the operation mode of Lingjin One Mine, while strengthening
the production organization of mines to further release production potential, resulting in an increase in
annual production as compared with the Fiscal Year 2021. With outstanding production quality and
production efficiency control, promotion of exploration and mining technology, improvement of hoisting
capability, and processing plant expansion project, Tongbai Xingyuan Mining Company Limited
(“Xingyuan”) recorded a significant increase in its production as compared to the Fiscal Year 2021,
reaching the highest level in the past ten years.

In addition, thanks to the steady optimization of mineral separation indicators of Full Gold Mining
Limited Liability Company (“Full Gold”) through the research and development of the mineral separation
process and technical breakthroughs, the Mining — KR segment recorded a stable increase in its
revenue. As a result, the loss for the Fiscal Year 2022 was reduced from approximately
RMB39,424,000 in the Fiscal Year 2021 to approximately RMB4,994,000.



+ Annual Report 2022 LINGBAO GOLD GROUP COMPANY LTD.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Based on the above, there was an improvement in the mining and mineral separation efficiency of the
Group’s mining segment as compared with that of the Fiscal Year 2021, resulting in an overall
increase in production and revenue.

Smelting Segment

The Group’s melting plant is situated in Henan Province, and is capable of processing gold, silver,
copper products and sulphuric acid. Its main products include gold bullion, silver, copper products and
sulphuric acid. The following table sets forth the analysis on the production and sales volume of the
smelting segment by product category:

2021
Approximate  Approximate
production sales
Products Unit volume volume
Gold bullion (processed kg 9,375 9,616
from gold concentrates) | ounce 301,387 309,157
Gold bullion (processed kg 3,877 3,478
from compound gold) ounce 124,660 111,822
Silver kg 13,426 14,600
ounce 431,643 469,388
Copper products tonne 3,308 3,561
Sulphuric acid tonne 95,526 92,344

Sales and production

The Group’s total revenue in the smelting segment for the Fiscal Year 2022 was approximately
RMB10,125,830,000, representing an increase of approximately 94.1% from approximately
RMB5,217,835,000 in the previous year.

The increase in the total revenue of the smelting segment for the Fiscal Year 2022 was mainly due to
an increase in the production and sales volume of gold bullion as a result of the Group’s efforts in the
improvement in the capital utilization efficiency and increased procurement of raw materials and
compound gold.
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Segment results

In the Fiscal Year 2022, the Group improved its profitability and successfully turned a loss into a profit
through its efforts in improving capital utilization efficiency, increasing raw material procurement,
optimizing production processes, staggering the use of electricity, making minor changes and reforms,
strictly implementing the cost reduction and efficiency enhancement system, tightening control over
internal procurement, and improving the recovery rate with additional tailings disposal facilities. The
smelting segment recorded a profit of approximately RMB22,812,000 for the Fiscal Year 2022 (Fiscal
Year 2021: loss of approximately RMB7,069,000). During the Fiscal Year 2022, the Group continued to
strictly implement the cost reduction and efficiency enhancement system. Compared with the same
period of the previous year, the Group organized the implementation of the technical transformation of
the treatment of dusty flue gas and nitrogen oxides in refined metallurgy, optimized the production
process and shortened the electrolysis cycle from over 30 hours to the current 12 hours, which
improved the production efficiency and capital utilization efficiency. By implementing the transformation
of superfine mill and introducing Aisha mill, the Group improved the recovery rate and carried out the
technical reform management of auxiliary material consumption to effectively reduce the consumption
of auxiliary materials in the production process and realized cost reduction and efficiency
enhancement.

Work Planning and Outlook for 2023

Looking into 2023, the Company will promote its strategic transformation and upgrading and
implement its extensive reforms. According to our overall work principle for 2023, the Company will
strengthen our basic management with reference to top domestic enterprises by focusing on the
strategy of “becoming a large gold production powerhouse”, while continuing to improve the
development quality and business performance by facilitating technological innovation and unleashing
the momentum from reforms.

We will persist in the strategy-oriented approach, and reconsider its future development strategy by
further defining the development orientation, vision and objective, and corporate culture and values of
the Group in a bid to build consensus in concerted efforts. We will strengthen our efforts to explore
and integrate resources and will accelerate our work progress in mineral prospecting and reserve
expansion for key prospecting projects. We are required to focus organizing and managing production
activities at the mines to enhance production efficiency by improving the mining volume and ore
quality. Besides accelerating the progress of key projects for the mines, we shall continue to optimize
the production systems of underground mines. We will also speed up the construction of technological
innovation platforms, and pursue technological breakthrough and innovation for the whole chain of
mining, processing and smelting. In addition, we will enhance risk control and prevention by tightening
internal control and compliance management.

Great endeavors require joint efforts and important missions require dedications from all. We must
seize development opportunities in a concerted effort, and dedicate ourselves to pursuing pragmatism
when turning our plans and strategies into concrete actions, which will help advance Lingbao Gold
towards becoming a world-renowned and domestically renowned large-scale mining group.
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION
1. Operating Results
Revenue
The Group’s sales analysis by products is shown as follows:

2021
Amount  Sales volume Unit price
(RMB per
(RMB'000) (kg/tonne) kg/tonne)
Gold bullion 4,913,037 13,094 kg 375,215
Silver 67,211 14,600 kg 4,603
Copper products 209,921 3,561 tonne 58,950
Sulphuric acid 27,481 92,344 tonne 297
Gold concentrates 130,227 356 kg 365,806

Others

Revenue before tax 5,347,877
Less: Sales taxes (17,266)
5,330,611

The Group’s revenue for the Fiscal Year 2022 was approximately RMB10,126,458,000, representing an
increase of approximately 90.0% as compared with the previous year, primarily due to an overall
increase in the revenue benefitting from an increase in the production volume of the gold bullion.

Gross profit

The Group’s gross profit for the Fiscal Year 2022 was RMB785,101,000 as compared with the gross
profit of RMB587,810,000 in the previous year. The increase in the Group’s gross profit was due to
overall increase of sales volume.

Other net loss

The Group’s other net loss for the Fiscal Year 2022 was approximately RMB48,561,000, representing
an increase of approximately 17.8% as compared with approximately RMB41,212,000 in the previous
year. The Group recognized a significant increase in net foreign exchange gain due to the significant
appreciation of US dollar against RMB, which was offset by an increase in impairment losses of long-
term assets, thus resulted in an increase in other net loss.

Other revenue

The Group’s other revenue for the Fiscal Year 2022 was approximately RMB45,697,000, representing a
decrease of approximately 15.1% as compared with approximately RMB53,796,000 in the previous
year. The decrease in other revenue was mainly due to the decrease in government grants and scrap
sales.
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Profit attributable to the Company’s equity shareholders

For the Fiscal Year 2022, the Company recorded a profit of approximately RMB240,222,000
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company (Fiscal Year 2021: RMB130,026,000). The basic and
diluted earnings per share for the Fiscal Year 2022 was RMB27.8 cents (Fiscal Year 2021: RMB15.0
cents).

2. Liquidity and Financial Resources
The Group generally finances its acquisition and operations with internally generated funds and bank
loans. The cash and cash equivalents and pledged deposits as at 31 December 2022 amounted to
RMB1,598,910,000 (31 December 2021: RMB1,523,506,000).

The total equity of the Group as at 31 December 2022 amounted to RMB1,898,582,000 (31
December 2021: RMB1,748,196,000). As at 31 December 2022, the Group had current assets of
RMB3,259,605,000 (31 December 2021: RMBS3,235,866,000) and current liabilities of
RMB4,498,321,000 (31 December 2021: RMB4,760,092,000). The current ratio was 72.5% (31
December 2021: 68.0%).

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had total outstanding bank and other borrowings of
approximately RMB3,671,749,000 with interest rates ranging from 2.0% to 6.3% per annum
(approximately RMB3,571,749,000 and approximately RMB100,000,000 repayable within one year and
over one year but within two years, respectively). The gearing ratio as at 31 December 2022 was
53.2% (31 December 2021: 50.6%), which was calculated by total borrowings divided by total assets.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had unutilised bank facilities related to unsecured bank loans
facilities of RMB251,000,000. These facilities could be drawn down by the Group to finance its
operation. Based on the past experience and the communication with banks, the Board believes that
the Company has the ability to renew or secure banking facilities upon maturity.

In order to effectively lower the debt ratio and improve the financing ability of the Group, the Group
has taken the following measures:

1) increasing the production volume of the gold bullion and generate cash flows from operating
activities by strengthening internal management and optimizing cost reduction and efficiency
enhancement measures, and increasing the output of gold bullion processed from gold
concentrates;

2) securing certain funding by enhancing the communication and promoting mutual trust between
the Group and banks and other financial institutions as well as taking advantage of the
government’s relatively loose financing policies;

3) increasing supply chain financing by taking full advantage of the attribute of high liquidity of
inventories in the gold mining industry;
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4) increasing the liquidity and reducing short-term borrowings. The Group will arrange more secured
long-term loan facilities at lower interest rates by the pledging of property, plant and equipment
of the Group; and

5) obtaining financing upon the completion of subscription of the Company’s shares (as described
in the circular dated 4 January 2023). The net proceeds from the subscription will be used to
meet the Group’s production and working capital needs, which will enhance the liquidity of the
Company and further lower its gearing ratio.

3. Security and guarantee
For details of securities and guarantees of the Group as at 31 December 2022, please refer to Note
28 “Bank and Other Borrowings” to these financial statements.

4. Material Related Party Transactions
(1) Loan from a shareholder
On 28 December 2021, the Company and D&R Asset Management Group Company Limited (i
CHREEBREERMABERAF) (‘D&R Investment”) entered into a loan agreement and the
unsecured loan of RMB40,000,000 was provided by D&R Investment, which is bearing interest
per annum at 5.39% and with a maturity of one month. The loan of RMB40,000,000 was repaid
in January 2022.

On 24 February 2022, the Company and D&R Investment entered into a loan agreement and the
unsecured loan of RMB30,000,000 was provided by D&R Investment, which is bearing interest
per annum at 5.39% and with a maturity of one month. The loan of RMB30,000,000 was repaid
in April 2022.

D&R Investment is a substantial shareholder of the Company holding 185,339,000 Domestic
shares representing approximately 21.4% of the total number of issued shares of the Company
as at 31 December 2022.

(2) Guarantee issued by a shareholder
During the year ended 31 December 2022, D&R Investment issued maximum guarantees
amounting to RMB1,085,000,000 to several banks in respect of bank and other borrowings, bank
acceptance bills and letter of credit of the Company (2021: RMB1,135,000,000).

In 2021, the Company and D&R Investment entered into an agreement for guarantee charge in
relation to the above guarantees issued by D&R Investment. The guarantee charge was
calculated based on the principals of unpledged bank and other borrowings with annual fee rate
of 1%. For the bank and other borrowings pledged by deposits, inventories or long-term assets,
no guarantee charge was occurred during the year ended 31 December 2022.

5. Material Acquisition or Disposal
Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, there were no material acquisitions or disposals
subsequent to 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this annual report.
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6. Market Risks
The Group is exposed to various types of market risks, including fluctuations in gold price and other
commodity prices, as well as changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates and inflation.

Gold price and other commodities price risk

The Group’s revenue and profit were affected by fluctuations in the gold prices and other commodity
prices as all of our products were sold at market prices and such fluctuations in prices were beyond
our control. The Group does not use and strictly prohibits the use of commodity derivative instruments
or futures for speculation purpose. All commodity derivative instruments are used to minimise the
potential price fluctuation of gold and other commodities.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to risks associated with the fluctuation in interest rates on our debt obligations.
The Group undertakes debt obligations for general corporate purposes such as support of capital
expenditure and working capital. The Group’s bank loans bear interest rates that are subject to
adjustment made by our lenders in accordance with changes of the relevant regulations of the
People’s Bank of China. If the People’s Bank of China increases the interest rates, our finance cost
increases accordingly. In addition, to the extent that we may need to raise our debt financing in the
future, upward fluctuations in interest rates will increase the cost of new debt.

Exchange rate risk

The Group’s transactions are mainly denominated in Renminbi. As such, fluctuations in exchange rates
may affect the international and domestic gold prices, and our operational results may be affected.
Renminbi is not freely convertible and could fluctuate against a basket of currencies. The PRC
government may take further actions and implement new measures on free conversion of Renminbi.

In addition to the foregoing, the exchange rate risks to which the Group exposes are mainly caused by
certain bank deposits, trade and other receivables, trade and other payables and bank loans, which
are denominated in foreign currencies. The currency risk is primarily United States dollars.

Fluctuations in exchange rates may adversely affect the value of our net assets, earnings and any
dividends we declare when they are being converted or translated into Hong Kong dollars.

7. Contractual Obligations
As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s total capital commitments in respect of the contracted costs
and the authorised but not contracted costs which were not provided for in the financial statements
were approximately RMB37,065,000 (31 December 2021: RMB102,532,000) and RMB302,338,000 (31
December 2021: RMB372,944,000), respectively.

8. Contingent Liabilities
As at 31 December 2022, the Group had no material contingent liabilities.
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Capital Expenditure

For the Fiscal Year 2022, the Group’s capital expenditure was approximately RMB228,775,000,
representing a decrease of approximately 75% from approximately RMB902,853,000 for the previous
year.

The Group’s capital expenditure mainly relates to the construction of mining shafts, acquisition of deep
mining rights for Lingjin One Mine and renewal of mining rights for other relevant subsidiaries,
expansion of project equipment and upgrading of production equipment.

Employees
For the Fiscal Year 2022, the average number of employees of the Group was 4,176. The Company
highly treasures its human resources and provides its employees with competitive remuneration and
training programs. The gender and type of employees will be disclosed in detail in the ESG report of
the Company.
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Mr. Chen Jianzheng (BRZEIE 5t 4) (“Mr. Chen”), born in December 1968. He graduated from Hunan
Agricultural University (land management) in July 1990 and later obtained the bachelor degree in law from
Hunan Administration Institute in December 2003. He has many years of experience related to the
management and the operation of the mining industry. He also has worked in the underground mine and
smelter for more than one year and is very familiar with the mining, mineral separation and smelting
process. Prior to joining the Group, he was a member of the party leadership and deputy chief of Land and
Resources Bureau of Yuanling County in Hunan Province. He was in charge of mine management and
reserve management and possesses very good management experience in mining industry. Mr. Chen was
the chairman of the Board and an executive director of the Company from 23 January 2017 to 28 May
2021. Mr. Chen was the chairman and a member of Supervisory Committee of the Company from 28 May
2021 to 13 October 2022. Mr. Chen was appointed as the chairman and an executive Director of the
Company, the chairman of the Strategic Committee, as well as a member of the Nomination Committee and
the Remuneration Committee in October 2022.

Mr. Xing Jiangze (J8;IZ & 4) (“Mr. Xing”), born in March 1967, holds a bachelor’s degree and is a
registered certified public accountant, certified tax agent and senior accountant in the PRC with funds
practice qualification. He has over 28 years of work experience in finance, accounting and auditing. He has
been working in the Group since April 2007 and had served as assistant financial controller, financial
controller and chief investment officer. Mr. Xing has served as secretary of the Board since August 2013
and was appointed as an executive Director in June 2015. Since May 2020, Mr. Xing is the vice chairman of
the Board, the secretary to the Board, and a member of the management executive committee. Since
8 May 2020, Mr. Xing was appointed as an independent non-executive Director of Xinjiang La Chapelle
Fashion Co., Ltd. (a company listed on Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: 603157 and a company
listed on Hong Kong Stock Exchange, stock code: 6116).

Mr. He Chengqun (K& %) (“Mr. He”), born in February 1971, obtained a bachelor degree in
enterprise management of Henan Metallurgical Industry University. Mr. He served as an executive director of
the Company from July 2010 to June 2015, the deputy general manager of the Company from June 2015
to February 2017, and has been the senior executive vice president of the Company from June 2018 to
May 2021. He was appointed as an executive Director and President of the Company in May 2021. In
addition, he is a member of the management executive committee.
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Mr. Dai Weitao (& # S5 4) (“Mr. Dai”), born in March 1971, obtained a bachelor degree in law from the
Correspondence Academy of Party School of the Central Committee of the Communist Party and the
accounting qualification certificate. From August 1994 to December 2013, he successively worked in Linghu
Gold Mine of Lingbao City (% & ™ %4 £ &), Lingbao Gold Investment Co., Ltd. Jinhe Branch (ZB & & &
EHREML ARG LD 2AA]), and Lingbao Judicial Bureau. He has worked in the Company since December
2013 and served as deputy secretary of the party committee, secretary to the disciplinary committee and the
chairman of the labor union. Mr. Dai served as the chairman of the Supervisory Committee of the Company
from 8 January 2020 to 17 March 2021. Mr. Dai was appointed as an executive Director of the Company in
May 2021, and served as the vice chairman and a member of the management executive committee from
May 2021 to February 2023.

Mr. Wu Liming (R 28 % 4) (“Mr. Wu”), born in February 1982, holds a bachelor’s degree in accounting
from Jiangsu University of Science and Technology and a master’s degree in accounting from Jinan
University (B KX £). He is a senior accountant and a CMA. Mr. Wu worked at CSSC Offshore & Marine
Engineering (Group) Company Limited, shares of which are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock
code: 317) from July 2005 to October 2019. Mr. Wu was appointed as the chief financial officer in
November 2019 and has been the chief financial officer and a member of the management executive
committee of the Company since January 2020. Mr. Wu was appointed as an executive Director, the vice
chairman, financial controller and a member of the management executive committee of the Company in
May 2021. Mr. Wu is also the director of D&R Investment.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhang Feihu (3R & & 5 %) (“Mr. Zhang”), born in November 1971, graduated from the Yuxi Normal
School in July 1990. In December 2004, he obtained a bachelor degree in law from the Henan Provincial
Party School. Mr. Zhang’s career started in teaching in Daying Town, Shan County from September 1990 to
April 1992. From May 1992 to October 2001, he worked in Su Village Town and served as deputy head of
the town and deputy secretary. From May 2003 to October 2005, he was the mayor of Yangdian Town and
from November 2005 to October 2012, he served as the mayor and secretary of Chengguan Town. From
November 2012 to April 2016, he worked in the mass work department of Lingbao Municipal Committee
and from October 2017 to November 2018, he served as the general manager of Lingbao City Urban
Transformation Investment Company Limited, and was the legal representative. Currently he is working in
Lingbao State-owned Assets Operation Limited Liability Company and serves as the chairman and legal
representative. Mr. Zhang was appointed as a non-executive director of the Company in April 2019.

Mr. Wang Guanran (EER %L %) (“Mr. Wang GR”), born in May 2000, studied in the Department of
International Relations and Economics at the George Washington University School of Business in the United
States of America with a bachelor’'s degree due to COVID-19 epidemic. Mr. Wang Guanran has been a
director of D&R Investment since July 2020 and during the same period he joined in Shenzhen Londian
Electrics Co., Ltd as an assistant to the Chairman. Mr. Wang GR was appointed as a director of Shenzhen
Londian Electrics Co., Ltd. with effect from December 2020. Mr. Wang GR is the controlling shareholder of
D&R Investment and is currently the Chairman of D&R Investment. Mr. Wang GR was appointed as a
non-executive Director of the Company in May 2021.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wang Guanghua (I X ZE % 4£) (“Mr. Wang GH”), born in February 1952, graduated from Beijing
Institute of Chemical Technology (renamed Beijing University of Chemical Technology in 1994) majoring in
chemical engineering in July 1974. Mr. Wang GH has more than 30 years of experience in investment,
government affairs and business operation and management. He worked in New Era New Materials
Development Company of China New Era Group Corporation as general manager from January 2006 to
February 2012. He served as partner of Elevation China Capital from March 2012 to August 2014 and
served as chairman of Ningxia Jiecheng Investment and Management Company Limited and executive
partner of Ningxia Jiecheng Venture Capital Fund, which was approved to establish and funded by National
Development and Reform Commission and Ministry of Finance from March 2014 to November 2015. He has
been serving as a director of Nanjing Jingtaiheng Investment and Management Company Limited since July
2015, during which he served as the chairman from July 2015 to 2018, and in charge of Nanjing Jingyong
Healthcare Venture Capital Fund, which was funded by Zijin Group, a financial platform of Nanjing Municipal
People’s Government. Mr. Wang GH has more than 30 years of working experience in investment,
government affairs and business operation and management. Mr. Wang GH was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company in March 2016.

Mr. Wang Jiheng (E#18 % 4) (“Mr. Wang”), born in July 1966, holds a master’s degree in law of
NorthWest University of Politics and Law and a doctoral degree in law of Wuhan University, and is an
associate professor and an advisor of master degree students. He currently engages in the teaching and
research of environment and resources law in the Economic Law College of NorthWest University of Politics
and Law, and serves as a vice president of the Resources and Energy Law Research Institute of that
College, and also the director of the Resources and Energy Law Teaching and Research Department. His
part-time jobs include secretary-general of the environment and resources law research association of Xi’an
Society of Law, member of the policy advisory committee of Lianhu District of Xi’an, senior trainer of EU —
China Environmental Governance Program and trainer of the environmental law institute of the International
Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN). Mr. Wang was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company in June 2015.

Mr. Xu Rong (R & % 4£) (“Mr. Xu”), born in December 1975, obtained an associate degree in finance and
accounting from Heilongjiang University of Commerce (B /IR 3%AE2) in July 1998, and obtained a
master’s degree in finance and investment management from the University of Hong Kong in March 2012.
Mr. Xu is currently a certified public accountant in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”), certified public
asset appraiser in the PRC and certified tax agent in the PRC. In 2010, he received the independent
director certification from the Shanghai Stock Exchange (“SSE”). In 2019, he received the independent
directorship completion certificate from the Science and Technology Innovation Board of the SSE (the “Sci-
Tech Board”). Between October 1999 and October 2015, Mr. Xu held various positions at various
accounting firms, including project manager or chief partner. Since November 2015, he has been serving as
a partner of Beijing Xinghua Certified Public Accountants Firm (Special General Partnership), as well as the
principal officer of its Suzhou Branch. Since September 2017, Mr. Xu has been serving as an independent
director of BrightGene Bio-Medical (Suzhou) Co., Ltd. ({&%m4 Y18 22 (#5)M) B BR 2 F]) (@ company listed
on the Sci-Tech Board with stock code: 688166). Since May 2018, Mr. Xu has been serving as an
independent director of Poly Plastic Masterbatch (SuzZhou) Co., Ltd (& /& B # £ R AR 7D B R A 7).
Mr. Xu served as an independent director of Suzhou Fanglin Technology Co., Ltd. (& M 77 A& M5 B R
‘A @]) and SuZhou Kete Environment Protection Co., Ltd. (& EHEFIR{R% D B R A F]) between August
2016 and June 2019, and between December 2013 and May 2020, respectively. Mr. Xu was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director of the Company in July 2020.
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Mr. Tan Chong Huat (FR¥2 2% 5% 4) (“Mr. Tan”), born in October 1963, obtained a Bachelor Degree in Law
at the National University of Singapore in June 1989 and a LLM from the University of London in December
2007. Mr. Tan has over 30 years of experience in legal industry and has extensive experience in corporate,
banking and project finance law in Singapore and the region, and acted in numerous significant corporate
transactions in the areas of initial public offerings, reverse takeovers, management buy-outs, restructuring,
merger and acquisitions, and financing of major real estate and infrastructure. He has been the senior
partner and one of the founding members of RHTLaw Taylor Wessing since May 2011. Mr. Tan was
appointed as Deputy Chairman of the Singapore Exchange Disciplinary Committee on 23 February 2017.
Mr. Tan is also a member of the Singapore Institute of Directors and the Hong Kong Institute of Directors
and sits on the boards of a company listed on Singapore Exchange. Mr. Tan was appointed as Deputy
Chairman of the Singapore Exchange Disciplinary Committee in February 2017. Mr. Tan was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company since May 2021.

SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE AND SUPERVISORS

Mr. Yang Shilei (iFAZ&Z %L 4%) (“Mr. Yang”), born in September 1983, an environmental engineer. He
graduated from the Third Military Medical University in July 2007 and obtained the bachelor degree of clinical
medicine. Currently, he served as the deputy manager of the securities legal department, the deputy general
manager of Habahe Huatai Gold Company Limited (Y B AZEZ = £ AR J (L2 7)), chairman of Lingbao
Xinan Solid Waste Disposal Co., Ltd. (EE &% EBEYEEFRE T2 F]) and chairman of Chifeng Jinchan
Mining Company Limited (771§ & ¥ #& 2 5 R 2 8)) from December 2021 to February 2023. Mr. Yang was
appointed as the head of the Company’s office with effect from February 2023. Mr. Yang was appointed as
a supervisor of the Group in March 2019.

Mr. Guo Xurang (EB=F:E L&) (“Mr. Guo”), born in May 1970, obtained a master’s degree in business
administration from Hangzhou Dianzi University, Zhejiang Province, in July 2003. Since April 2007 Mr. Guo
Xurang has been the chairman of Shannan Wanlaixin Investment Company Limited, which was named Beijing
Wanlaixin Investment Company Limited from April 2007 to July 2013. Mr. Guo was appointed as a
supervisor of the Group in June 2014.

Mr. Zhao Bingbing (i &£ % 4£) (“Mr. Zhao”), born in March 1978, obtained a bachelor’s degree in
economic management from Institute of the Chinese Communist Party in Henan Province in September
2010. Mr. Zhao has over 25 years of experience in gold industry. Mr. Zhao is currently the chairman of
Lingbao Kaiyuen Mining Company Limited. Mr. Zhao was appointed as a supervisor of the Group in June
2018.
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Mr. Liu Haotian (%85 X) (“Mr. Liu”), born in July 1985, obtained a bachelor’s degree in accounting from
Zhengzhou University. Previously, he worked at various government bodies, including the Lingbao Health
Bureau (EE M &4 B) from March 2008 to September 2010, the Lingbao Agricultural Tax Bureau (E& ™
BERIEB) from October 2010 to March 2011, and the Administrative and Law Section of Lingbao Finance
Bureau (EZE M B BT BECEEL from April 2011 to September 2015. From October 2015 to December
2017, Mr. Liu was promoted as the deputy director of the Office of Non-Taxation Bureau of Lingbao Finance
Bureau (BB MY M BIEH B P QA E), and the head of the Investment and Financing Section of the Lingbao
Shanty Reform Office (B i 24 i # 7 82 & £}). Since October 2018, Mr. Liu has been the general
manager of Lingbao State-owned Assets Operation Limited Liability Company. Mr. Liu was appointed as a
supervisor of the Group since May 2021.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chen Jianquan (FREZEE L), born in July 1962, holds a master’s degree and is an economist. He had
worked in Xiangxi Gold Mine Vocational School of the Ministry of Metallurgical Industry* (/& & T 3 30 78 &
fE B T 24%), Hunan Xiangxi Gold Mine* (4158 & 878 © %), Hunan Anhua Chenzhou Tungsten Mine* (# /%
{E = M $5%&), Hunan Chenzhou Mining Group Co., Ltd.* (% m = M 8% 2 K % B R A &), Hunan Gold Group
Co., Ltd.* (Hm=E2 £ B BR A A, Hunan Gold Corporation Limited* (7 &= & & 5 B R A 7)), etc.; has
been the standing vice president of the Company from August 2022 to October 2022; and the rotating
chairman of the management executive committee and the standing vice president of the Company from
October 2022 to present.

Mr. Wang Guodong (E B #f 5t &) (“Mr. Wang GD”), born in March 1971, obtained a college degree in
mining engineering from Xi’an Institute of Metallurgy and Architecture. Mr. Wang GD is a senior production
and operation division manager and a mine engineer. He served as the chairman of the Supervisory
Committee of the Company from June 2014 to March 2019 and has been the standing vice president of the
Company from March 2019 to May 2021. He is currently the standing vice president and a member of the
management executive committee of the Company since May 2021.
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Being one of the integrated gold mining companies based in PRC, the Company is committed to continually
achieving high standards of corporate governance practices and has put in place a set of well-defined
corporate governance procedures to ensure the transparency of the Company and protect the overall
interest and rights of shareholders as well as employees.

The Company has complied with all Code Provisions under the Code on Corporate Governance Practices
(the “Code”) set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) save for the deviation from Code C.2.7 that the chairman should at
least annually hold one meeting with the non-executive directors (including independent non-executive
directors) without the executive directors present.

THE BOARD

The Board is the executive body of the Company and shall be responsible for formulating and executing the
operation plans and management decisions of the Company as well as establishing the overall strategic
direction. Its duties include evaluating the performance of senior management and supervising the system of
the Company. The Board has to act in the best interest of the Company and its shareholders.

The current composition of the Board is set out in the following table:

Director Position

Mr. Chen Jianzheng Executive Director and Chairman
Mr. Xing Jiangze Executive Director and Vice-Chairman
Mr. He Chenggun Executive Director and President
Mr. Dai Weitao Executive Director

Mr. Wu Liming Executive Director

Mr. Zhang Feihu Non-executive Director

Mr. Wang Guanran Non-executive Director

Mr. Wang Jiheng Independent Non-executive Director
Mr. Wang Guanghua Independent Non-executive Director
Mr. Xu Rong Independent Non-executive Director
Mr. Tan Chong Huat Independent Non-executive Director

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company (“Articles of Association”), the term of appointment of
the Directors (including the non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors) shall be three
years and the Directors are eligible for re-election. The chairman of the Company, Mr. Chen Jianzheng, and
the other four executive Directors are responsible for the business management of the Company, formulation
and implementation of important strategies, making daily business decision, and coordination of overall
business operation.

All of the Directors can give sufficient time and attention to the Company’s affairs.

Non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors possess wide expertise and experience
and are able to give professional advice in various aspects such as law, accounting, finance, tax, equity
capital and industrial and commercial industries. The non-executive Directors would participate in Board
meetings of the Company to bring an independent judgment to bear on issues of strategy, policy,
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performance, accountability, resources, key appointments and standards of conduct. In addition, they would
take the lead in Board meetings where potential conflicts of interests arise. They also have to scrutinise the
Company’s performance in achieving agreed corporate goals and objectives.

Independent non-executive Directors are expressly identified in the corporate communications that disclose
the names of the Directors by the Company.

The Company has received annual written confirmation from each of the independent non-executive
Directors to ensure they are in compliance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules in respect of their
independence. Apart from employment relationships with the Company, there is no any financial, business,
family or other material relationships amongst members of the Board. The Company considers that they are
independent.

The Company has established various internal control systems which allow the Board to maintain high
standard of corporate governance in the management of the Company. To ensure that the Board performs
its duties effectively, the management is required to submit business and financial reports of the Company to
the Board regularly. The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties according to
the code provision A.2.1 set out on the CG Code, which includes: (1) developing and reviewing the policies
and practices on corporate governance of the Group; (2) reviewing and monitoring the training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior management; (3) reviewing and monitoring the
Group’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; (4) developing,
reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct applicable to Directors and employees; and (5) reviewing the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the corporate governance report of the
Company.

Directors would make further enquiries if they require further enquiries than is information volunteered by
management. The Board has separate and independent access to the company secretary and other senior
management at all times to conduct informal discussions. It is at the Company’s expense for the Board to
contact the auditors, lawyers or other professionals to obtain independent professional opinions when
appropriate. Management are regularly reminded by the company secretary that they have an obligation to
provide the Board and its committees with adequate, complete and reliable information in a timely manner.
All Directors have access to Board papers and related materials which will enable the Board to make an
informed decision on matters placed before it. Steps are taken to respond to enquiries raised by Directors
as fully as possible.

Procedures for the handling and dissemination of inside information
The Group has established procedures in handling and dissemination of inside information in an accurate,
secure and timely manner and to avoid possible mishandling of inside information within the Group.

The Group complies with requirements of Securities & Futures Ordinance (“SFO”) and the Listing Rules. The
Group discloses inside information to the public as soon as reasonably practicable unless the information
falls within any of the Safe Harbours as provided in the SFO. Before the information is fully disclosed to the
public, the Group ensures the information is kept strictly confidential. If the Group believes that the
necessary degree of confidentiality cannot be maintained or that confidentiality may have been breached, the
Group would immediately disclose the information to the public. The Group is committed to ensure that
information contained in announcements are not false or misleading as to a material fact, or false or
misleading through the omission of a material fact in view of presenting information in a clear and balanced
way, which requires equal disclosure of both positive and negative facts.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board of the Company held thirteen meetings to discuss and
approve various important matters. All such meetings were convened in accordance with the Articles of
Association. The table below lists out the attendance of each Director at the Board meetings held during the
year up to the date of the report. The attendance illustrates the attention of the Board to the management
of the Company’s affairs. The matters processed by the Board in the meetings are all recorded, and the
relevant records are kept pursuant to relevant laws and regulations.

Number of Number of

Board Number of general

meetings that Board meetings and

the Director meetings that class general

was entitled the Director Attendance meeting

Director to attend attended (%) attended/held
Mr. Chen Jianzheng' 7 7 100 0/0
Mr. Xing Jiangze 13 13 100 1/1
Mr. He Chengqun 13 13 100 11
Mr. Dai Weitao 13 13 100 11
Mr. Wu Liming 13 13 100 1/1
Mr. Zeng Xiangxin? 6 6 100 1/1
Mr. Zhang Feihu 13 13 100 11
Mr. Wang Guanran 13 13 100 1/1
Mr. Wang Jiheng 13 18 100 1/1
Mr. Wang Guanghua 13 13 100 11
Mr. Xu Rong 13 13 100 1/1
Mr. Tan Chong Huat 13 13 100 11

Notes:
1. Appointed as Directors with effect from 13 October 2022.

2. Resigned as Directors with effect from 13 October 2022.

Prior to each regular Board meeting, the management of the Company shall submit materials relevant to the
affairs to be discussed in the meeting to the Board. Notice convening the regular Board meeting shall be
sent to all Directors at least ten days before the meeting so that arrangements can be made to attend the
meeting. Documents required for regular meetings of the Board shall be sent to the Directors at least three
days before the meeting, to ensure that enough time is given to the Directors to review the documents and
get prepared for the meeting.
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The Board meeting is chaired by the chairman to ensure that sufficient time is allocated to the consideration
and discussion of each matter in the agenda and each Director is given an equal opportunity to speak. In
addition, the Board are given an opportunity to include matters in the agenda. Minutes of Board meetings
and meetings of Board committees record detailed concerns raised by Directors and dissenting views
expressed. Minutes of Board meetings and meetings of Board committees would be kept by secretary and
such minutes are opened for inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable notice by any Director.

If a substantial shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by the Board
which the Board has determined to be material, the matter would not be dealt with by way of circulation or
by a committee but a Board meeting would be held. Independent non-executive Directors have no material
interest in the transaction would be present at such Board meeting.

Code Provision C.2.7 provides that the chairman should at least annually hold one meeting with the
non-executive directors (including independent non-executive directors) without the executive directors’
present. The chairman has delegated the secretary of the Board to gather any concerns and/or questions
that the non-executive Directors and the independent non-executive Directors might have and to report to
him so that the chairman will arrange a meeting with them.

Every newly-appointed Director would receive a comprehensive, formal and tailored induction on the first
occasion of his/her appointment, and subsequently continuous briefing and professional development would
be arranged to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding of the operations and business of the
Company and that he/she is fully aware of his/her responsibilities under statute and common law, the Listing
Rules, applicable legal requirements and other regulatory requirements and the business and governance
policies of the Company. All Directors are encouraged by the Group to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. On 20 May 2022, the Company invited the
Hong Kong legal adviser to conduct thematic training in relation to the directors’ responsibilities and the
Listing Rules, in which all Directors attended. In addition, all Directors have read latest development of the
Company’s business or directors’ duties and responsibilities and the Listing Rules as well as other
applicable regulatory requirements.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, Directors shall be subject to election at the Company’s general
meetings with a term of office of three years and may be re-elected. The Company has implemented a set
of effective procedures for the appointment of new Directors. The Nomination Committee shall, in
accordance with provisions of the relevant laws and regulations and the Articles of Association, take into
account the practical situations of the Company, consider the selection criteria, selection procedures and
terms of office of the Directors, and record and submit the resolutions to the Board for approval. All newly
nominated Directors are subject to election and approval at general meetings.

All Directors, except Mr. Chen Jianzheng, have been elected for a term of three years at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 28 May 2021. All Directors shall be eligible for election at the 2024 annual
general meeting of the Company.
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BOARD COMMITTEE

The Board has established four committees. Each committee has its terms of reference, including the review
of matters of extraordinary nature, giving suggestions to the Board and making decisions on behalf of the
Board relating to such matters when appropriate.

(1)

Audit Committee

The audit committee of the Board is a body specifically set up by the Board according to the
resolutions of general meetings and shall mainly be responsible for the communication, supervision and
inspection of internal and external audit.

After our listing, the Company has been in full compliance with the requirements of Rule 3.21 of the
Listing Rules.

In 2022, the audit committee comprises of five members, all of which are non-executive Director or
independent non-executive Director. Any former partner of KPMG should be prohibited from acting as
a member of the audit committee. Pursuant to the Listing Rules, a member of independent director
specializing in accounting will be the chairman of the audit committee who will be in charge of the
work of the committee. The committee now comprises of the following members:

Mr. Xu Rong (Chairman)
Mr. Wang Jiheng

Mr. Wang Guanghua
Mr. Zhang Feifu

Mr. Tan Chong Huat

The principal duties of the audit committee are: (a) to suggest recruiting or changing external audit
organization; (b) to supervise the internal audit system of the Company and its implementation; (c) to
facilitate the communication between internal audit and external audit; (d) to review the financial
information of the Company and its disclosure; (e) to inspect the internal control system of the
Company and to audit major connected transactions; (f) to develop and implement policy on the
engagement of an external auditor to supply non-audit service; (g) to review and monitor the external
auditor’s independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with
applicable standard. The audit committee would discuss with the auditor the nature and scope of the
audit and reporting obligations before the audit commences; (h) to monitor integrity of financial
statements and the annual reports of the Company and accounts, half-year reports and to review
significant financial reporting judgments contained in them. In this regard, in reviewing the relevant
statements and reports before the submission of the Company’s annual reports and accounts,
half-year reports to the Board, the committee would focus particularly on: () any changes in
accounting policies and practices; (i) major judgmental areas; (i) significant adjustments resulting from
audit; (iv) the going concern assumptions and any qualifications; (v) compliance with accounting
standards; (vi) compliance with the Listing Rules and other legal requirements in relation to financial
reporting; (vi) members of the committee would liaise with the Board, senior management of the
Company and the qualified accountant and the committee must meet, at least once a year, with the
Company’s auditors; and (viii) the committee would consider any significant or unusual items that are,
or may need to be, reflected in such reports and accounts and must give due consideration to any
matters that have been raised by the qualified accountant, compliance adviser and auditors; (i) to
discuss with the management the system of internal control and ensure that management has
discharged its duty to have an effective internal control system; (j) to consider any findings of major
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(2)

investigations of internal control matters as delegated by the Board or on its own initiative and
management’s response; (k) to ensure co-ordination between the internal and external auditors, and to
ensure that the internal audit function is adequately resourced and has appropriate standing within the
Company, and to review and monitor the effectiveness of the internal audit function; (l) to review the
external auditor’'s management letter, any material queries raised by the auditor to management in
respect of the accounting records, financial accounts or systems of control and management’s
response; (M) to report to the Board on the matters set out in Code Provision D.3.3; and (n) to be
responsible for other matters as authorized by the Board of the Company.

The terms of reference of audit committee are kept at the registered office of the Company and have
been published on the Company’s website for reference.

The audit committee has been provided with sufficient resources to discharge its duty. Details of audit
committee meetings held during the year are as follows:

Number Number of

of audit meetings

committee that member of
meetings in committee Attendance
Director 2022 attended (%)
Mr. Xu Rong (Chairman) 2 2 100
Mr. Wang Jiheng 2 2 100
Mr. Wang Guanghua 2 2 100
Mr. Zhang Feihu 2 2 100
Mr. Tan Chong Huat 2 2 100

In 2022, two meetings of the audit committee were held. On 15 March 2022, the audit committee
reviewed the audited results announcement for the year ended 31 December 2021. On 10 August
2022, the audit committee reviewed the Company’s interim report for the year 2022. In addition, the
audit committee had reviewed the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 before
the announcement of the Company’s annual results. During the discussion, the audit committee had
reviewed key areas in which management’s judgment applied for adequate provision and disclosure,
and internal control policies.

Strategic Committee

The strategic committee of the Board is a body specifically set up by the Board according to the
resolution of the general meeting and shall mainly be responsible for conducting research and giving
advice regarding the long-term development strategies and material investment decisions of the
Company.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022, the strategic committee comprises of six members, with at
least one independent non-executive Director pursuant to the implementation measure. The committee
now comprises of the following members:

Mr. Chen Jianzheng (Chairman) (appointed on 13 October 2022)
Mr. Xing Jiangze

Mr. He Chenggun

Mr. Dai Weitao

Mr. Wu Liming

Mr. Wang Guanghua

Mr. Zeng Xiangxin (resigned on 13 October 2022)

The principal duties of the strategic committee in strategic and investment planning are: (a) to conduct
research and make suggestions concerning the long-term development strategic plans of the
Company; (b) to conduct research and make suggestions concerning the material investment and
financial proposals which are subject to the approvals of the Board and the general meeting pursuant
to the Articles of Association; (c) to conduct research and make suggestions concerning the material
capital management and assets management projects which are subject to the approvals of the Board
and the general meeting pursuant to the Articles of Association; (d) to conduct research and make
suggestions concerning other significant events that influence the development of the Company; (e) to
carry out inspection concerning the implementation of the above matters; and (f) to be responsible for
other matters as delegated by the Board.

With reference to the amendment made in the Implementation Rules of the strategic committee on
16 February 2022, the strategic committee enhanced the principal duties in environmental, social and
governance, which are: (i) to review and give advices on the Company’s vision, goals, and strategies
for its environmental, social and governance matters; (i) to review the Company’s policies and
strategies for environmental, social and governance matters to ensure its compliance with relevant
laws, regulations and standards; (iii) to review and assess the Company’s risks and opportunities
arising from its environmental, social and governance matters; (iv) to review and assess the adequacy
and effectiveness of the Company’s environmental, social and governance structure; (v) to review and
give advices on the Company’s environmental, social and governance reports; and (vi) other matters
authorized by the Board.

In 2022, one meeting of the strategic committee was held. All members attended the meeting.

The strategic committee had reviewed the 2021 Environmental, Social and Governance Report (“ESG
report”).

Nomination Committee

The nomination committee of the Board is a body specifically set up by the Board according to the
resolutions of general meetings and shall mainly be responsible for making suggestions regarding the
selection of the Directors and managers of the Company, choosing and making suggestions relating to
the selection standards and procedures.
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The nomination committee comprises of the following members, a majority of which are independent
non-executive Directors:

Mr. Wang Guanghua (Chairman)

Mr. Chen Jianzheng (appointed on 13 October 2022)
Mr. Wang Jiheng

Mr. Xu Rong

Mr. Wang Guanran

Mr. Zeng Xiangxin (resigned on 13 October 2022)

The main duties of the nomination committee include: (a) making recommendations to the Board on the
Board’s scale and composition in accordance with the operating activities, scale of assets and
shareholding structure of the Company; (b) studying the criteria and procedures for the election of
Directors and management personnel and making recommendations to the Board thereon; (c) seeking
for the right candidates for the position of Directors and management personnel; (d) reviewing the
candidates for the position of Directors and management personnel and making recommendations
thereon; (e) reviewing other senior management proposed to be appointed by the Board and making
recommendations thereon; and (f) undertaking other tasks as delegated by the Board.

The terms of reference of nomination committee have been published on the Company’s website.

The nomination committee would hold a meeting to discuss the appropriateness of the candidates and
consult the chairman about their proposals relating to the nomination of other executive Directors and
have access to professional advice if considered necessary. The criteria for selection include
professional qualification, industrial experience and academic background.

Written notice of the intention to nominate a candidate together with the respective resume would be
delivered to the Board for its consideration and approval.

In 2022, two meetings of the nomination committee were held to (i) review the structure, size and
diversity of the Board; (i) assess and confirm the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors; (i) nominate senior management of the Company and (iv) review the board diversity policy of
the Company. Attendance of individual members of the nomination committee to the committee
meeting in 2022 are as follows:

Number of Number of

nomination meetings that

committee member of
meetings committee Attendance
Director in 2022 attended (%)
Mr. Wang Guanghua (Chairman) 2 2 100
Mr. Wang Jiheng 2 2 100

Mr. Chen Jianzheng

(appointed on 13 October 2022) 1 1 100
Mr. Xu Rong 2 2 100
Mr. Wang Guanran 2 2 100

Mr. Zeng Xiangxin
(resigned on 13 October 2022) 1 1 100
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Remuneration and Review Committee

The remuneration and review committee is a body specifically set up by the Board according to the
resolutions of general meetings and shall mainly be responsible for formulating the review criteria of
and conducting review for the Directors and senior management of the Company, as well as
formulating and reviewing their remuneration packages and proposals. It is accountable to the Board.
The committee would be provided with sufficient resources to discharge its duty.

In 2022, the remuneration and review committee comprises of three independent non-executive
Directors and two executive Directors. The members of the committee are as follows:

Mr. Wang Jiheng (Chairman)

Mr. Chen Jianzheng (appointed on 13 October 2022)
Mr. Wang Guanghua

Mr. Xu Rong

Mr. He Chengqun

Mr. Zeng Xiangxin (resigned on 13 October 2022)

The main duties of the remuneration and review committee include: (a) formulating and making
recommendation to the Board on policy and structure for remuneration packages or proposals
according to the major areas, duties and importance of the management position of Directors and
senior management and the remuneration for relevant positions of other relevant enterprises; (b)
establishing criteria, procedures and major assessment system for performance assessment and major
proposals and systems for awards and punishments; (c) reviewing the performance of duties and
conducting annual performance assessment of the Company’s Directors and senior management; (d)
monitoring the implementation of the Company’s remuneration system; and (e) undertaking other tasks
as delegated by the Board.

Moreover, the remuneration and review committee has to review and approve the compensation
payable to executive Directors and senior management in connection with any loss or termination of
their office or appointment to ensure that such compensation is determined in accordance with
relevant contractual terms and that such compensation is otherwise fair and not excessive for the
Company.

Besides, the remuneration and review committee would review and approve compensation
arrangements relating to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure that such
arrangements are determined in accordance with relevant contractual terms and that any
compensation payment is otherwise reasonable and appropriate.

The remuneration and review committee will also ensure that none of the Directors or any of their
associates is involved in deciding his own remuneration.

The remuneration and review committee makes available its terms of reference, explaining its role and
the authority delegated to the Company by the Board, and copies of its terms of reference are kept at
the registered office and has been published on the Company’s website.
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In 2022, two meetings of the remuneration and review committee were held. Attendance of individual
members of the remuneration and review committee to the committee meeting in 2022 are as follows:

Number of
remuneration Number of
and review meetings that
committee member of
meetings committee Attendance
Director in 2022 attended (%)
Mr. Wang Jiheng (Chairman) 2 2 100
Mr. Wang Guanghua 2 2 100
Mr. Chen Jianzheng
(appointed 13 October 2022) 1 1 100
Mr. Xu Rong 2 2 100
Mr. He Chengqun 2 2 100
Mr. Zeng Xiangxin
(resigned on 13 October 2022) 1 1 100

The remuneration and review committee had considered the annual salary review as well as bonus
plan of Directors and senior management for 2022.

Breakdown of the Directors’ and the supervisors’ remuneration for the year ended 31 December 2022
is set out in note 9 to the financial statements.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

Purpose

With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development, the Company sees increasing diversity at
the Board level as an essential element in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives and its
sustainable development. In designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity has been considered from a
number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board appointments will be based on
meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits
of diversity on the Board.

Pursuant to the Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules, issuers with a single gender board will have to appoint at
least a director of a different gender on the board no later than 31 December 2024. The Company will keep
diversifying the Board and seeking suitable candidates to fulfil the Listing Rules’ requirement at the
forthcoming 8th Session of the Board.

Measurable Objectives

Selection of candidates for Directors of the Company will be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and
contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board. The Board’s composition (including gender
and age) will be disclosed in the annual report of the Company.

Monitoring and Reporting
The nomination committee of the Company will review annually the Board’s composition under diversified
perspectives, and monitor the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy.
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SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies as
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct for securities transactions by Directors.
The Company has made specific enquiry to all Directors and supervisors, who have confirmed that they have
complied with the Model Code in 2022.

The Board has established written guidelines for employees who are likely to possess unpublished inside
information in respect of their dealings in the securities of the Company.

CHAIRMAN AND PRESIDENT

Mr. Chen Jianzheng is the chairman of the Company and Mr. He Chengqun is the president of the
Company. The roles of the chairman and president are served by different individuals to achieve a balance
of authority and power. The main responsibility of the chairman is to lead the Board and manage its work to
ensure that it effectively operates and fully discharges its responsibilities. According to Article145 of the
Articles of Association of the Company, currently, the management executive committee of the Company (the
“Management Executive Committee”) exercises the operation and management rights of the Company
(including the whole or part of the powers of the president of the Company). The president, supported by
the Management Executive Committee, is responsible for the day-to-day management of the Group’s
business and determining and implementing operational decisions.

MANAGEMENT FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for formulating and executing the operation plans and management decisions of the
Company as well as establishing the overall strategic direction. When the Board delegates its management
functions to the management, clear directions will be given and management will report to the Board on
regularly basis. The Board reserves most of the powers and delegates routine duties to management
including bank loan arrangement. There would be a periodic review of the arrangement. Management must
obtain prior approval from the Board before making decisions or entering into any commitments on behalf of
the Group.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has engaged in a service contract with an external service provider, Mr. Chui Man Lung
Everett, who was appointed as the company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”). Mr. Xing
Jiangze, the executive Director, is the primary corporate contact person of the Company with the Company
Secretary. Being the Company Secretary, Mr. Chui Man Lung Everett plays an important role in supporting
the Board by ensuring good information flow within the Board and that the Board policies and procedures
are followed. Mr. Chui Man Lung Everett is responsible for advising the Board on corporate governance
matters and should also facilitate induction and professional development of Directors.

During the year, the Company Secretary has complied with the relevant professional training requirement
under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING

Management provides financial information with explanation to the Board to assist the Board in assessing
the financial position of the Company. Financial statements are the responsibilities of Directors. The Board
has to present a balanced, clear and understandable assessment which extends to annual and interim
reports, other price-sensitive announcements and other financial disclosures required under the Listing Rules,
and reports to regulators as well as to information required to be disclosed pursuant to statutory
requirements.

The reporting responsibilities of KPMG, the international auditors, are stated in the Auditor’'s Report on
pages 56 to 64 of the annual report.

There was no material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern. The Board has taken the same view as that of the audit committee in relation to the
appointment of KPMG as international auditors of the Company.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION
During the vyear, the fees charged for all audit services including review of interim financial statements
amounted to approximately RMB5,559,000.

INTERNAL AUDIT

The Company has an internal audit function. The task of internal audit of the Company during the year has
been performed by the internal auditor. The internal auditor is neither affiliated with the employees nor
external auditor of the Company in order to enhance objectivity, creditability and independence and it
reports to the audit committee directly.

The internal auditor submitted an assessment report to the audit committee and the Board. During the year
ended 31 December 2022, the Board was of the view that the key areas of the Company’s internal control
and risk management systems had been reasonably implemented and considered sound and effective.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its overall responsibility for evaluating and determining the nature and extent of the
risks it is willing to take in achieving the Group’s strategic objectives, and ensuring the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group remain sound and effective. The tasks of risk management and
internal control of the Company during the year has been performed by the internal auditor of the Company.
The internal auditor is neither affiliated with the employees nor our external auditor of the Company in order
to enhance objectivity, creditability and independence. The internal auditor provided a review report to the
Board that the risk management and internal control systems of the Company remains sound and effective
throughout the year.

During the year, the Board conducted a review of the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group by reviewing the work of the internal audit department, the
Group’s external auditors, and regular reports from management. Such review covers all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management functions. During the year
ended 31 December 2022, the Board considered the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group effective and adequate and complied with the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code,
and any recommendations put forward in the report will be follow up by the Group to ensure that they are
implemented within a reasonable time.
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HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Board has already established a policy on the procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information. The policy stipulated the duty and responsibility of inside information
announcement, restriction on sharing non-public information, handling of rumours, unintentional selective
disclosure, exemption and wavier to the disclosure of inside information, and also compliance and reporting
procedures. Every senior management of the Company must take all reasonable measures to ensure that
proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach of a disclosure requirement in relation to the Company from
time to time. They must promptly bring any possible leakage or divulgence of inside information to the
attention of the secretary of the board, who will notify the Board accordingly for taking the appropriate
action promptly. For any material violation of this policy, the Board will decide, or designate appropriate
persons to decide the course of actions for rectifying the problem and avoiding recurrence.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company highly values its relationship with its investors and shareholders. It maintains amicable
relationship with investors, fund managers and shareholders through one-on-one meetings, road shows,
seminars and on-site inspection by investors, thereby allowing investors to have a better understanding of
the Company’s financial position, production operations, management decisions, overall strategic directions
and latest development.

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

In 2022, to further enhance the corporate governance of the Company, the board of the Company
proposed to revise the meaning of “senior management” of the Company and shorten the notice of general
meetings as stated in the Articles of Association. The amendments were duly passed by the shareholders of
the Company at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 17 January 2022. For details of
the amendment to the Articles of Association, please refer to the circular of the Company dated
31 December 2021. Save as disclosed above, there was no change in the Articles of Association during the
year ended 31 December 2022.

The Articles of Association is available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INSURANCE
The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of potential legal actions against its
Directors and officers.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

As one of the measures to safeguard the shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolutions are
proposed at shareholders’ meetings on every substantial matters, including the election of individual
directors, for shareholders’ consideration and voting. Furthermore, the Company regards the annual general
meeting as an important event and Directors, chairman of each board committee, senior management and
external auditors make an effort to attend the annual general meetings of the Company to address the
shareholders’ queries. All resolutions proposed at shareholders’ meetings will be voted by poll. The poll
voting results will be posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company
(www.irasia.com/listco/hk/lingbao) on the same day of the relevant general meetings.

Procedures for shareholders to propose a general meeting

1. Two or more shareholders holding a total of ten percent (inclusive) or more of the shares carrying the
right to vote at the meeting sought to be held may sign one or more written requests of identical form
and substance requesting the Board to convene an extraordinary shareholders’ general meeting or a
meeting of shareholders of different series and stating the subject of the meeting. The Board shall
convene the shareholders’ general meeting or the meeting of shareholders of different series as soon
as possible after having received the above-mentioned written request. The shareholding referred to
above shall be calculated as of the day on which the written request is made.

2. If the Board fails to issue a notice of such a meeting within 30 days after receipt of the written notice
aforesaid, then the shareholders who made such request may themselves convene such meeting 4
months since after the Board’s receipt of the request. The procedures to convene shall, to the extent
possible, be identical to the procedures the Board convenes the general meetings.

When shareholders convene and hold a meeting because the Board failed to hold such meeting pursuant to
a request as mentioned above, the reasonable expenses incurred by such shareholders shall be borne by
the Company and shall be deducted from the sums owed by the Company to the negligent Directors.

Procedures for Shareholders to make Proposals at the General Meeting

When the Company is to hold an annual general meeting, shareholders who individually or jointly hold five
percent (inclusive) and more of the total number of the Company’s voting shares shall be entitled to
propose motions in writing to the Company. The Company shall include in such meeting’s agenda the
matters which fall within the functions and powers of general meetings.

Procedures and Contact Details for Making Enquiries
1. Deliver their verbal enquiries to the Board members, chairman of Board committees or their delegates,
appropriate management executives or auditors who attend the Company’s annual general meeting; or

2. Make enquiries to the Company through the following means:

By post: The secretary office of the Board, Hangu Road and Jingshan Road intersection,
Lingbao, Henan Province, the PRC

By tel: +86 398 8860166
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SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

MEETINGS OF THE SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE DURING THE REPORTING
PERIOD

In 2022, two supervisory committee meetings were held by the supervisory committee.

INDEPENDENT WORK REPORT OF THE SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

In 2022, aiming at protecting the interest of the Company and the shareholders, the supervisory
committee of the Company seriously performed its duties in accordance with the Company Law of the
PRC (“Company Law”), Securities Law, Listing Rules and other relevant rules and regulations and the
Articles of Association, comprehensively monitored aspects such as the Company’s capital operation,
operating management, financial position and the fulfilment of obligations by senior management. After
a serious review, members of the committee unanimously agreed to the following:

Legal Compliance of the Company’s Operations

The supervisory committee of the Company conscientiously carried out various resolutions
according to the relevant resolutions in general meetings, during which its decision-making
procedures were in compliance with the relevant requirements of the Company Law, Listing
Rules and the Articles and Association. It also strictly implemented the rules and systems for
internal control, project investment management approach, connected transactions, resources
purchase and project tendering management. None of the officers, including directors and
managers, were aware of any violations of the laws, regulations and Articles of Association or
any act which would prejudice the Company’s interests.

Inspection of the Financial Status of the Company

In 2022, the supervisory committee reviewed the financial system and position of the Company
and considered that the financial report of the Company for 2022 truly reflected its financial
position and operating results.

External Guarantees
The Company did not have any additional external guarantees for the year ended 31 December
2022.
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The Directors hereby submit their annual report together with the audited financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

Lingbao Gold Group Company Ltd. is a company incorporated and domiciled in the PRC and has its
registered office at Hangu Road and Jingshan Road intersection, Lingbao, Henan Province, the PRC and its
principal place of business in Hong Kong at Unit 1104, 11/F., Leighton Centre, 77 Leighton Road,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Group are the mining, processing, smelting and sales of gold and other
metallic products in the PRC. Further details regarding the Group’s principal activities are disclosed in note
36 to these financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group’s business during the reporting period is provided in the “Chairman’s Statement” on
pages 13 to 16 and the “Management Discussion & Analysis” on pages 17 to 25 of this annual report.
Description of the risks and uncertainties that the Group may face can be found in the “Management
Discussion & Analysis” on page 24 in this annual report. The financial risk management of the Group are
also set out in the note 35 to the financial statements and the financial highlights of the Group are set out
on pages 4 to 5 in this annual report.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Reference is made to the Company’s announcements dated 11 November 2021, 12 November 2021,
2 December 2021, 29 December 2021, 30 December 2021, 8 December 2022, and circulars dated
31 December 2021 and 4 January 2023. The Company and D&R Investment (“the Subscriber”) entered into
the Subscription Agreement on 11 November 2021 (after trading hours)), pursuant to which the Company
has conditionally agreed to issue and allot, and the Subscriber has conditionally agreed to subscribe for,
319,772,164 H Shares, representing approximately 37.0% of the issued share capital of the Company as at
11 November 2021 and approximately 27.0% of the enlarged share capital of the Company after completion
of the Subscription, at the subscription price of HK$0.85 per H Share. The Subscriber is a substantial
shareholder of the Company holding 185,339,000 Domestic Shares representing approximately 21.4% of the
total number of issued shares as at 11 November 2021. The aggregate nominal value of the Subscription
Shares to be issued, with a par value of RMBO0.20 each, will be RMB63,954,432.80 (equivalent to
approximately HK$77,384,863.70). As the Subscriber is a substantial shareholder of the Company and
therefore a connected person of the Company, the Subscription constitutes a connected transaction for the
Company.

Subject to the conditions precedent to the Subscription, the Subscription Shares will be issued and allotted
to the Subscriber (the Subscriber may conduct the subscription by the Subscriber itself and/or an entity
wholly controlled and/or managed by it to facilitate settlement of the Subscription Shares) on the Completion
Date (such date as may be notified by the Company to the Subscriber within the validity period of the China
Securities Regulatory Commission approval and upon fulfilment of the conditions precedent under the
Subscription Agreement (or such other date as the Company and the Subscriber may agree in writing)).
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The Company obtained the approval of independent shareholders to proceed with the subscription and
issuance of the Company’s H shares under specific mandate to the Subscriber pursuant to the adjourned
extraordinary general meeting, the adjourned domestic shareholders class meeting and the adjourned H
shareholders class meeting held on 17 January 2022.

It is expected that the gross proceeds from the Subscription will be approximately HK$271.8 million and the
net proceeds from the Subscription will be not less than approximately HK$265.6 million (after deduction of
expenses of the Subscription). The estimated net subscription price for each Subscription Share will be
approximately HK$0.83. The Company expects to apply the net proceeds from the Subscription for (i) the
financing of the deep exploration of Henan Lingjin No. 1 Mine; (i) the financing of the construction and
setting up of cyanide-containing sewage desalination facilities; and (iii) general working capital of the Group.

However, as additional time is required for the fulfilment of certain conditions precedent of the Subscription
Agreement, the parties, after arm’s length negotiation, have agreed to amend the Subscription Agreement by
way of a supplemental agreement. On 8 December 2022, the Company and the Subscriber entered into a
supplemental agreement to the Subscription Agreement to extend the Original Long Stop Date (i.e. 31
December 2022) to the New Long Stop Date (i.e. 31 January 2024) or such other date as the parties to the
Subscription Agreement may agree in writing. Save for the aforesaid extension of the Original Long Stop
Date (i.e. 31 December 2022), all other terms and conditions of the Subscription Agreement remain
unchanged and in full force and effect in all respects.

The Company obtained the approval of independent shareholders to approve the extension of the validity
period of the shareholders’ resolutions relating to the Subscription (including the grant of the Specific
Mandate) and the issuance of Subscription Shares for a further period of twelve (12) months from
17 January 2023 to 16 January 2024 pursuant to the new extraordinary general meeting, the new domestic
shareholders class meeting and the new H shareholders class meeting held on 20 January 2023.

Save as disclosed above, there is no significant event subsequent to 31 December 2022.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
The information in respect of the Group’s sales and purchases of direct materials attributable to the major
customers and suppliers respectively during the current financial year is as follows:

Percentage of

Percentage of the Group’s
the Group’s Purchases of
Sales direct materials

The largest customer 94%
Five largest customers in aggregate 97%
The largest supplier 17%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate 55%

At no time during the year have the Directors, their close associates or any shareholder of the Company
(which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any
interest in these major customers and suppliers.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 and the financial position of the
Group as at that date are set out in the financial statements on pages 65 to 159 of the annual report.

DIVIDEND
At the Board meeting held on 20 March 2023, the Directors do not recommend the payment of final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Movements in property, plant and equipment during the year are set out in note 14 to the financial
statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in reserves of the Company during the year are set out in note 33(a) to the
financial Statements. The Company’s reserves available for distribution to shareholders as at 31 December
2022 is RMB1,010,590,000. (2021: RMB967,349,000).

SHARE CAPITAL
As at the date of this report, there was a total of share capital of 864,249,091 shares of the Company
which includes:

Approximate
percentage of

Number of total share

shares capital

Domestic shares 566,975,091 65.60%
H Shares 297,274,000 34.40%
Total 864,249,091 100.00%

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the year are set out in note 33(a) to the
financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

No equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Company during the reporting period.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES OF THE COMPANY
For the year ended 31 December 2022, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s shares.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the directors’ service contracts, the Company has not entered into any contract with any
individuals, firms or corporate entities to manage or regulate the whole or any substantial part of any
business of the Company.
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DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS
The Directors and supervisors of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the date of
this report are as follows:

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Chen Jianzheng (Chairman) (appointed on 13 October 2022)
Mr. Xing Jiangze (Vice-Chairman)

Mr. He Chengqun (President)

Mr. Dai Weitao

Mr. Wu Liming

Mr. Zeng Xiangxin (resigned on 13 October 2022)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Zhang Feihu
Mr. Wang Guanran

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Wang Jiheng

Mr. Wang Guanghua

Mr. Xu Rong

Mr. Tan Chong Huat

SUPERVISORS

Mr. Yang Shilei

Mr. Guo Xurang

Mr. Zhao Bingbing

Mr. Liu Haotian

Mr. Chen Jianzheng (resigned on 13 October 2022)

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of Directors, supervisors and senior management of the Company are set out on
pages 26 to 33 of the annual report.

HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS
During the year, the relevant information of the five individuals with the highest remuneration in the Group is
disclosed in note 10 to the financial statements. All are Directors and supervisors of the Company.

REMUNERATION

The Company has a remuneration committee to formulate compensation policies and determine and manage
the compensation of the Company’s Directors and senior management with reference to their duties,
responsibilities, performance and results of the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the Directors and supervisors has entered into a service contract with the Company until the expiry
of the term of 7th Session of the Board on 28 May 2024.

Under these deeds, no remuneration is payable to the supervisors.

No Director or supervisor has a service contract with the Company, which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for an appropriate insurance cover for Directors’ and senior management’s
liabilities in respect of legal actions against its Directors and senior management arising out of corporate
activities. The permitted indemnity provision is in force for the benefit of the Directors as required by section
470 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) when the Directors’ report is
approved in accordance with section 391(1)(a) of the Companies Ordinance.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2022, the following Directors or chief executives of the Company or his associates had
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations, as notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”), or as recorded in the register to be kept
under Section 352 of the SFO or as notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”).

Approximate Approximate

percentage percentage
of the total of the total Approximate
issued issued percentage
Name and Class of Nature of Number of domestic H share of the total
Position shares Interest Shares held share capital capital share capital
Mr. Wang Domestic Shares  Interest of controlled 185,339,000 (L) 32.69% - 21.45%

Guanran corporation (note 2)

H Shares Interest of controlled 319,772,164 (L) = 107.57% 37.00%

corporation (note 3)
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Notes:

1. “L” represents long position in Shares/underlying Shares and “S” represents short position in Shares.

2. This represents the interests in 185,339,000 domestic shares of the Company directly held by D&R Investment. D&R
Investment is majority-owned as to approximately 56.2735% by Beijing Jiesi Weiye Holding Co., Ltd (1t 5% B {2 FE iR A
BB R A A (formerly known as Beijing Jiesi Weiye Co., Ltd (1t R £ B & £ 0% A R A 7)), which in turn is owned as to
approximately 93.04% and 6.96% by Mr. Wang Guanran and two limited liability partnerships whose general partner is
Mr. Wang Guanran, respectively.

3. This represents the interests in 319,772,164 H shares of the Company directly held by D&R Investment. D&R Investment is
majority-owned as to approximately 56.2735% by Beijing Jiesi Weiye Holding Co., Ltd (3t £ B & 25 A R A 7))
(formerly known as Beijing Jiesi Weiye Co., Ltd (1t 7 4 B & 245 A& A IR 2 7)), which in turn is owned as to approximately
93.04% and 6.96% by Mr. Wang Guanran and two limited liability partnerships whose general partner is Mr. Wang
Guanran, respectively. D&R Investment is also directly owned as to approximately 5.79% by Mr. Wang Guanran. On
11 November 2021, the Company and D&R Investment entered into the subscription agreement and D&R Investment has
conditional agreed to subscribe for 319,772,164 H shares. For more details, please refer to the circulars of the Company
dated 31 December 2021 and 4 January 2023. Each of the resolutions proposed on the Extraordinary General Meeting,
Domestic shareholders class meeting and H shareholders class meeting held on 20 January 2023 were duly passed.
Further announcement(s) in relation to the progress of the above subscription will be made in compliance with the Listing
Rules and other relevant requirements in the PRC as and when appropriate.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, and to the best knowledge of the Directors and chief
executives of the Company, no person had any interests or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered into the
register referred to therein, or required pursuant to the Model Code to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTEREST IN SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2022, so far as was known to the Directors, the following person, other than the
Directors and chief executive of the Company, had an interest in the shares of the Company as recorded in
the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO:

Approximate Approximate
percentage percentage
of the total of the total Approximate
issued issued percentage
Class of Nature of Number of domestic H share of the total
Name of shareholders shares Interest Shares held share capital capital share capital
D&R Investment Domestic Beneficial 185,339,000 (L) 32.69% - 21.45%
Shares owner
H Shares Beneficial 319,772,164 (L) - 107.57% 37.00%
owner (note 2)
Beijing Jiesi Weiye Holding ~ Domestic Interest of 185,339,000 (L) 32.69% - 21.45%
Co., Ltid JtmEREE Shares controlled
BERRHBRRA) corporation
(formerly known as H Shares Interest of 319,772,164 (L) - 107.57% 37.00%
Beijing Jiesi Weiye Co., controlled (note 2)
Ltd R EEER corporation
HRDR) (hote 3)
Lingbao State-owned Domestic Beneficial 73,540,620 (L) 12.97% - 8.50%
Assets Operation Limited Shares owner
Liability Company (£ &
MEEEELZERE
fE2 7))
Shanghai Zhengxi Domestic Beneficial 57,000,000 (L) 10.06% . 6.60%
Investment Management Shares owner
Partnership (Limited
Partnership)

(LBEEREERAY
TLREREE)
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Notes:
1. “L” represents long position in Shares/underlying Shares and “S” represents short position in Shares.
2. On 11 November 2021, the Company and D&R Investment entered into the subscription agreement and D&R Investment

has conditional agreed to subscribe for 319,772,164 H shares. For more details, please refer to the circulars of the
Company dated 31 December 2021 and 20 January 2023. Each of the resolutions proposed on the Extraordinary General
Meeting, Domestic shareholders class meeting and H shareholders class meeting held on 20 January 2023 were duly
passed. Further announcement(s) in relation to the progress of the above subscription will be made in compliance with the
Listing Rules and other relevant requirements in the PRC as and when appropriate.

3. 56.2735% of equity interest of D&R Investment is held by Beijing Jiesi Weiye Holding Co., Ltd.

Save as disclosed above, according to the provisions of the SFO, as at 31 December 2022, so far as the
Directors are aware, there are no other persons, other than the Directors and chief executive of the
Company, who had interests or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company as
recorded in the register required to be kept pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No contract of significance in relation to the Company’s business to which the Company, its subsidiaries or
its jointly controlled entities was a party and in which the Directors or the supervisors of the Company had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year (excluding the Directors’ and supervisors’ service contracts).

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Apart from disclosed under the paragraph headed “Directors and chief executive’s interest in shares of the
Company” above, at no time during the year was the Company, its subsidiaries or its jointly controlled entity,
a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors and their respective spouses or children under 18 years
of age to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS IN COMPETING BUSINESS
During the year and up to the date of this report, none of the Directors has any interest in business, which
competes or may compete with the business of the Group under the Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
The related party transactions during the year as disclosed in note 37 to the financial statements are de
minimis transactions that are fully exempted from announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above and the Subscription Agreement as described under “Event After The Reporting
Period” above, the Group had not entered into any connected transactions which are required to be
disclosed in this annual report in compliance with the requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
during the year ended 31 December 2022. The Directors confirm that they have complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS
Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Company and the Group as at 31 December 2022
are mainly set out in note 28 to the financial statements.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS
Charitable donations made by the Group during the year amounted to RMBG6,715,000 (2021:
RMB3,700,000).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions regarding pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association of the Company and
related laws of Hong Kong and the PRC, which would oblige the Company to issue new shares on pro-rata
basis to the existing shareholders of the Company.

POLICY ON INCOME TAX

The Company and its subsidiaries basically paid PRC corporate income tax at a rate of 25% of its
assessable profits according to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC. Details of the Group’s income
tax information are disclosed in note 8 to the financial statements.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Saturday, 22 April 2023 to Tuesday, 23 May
2023, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to qualify for
attending and voting at the forthcoming annual general meeting, all transfer documents of shares
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s H shares registrar,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong (for holders of H shares) or the registered office address of the
Company at Hangu Road and Jingshan Road Intersection, Lingbao, Henan, the PRC (for holders of
domestic shares), no later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 21 April 2023.

PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on the publicly available information and the best of knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained sufficient public float at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this report.

COMPLIANCE OF CODE OF CONDUCT

None of the Directors of the Company is aware of any information that would reasonably indicate that the
Company did not meet the applicable code provision set out in the code on Corporate Governance Code for
any time from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022.

FIVE YEARS SUMMARY
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set
out on page 160 of the annual report.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.

AUDITORS
KPMG retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for reappointment. A resolution for the reappointment of
KPMG as auditors of the Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

By order of the Board

Chen Jianzheng
Chairman

Lingbao, Henan, the PRC
20 March 2023
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Lingbao Gold Group Company Ltd.
(Incorporated in the People’s Republic of China with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Lingbao Gold Group Company Ltd. (“the
Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages 65 to 159, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022, the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 December 2022 and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the
HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) together with any
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in the People’s
Republic of China, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Assessment of the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern

Refer to note 1(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

The Key Audit Matter

At 31 December 2022, the Group had net current
liabilities of RMB1,239 million, total bank and other
borrowings of RMB3,672 million and capital
commitments of RMB339 million.

The Group finances its operating and exploration
and development activities using a combination of
cash on hand, operating cash flows, which are
generated mainly from the sales of gold, and
borrowings.

Based on the cash flow forecasts of the Group,
the Directors have concluded that the Group has
adequate resources to remain in operation for at
least one year from the date of the financial
statements, and there are no material uncertainties
related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern.

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Our procedures to assess whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern included the following:

° walking through the business planning process and
assessing the design, implementation and
operating effectiveness of management’s key
internal controls over the assessment of the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern;

° comparing the future expected cash flows in
management’s cash flow forecast with the Group’s
business plan approved by the Board of
Directors;

° evaluating the key assumptions adopted by
management in the preparation of the cash flow
forecast including,

° comparing future gold prices with gold futures
contracts in the market;

o comparing forecast production quantities and
future cost projections with historical
information for the past two years;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Assessment of the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern

Refer to note 1(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

The Key Audit Matter

We identified the assessment of the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern as a key audit
matter because the Group has recorded net
current liabilities since 2015 which has increased
the risk that the Group may not be able to
continue to operate as a going concern and
because the assessment of the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern is dependent upon
certain management assumptions and judgements,
in particular in relation to future revenue from sales
of gold and the ability of the Group to renew or
obtain new bank facilities upon expiry of the
existing bank facilities.

How the matter was addressed in our audit

comparing future expected cash flows with
historical data and assessing whether any
variations were consistent with our expectations
based on our understanding of the Group’s
business;

considering the accuracy and reliability of past cash
flow forecasts made by management by
comparing them with the current year’s results;

comparing the available bank facilities and
arrangements to underlying documentation and
assessing the impact of any covenants and other
restrictive terms attached thereto;

assessing the Group’s ability to renew or refinance
existing banking and other financing facilities upon
maturity by performing a retrospective review of
past renewal or roll-over history of banking and
other financing facilities in prior year and
inspecting loan agreements or underlying
documentation for bank loans and other financing
facilities borrowed and repaid; and

assessing the sensitivities of the key assumptions
adopted by management in the going concern
assessment and considering whether management
had incorporated any bias in the selection of such
assumptions.
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Potential impairment of exploration and evaluation (“E&E”) assets

Refer to note 16 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 80.

The Key Audit Matter

The carrying value of E&E assets of the Group
was RMB414 million as at 31 December 2022.

Annually, management assesses whether there are
any indicators of impairment of the Group’s E&E
assets. Such indicators may include:

° expiry or relinquishment of exploration and
evaluation licences;

° no expenditure for further exploration and
evaluation in the specific area is planned or
budgeted for;

° exploration and evaluation activities have not
led to the discovery of commercially viable
quantities of mineral resources and
management has decided to discontinue
activities in the area; and

° data exists to suggest that the carrying
amount of the E&E assets is unlikely to be
recovered in full from successful
development of the resource or by sale of
the related assets.

Where indicators of impairment are identified, the
recoverable amounts of E&E assets are
determined by management as the greater of the
value in use and the fair value less cost of
disposal of these E&E assets. Where projects are
under development or in operation but the carrying
value may not be fully recoverable, discounted
cash flow forecasts were prepared by the
management.

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Our procedures to assess potential impairment of E&E
assets included the following:

° establishing that the Group had the right to explore
and had the relevant exploration licenses by
inspecting underlying documentation including
license agreements or correspondence with
relevant government agencies;

° assessing the Group’s intention to carry out
exploration and evaluation activities in the relevant
exploration area by inspecting the budgets and
discussing the latest status and budgets in
respect of each exploration license with senior
management and the executive directors;

° considering whether the Group has the ability to
finance its planned future exploration and
evaluation activities by comparing budgets with the
available financing facilities;

° identifying any fields where the Group’s right to
explore is either at or close to expiry and
assessing the appropriateness of retaining the
associated E&E costs as assets;

o where mineral reserve information was available,
assessing the commercial viability of the related
E&E assets by comparing the mineral reserve
information for the relevant area and the market
price of the mineral products (primarily gold) with
management’s expectations as determined in their
latest forecasts;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Potential impairment of exploration and evaluation (“E&E”) assets

Refer to note 16 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 80.

The Key Audit Matter

We identified the potential impairment of E&E
assets as a key audit matter because the review of
impairment indicators requires management to
exercise judgement and because the impairment
assessments prepared by management are
complex and contain certain judgements and
assumptions, particularly in respect of future
product prices, the long-term growth rates and the
discount rates applied, which are inherently
uncertain and could be subject to management
bias.

How the matter was addressed in our audit

where indicators of impairment were identified, we
assessed whether management had made
provisions for impairment for the projects that were
not expected to proceed or had prepared
discounted cash flow forecasts where the projects
are under development or in operation but the
carrying value may not be fully recoverable;

where discounted cash flow forecasts were
prepared by management, our procedures to
assess the potential impairment of E&E assets
included the following;

comparing data in the discounted cash flow
forecasts to relevant data, including future
revenue, future cost of sales and other operating
expenses, with the budgets which were approved
by the Board of Directors;

with the assistance of our internal valuation
specialists, assessing whether the discount rates
applied in the discounted cash flow forecasts were
within the range adopted by other companies in
the same industry;

comparing the long-term growth rates adopted in
the discounted cash flow forecasts with those of
comparable companies and external market data;

comparing the future price of products as adopted
in the discounted cash flow forecasts with the
market prices for the relevant commodity futures
contracts; and

obtaining from management sensitivity analyses of
the key assumptions, including future gold prices,
future production quantities and future gross profit
margins, adopted in the discounted cash flow
forecasts and assessing the impact of changes in
the key assumptions to the conclusions reached in
the impairment assessments and whether there
were any indicators of management bias.
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Impairment assessment of intangible assets, construction in progress (“CIP”) and property, plant

and equipment (“PP&E”) of Full Gold

Refer to notes 14, 15, 16 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 87

to 88.
The Key Audit Matter

Due to the under-performance of a cash-
generating unit (“CGU”), Full Gold Mining Limited
Liability Company (“Full Gold”), a subsidiary of the
Group, which incorporated in and has operations
in the Kyrgyz Republic, there is a risk that the
value of the intangible assets, CIP and PP&E of
Full Gold may not be recoverable in full through
the future cash flows to be generated from its
mining operations or from disposal of these
assets.

Full Gold held intangible assets (excluding
exploration and evaluation assets) totalling
RMB102 million, CIP totaling RMB18 million and
PP&E totalling RMB199 million as at 31 December
2022.

The recoverable amount of the cash generating
unit which included Full Gold was determined by
management as the greater of the value in use
and the fair value less cost of disposal of the
assets of Full Gold. A discounted cash flow
forecast was prepared by management to
determine the value in use.

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Our audit procedures to assess potential impairment of
the intangible assets, CIP and PP&E of Full Gold
included the following:

° engaging our internal valuation specialists to assist
us in evaluating the methodology used by
management in the preparation of the discounted
cash flow forecast with reference to the
requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards;

° comparing the future gold prices used in the
discounted cashflow forecast with gold futures
contract prices in the market;

o comparing data in the discounted cashflow forecast
with the relevant data, including future revenue,
future cost of sales and future other operating
expenses, in the budget which was approved by
the Board of Directors;

o comparing the revenue and operating costs
included in discounted cashflow forecast prepared
in the prior year with the current year’s
performance of Full Gold to assess how accurate
the prior year’s discounted cashflow forecast was
and making enquiries of management as to the
reasons for any significant variations identified;

° with the assistance of our internal valuation
specialists, assessing whether the discount rate
applied in the discounted cashflow forecast was
within the range adopted by other companies in
the same industry;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Impairment assessment of intangible assets, construction in progress (“CIP”) and property, plant
and equipment (“PP&E”) of Full Gold

Refer to notes 14, 15, 16 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 87
to 88.

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

We identified the impairment assessment of the
intangible assets, CIP and PP&E of Full Gold as a
key audit matter because the impairment
assessment prepared by management is complex
and contains certain judgements and assumptions,
particularly in relation to future gold prices, the
long-term growth rate and the discount rate
applied, which are inherently uncertain and may be

comparing the long-term growth rate adopted in
the discounted cashflow forecast with those of
comparable companies and external market data;
and

obtaining from management sensitivity analyses of
the key assumptions, including future gold prices,
future production quantities and future gross profit

subject to management bias. margins, adopted in the discounted cashflow
forecast prepared by management and assessing
the impact of changes in the key assumptions to
the conclusions reached in the impairment
assessments and whether there were any
indicators of management bias.

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all the information
included in the annual report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
Statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

° |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the Directors.




LINGBAO GOLD GROUP COMPANY LTD. Annual Report 2022

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

hcRLaG,

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Yue Tat Wai.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

20 March 2023
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AENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

2021
Note RMB’000
Revenue 3 5,330,611
Cost of sales (4,742,801)
Gross profit 587,810
Other revenue 4 53,796
Other net loss 5 (41,212)
Selling and distribution expenses (3,850)
Administrative expenses and other operating expenses (291,218)
Profit from operations 305,326
Finance costs 7(a) (138,548)
Share of (losses)/profits of associates 6,089
Profit before taxation 7 172,867
Income tax 8(a) (55,228)
Profit for the year 117,639
Attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the Company 130,026
Non-controlling interests (12,387)
Profit for the year 117,639
Basic and diluted earnings per share (RMB cents) 13 15.0

The notes on pages 72 to 159 form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEME
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

2021
Note RMB’000
Profit for the year 117,639
Other comprehensive income for the year (after tax
and reclassification adjustments) 12
[tem that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or
loss:
Exchange differences on translation of financial
statements of overseas subsidiaries 19,536
Total comprehensive income for the year 137,175
Attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the Company 145,883
Non-controlling interests (8,708)
Total comprehensive income for the year 137,175

The notes on pages 72 to 159 form part of these financial statements.
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OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

2021
Note RMB’000
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 14 1,754,699
Construction in progress 15 422,633
Intangible assets 16 1,088,435
Goodwill 17 4,717
Right-of-use assets 18 118,505
Interest in associates 28,620
Other financial assets 20 4,520
Non-current prepayments 22 14,294
Deferred tax assets 23(b) 323,612
Other non-current assets 8,000
3,768,035
Current assets
Inventories 24(a) 1,518,855
Trade and other receivables, deposits and prepayments 25 193,505
Pledged deposits 26 1,363,361
Cash and cash equivalents 27 160,145
3,235,866
Current liabilities
Bank and other borrowings 28 3,542,876
Trade and other payables 29 1,072,020
Contract liabilities 30 30,045
Lease liabilities 31 480
Loan from shareholders 32 40,000
Current tax payable 23(a) 74,671
4,760,092
Net current liabilities (1,524,226)
Total assets less current liabilities 2,243,809
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

Note

Non-current liabilities
Bank and other borrowings 28
Other payables 29

Lease liabilities 31
Deferred tax liabilities 23(b)

NET ASSETS

CAPITAL AND RESERVES 33

Share capital
Reserves

Total equity attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company

Non-controlling interests

TOTAL EQUITY

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 20 March 2023.

2021
RMB’000

484,955
3,157
7,501

495,613

1,748,196

172,850
1,756,181

1,929,031

(180,835)

1,748,196

Chen Jianzheng Wu Liming
Executive director and Chairman Executive director

The notes on pages 72 to 159 form part of these financial statements.
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OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan))

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

PRC Non-
Share statutory Exchange Other Retained controlling
Share capital premium reserves reserve reserve profits Total interests Total equity

RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'OO0 ~ RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
(note 33(b))  (note 33(a)(j) (note 35(c))  (note 33(ajfi)) (note 33ajfiv)

Balance at 31 December 2020 172,850 891,926 160,878 2,475 (858) 556,877 1,783,148 (172,127) 1,611,021

Changes in equity for 2021:

Profit/(loss) for the year - - - - - 130,026 130,026 (12,387) 117,639
Other comprehensive income = = = 15,857 = = 15,857 3,679 19,536
Total comprehensive income for the year = = = 15,857 = 130,026 145,883 (8,708) 137,175
Profit appropriation - - 10,946 - - (10,946) - - -
Appropriation of safety production funds - - 57,885 - - - 57,885 - 57,885
Utilisation of safety production funds = = (57,885) = = = (57,885) = (57,885)
Balance at 31 December 2021 172,850 891,926 171,824 18,332 (858) 674,957 1,929,031 (180,835) 1,748,196

Balance at 31 December 2021

Changes in equity for 2022:
Profit/(loss) for the year
Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit appropriation

Appropriation of safety production funds
Utilisation of safety production funds

Balance at 31 December 2022

The notes on pages 72 to 159 form part of these financial statements.



70 LINGBAO GOLD GROUP COMPANY LTD. Annual Report 2022

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLO

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

2021
Note RMB’000
Operating activities
Profit before taxation 172,867
Adjustments for:
— Interest income 4 (23,132)
— Net realised and unrealised loss/(gain) on
other financial instruments at fair value 5 (13,955)
— Share of losses/(profits) of associates (6,089)
— Net loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets 5 1,004
— Expenditure on government claims of a subsidiary ) -
— Depreciation 7(b) 204,391
— Finance costs 7(a) 138,548
— Provision/(reversal) of impairment losses on:
— property, plant and equipment 7(b) 9,986
— intangible assets 7(b) -
— right-of-use assets 7(b) -
— purchase deposits 7(b) (50)
— other receivables and prepayment 7(b) 4,739
— other non-current assets 7(b) -
— prepayments 7(b) -
— investment deposits 7(b) 10,241
— Amortisation of intangible assets 7(b) 23,276
— Write-down of inventories 24(b) 23,480
— Foreign exchange differences 11,563
Operating profit before changes in working capital 556,869
Decrease in inventories 231,462
Decrease/(increase) in pledged deposits (1,378)
Decrease in fixed deposits held at banks with maturity
over three months 99,105
Increase in trade and other receivables, deposits and
prepayments (88,957)
Decrease in trade and other payables (155,683)
Cash generated from operations 691,418
PRC income tax paid 23(a) (21,105)
Net cash generated from operating activities 670,313
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IDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

2021
Note RMB’000

Investing activities
Interest received 24,294
Proceeds from settlement of financial instruments 14,968
Payment for purchase of property, plant and equipment (56,542)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 2,683
Payment for construction in progress (178,157)
Payment for purchase of intangible assets (160,248)
Payment for investment deposits 21 (841)
Net cash used in investing activities (853,843)

Financing activities
Proceeds from bank and other borrowings 27(b) 4,261,048
Repayment of bank and other borrowings 27(b) (4,470,366)
Proceeds from loans from shareholders 27(b) 90,000
Repayment of a loan from shareholders 27(b) (50,000)
Payment for interest swap settlement 27(b) (439)
Interest paid for bank and other borrowings 27(b) (139,003)
Interest paid for guarantees from shareholders (7,900)
Pledged deposits (placed)/collected for borrowings 27(b) 24,157
Pledged deposits collected for interest swap 8,240
Capital element of lease rentals paid 27(b) (3,201)
Interest element of lease rentals paid 27(b) (839)
Net cash used in financing activities (287,803)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 27,667
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 27(a) 132,709
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (231)
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 27(a) 160,145

The notes on pages 72 to 159 form part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes all applicable individual
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), and
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. Significant accounting policies adopted by the Company and its subsidiaries (together
referred to as the “Group”) are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRSs that are first effective or available for
early adoption for the current accounting period of the Group. None of these developments have
had a material effect on how the Group’s results and financial position for the current or prior
periods have been prepared or presented. The Group has not applied any new standard or
interpretation that is not effective for the current accounting period.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 comprise the
Company and its subsidiaries and the Group’s interest in an associate.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had net current liabilities of RMB1,239 million, total bank
and other borrowings of RMB3,672 million and capital commitments of RMB339 million. In view
of these circumstances, the Directors of the Company have given consideration to the future
liquidity of the Group and its available sources of finance including banking facilities in assessing
whether the Group will have sufficient financial resources to continue as a going concern. As at
31 December 2022, taking into account the Group’s cash flow projection, including the Group’s
unutilised banking facilities related to unsecured bank loans facilities of RMB251 million, ability to
renew or refinance the banking facilities upon maturity and ability to adjust the scheduled capital
commitments, the Directors of the Company consider that the Group has sufficient working
capital to meet in full its financial obligations as they fall due for at least the next twelve months
from the end of the reporting period and there are no material uncertainties related to events or
conditions which, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial statements is the historical cost
basis except that the following assets and liabilities are stated at fair value as explained in the
accounting policies set out below:

—  Other investments in debt and equity securities (see note 1(g))

—  Derivative financial instruments (see note 1(h))
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements (continued)

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires management to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgments about
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects
both current and future periods.

Judgments made by management in the application of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the
financial statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 2.

Changes in accounting policies
The group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA to these
financial statements for the current accounting period:

° Amendments to HKAS 16, Property, plant and equipment: Proceeds before intended use

° Amendments to HKAS 37, Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets: Onerous
contracts — cost of fulfilling a contract

None of these developments have had a material effect on how the Group’s results and financial
position for the current or prior periods have been prepared or presented. The Group has not
applied any new standard or interpretation that is not effective for the current accounting period.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity. When assessing whether the Group has
power, only substantive rights (held by the Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated financial statements from the
date that control commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group balances,
transactions and cash flows and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting
from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but only to the
extent that there is no evidence of impairment.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d)

(e)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (continued)

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly
to the Company, and in respect of which the Group has not agreed any additional terms with the
holders of those interests which would result in the Group as a whole having a contractual
obligation in respect of those interests that meets the definition of a financial liability. For each
business combination, the Group can elect to measure any non-controlling interests either at fair
value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable
assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company.
Non-controlling interests in the results of the Group are presented on the face of the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an allocation of the
total profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the year between non-controlling interests
and the equity shareholders of the Company. Loans from holders of non-controlling interests and
other contractual obligations towards these holders are presented as financial liabilities in the
consolidated statement of financial position in accordance with note 1(q) or (r) depending on the
nature of the liability.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the amounts of
controlling and non-controlling interests within consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative
interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in that subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in that former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognised at fair
value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset (see
note 1(g)) or, when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate
(see note 1(eg)) or joint venture.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost
less impairment losses (see note 1(|)(iii)), unless the investment is classified as held for sale (or
included in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale.

Associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group or Company has significant influence, but not
control or joint control, over its management, including participation in the financial and operating
policy decisions.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(e)

(f)

Associates (continued)

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the associate, the Group’s interest is
reduced to nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the
Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the investee.
For this purpose, the Group’s interest is the carrying amount of the investment under the equity
method together with the Group’s long-term interests that in substance form part of the Group’s
net investment in the associate (after applying the ECL model to such other long-term interests
where applicable (see note 1(I)(i)).

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its associate is
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee, except where unrealised losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred, in which case they are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or vice versa, retained
interest is not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the
equity method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have significant influence over an associate, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that investee, with a resulting gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former investee at the date when
significant influence is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair
value on initial recognition of a financial asset (see note 1(g)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments in associates are stated at cost
less impairment losses (see note 1(l)(iii)), unless classified as held for sale (or included in a
disposal group that is classified as held for sale).

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of

(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the Group’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree; over

(i)  the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities measured as at the
acquisition date.

When (i) is greater than (i), then this excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a gain
on a bargain purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill arising on a business
combination is allocated to each cash-generating unit, or groups of cash generating units, that is
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination and is tested annually for impairment
(see note 1(I)(iii)).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(f)

(9)

Goodwill (continued)
On disposal of a cash generating unit during the year, any attributable amount of purchased
goodwill is included in the calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.

Other investments in debt and equity securities
The Group’s and the Company’s policies for investments in equity securities other than
investments in subsidiaries and associates are as follows:

Investments in equity securities are recognised/derecognised on the date the Group commits to
purchase/sell the investment. The investments are initially stated at fair value plus directly
attributable transaction costs, except for those investments measured at fair value through profit
or loss (FVPL) for which transaction costs are recognised directly in profit or loss. For an
explanation of how the Group determines fair value of financial instruments, see note 35(g).
These investments are subsequently accounted for as follows, depending on their classification.

(i) Investments other than equity investments
Non-equity investments held by the Group are classified into one of the following
measurement categories:

— amortised cost, if the investment is held for the collection of contractual cash flows
which represent solely payments of principal and interest. Interest income from the
investment is calculated using the effective interest method (see note 1(v)(iii)).

—  fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) — recycling, if the contractual
cash flows of the investment comprise solely payments of principal and interest and
the investment is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both
the collection of contractual cash flows and sale. Changes in fair value are
recognised in other comprehensive income, except for the recognition in profit or loss
of expected credit losses, interest income (calculated using the effective interest
method) and foreign exchange gains and losses. When the investment is
derecognised, the amount accumulated in other comprehensive income is recycled
from equity to profit or loss.

—  fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) if the investment does not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVOCI (recycling). Changes in the fair value of
the investment (including interest) are recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(9)

(h)

(i)

Other investments in debt and equity securities (continued)

(i)

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVPL unless the equity investment is not
held for trading purposes and on initial recognition of the investment the Group makes an
irrevocable election to designate the investment at FVOCI (non-recycling) such that
subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income. Such
elections are made on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but may only be made if the
investment meets the definition of equity from the issuer’s perspective. Where such an
election is made, the amount accumulated in other comprehensive income remains in the
fair value reserve (non-recycling) until the investment is disposed of. At the time of
disposal, the amount accumulated in the fair value reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to
retained earnings. It is not recycled through profit or loss. Dividends from an investment in
equity securities, irrespective of whether classified as at FVPL or FVOCI, are recognised in
profit or loss as other net (loss)/income in accordance with the policy set out in note

1(v) ).

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are recognised at fair value. At the end of each reporting period
the fair value is remeasured. The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair value is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment and construction in progress

U]

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are initially stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see note 1(|)(iii)). The
cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing
the asset to its present working condition and location for its intended use.

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant and equipment includes the cost of
materials, direct labour, the initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs of dismantling and
removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located, and an appropriate
proportion of production overheads and borrowing costs (see note 1(y)).

ltems may be produced while bringing an item of property, plant and equipment to the
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended
by management. The proceeds from selling any such items and the related costs are
recognised in profit or loss.

When proved and probable gold reserves have been determined, costs incurred to develop
gold mines are capitalised as part of the cost of mining structures. All other expenditures,
including the cost of repairs and maintenance and major overhaul, are expensed as they
are incurred. Mining exploration costs, such as expenditures related to locating gold
reserves and determining the economic feasibility and the costs of removing waste
materials or “stripping costs” are expensed as incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(i)

Property, plant and equipment and construction in progress (continued)

U]

(ii)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item of property, plant and
equipment are determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement
or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or valuation of items of property, plant and
equipment other than mining shafts, less their estimated residual value, if any, using the
straight-line method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Buildings 5-35 years
Machinery 4-30 years
Transportation equipment 4-8 years
Office and electronic equipment 4-12 years

Included in property, plant and equipment are mining shafts located at the mining sites.
Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of mining shafts using the units of production
method based on the proved and probable mineral reserves.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the
cost of the item is allocated on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any, are
reviewed annually.

Construction in progress

Construction in progress represents buildings, various infrastructure projects under
construction and equipment pending installation, and is recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less impairment losses (see note 1(|)(iii)).

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant and equipment includes the cost of
materials, direct labour, the initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs of dismantling and
removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located, and an appropriate
proportion of production overheads and borrowing costs (see note 1(y)). Capitalisation of
these costs ceases and the construction in progress is transferred to property, plant and
equipment when the asset is substantially ready for its intended use, notwithstanding any
delays in the issue of the relevant commissioning certificate by the relevant authorities in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

No depreciation is provided in respect of the construction in progress.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is
incurred. Expenditure on development activities is capitalised if the product or process is
technically and commercially feasible and the Group has sufficient resources and the intention to
complete the development. The expenditure capitalised includes the costs of materials, direct
labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads and borrowing costs, where applicable (see
note 1(y)). Capitalised development costs are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses (see note 1(l)(iii)). Other development expenditure is recognised as an expense
in the period in which it is incurred.

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful lives are assessed to be indefinite. Any
conclusion that the useful life of an intangible asset is indefinite is reviewed annually to determine
whether events and circumstances continue to support the indefinite useful life assessment for
that asset. If they do not, the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is
accounted for prospectively from the date of change and in accordance with the policy for
amortisation of intangible assets with finite lives as set out below.

(i) Mining rights
Mining rights are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses (see
note 1(l)(iii)). The mining rights are amortised to profit or loss using the units of production
method based on the proved and probable mineral reserves.

The Group’s mining rights are of sufficient duration (or convey a legal right to renew for
sufficient duration) to enable all reserves to be mined in accordance with current
production schedules.

(ii) Exploration rights
Exploration rights are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses
(see note 1(l)(iii)). The exploration rights are transferred to exploration and evaluation assets
(see note 1(j)(iii)) on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of one to three
years.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

)]

(k)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)

(iii)

Exploration and evaluation assets and mining development assets
Exploration and evaluation assets are stated at cost less impairment losses (see note
1()(iii)). Exploration and evaluation assets include exploration and development costs.

When it can be reasonably ascertained that a mining structure is capable of commercial
production, exploration and development costs capitalised are transferred to mining
development assets and amortised to profit or loss using the units of production method
based on the proved and probable mineral reserves. If any project is abandoned during the
exploration and evaluation stage, the related exploration and evaluation assets are written
off to profit or loss.

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed where the
customer has both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all
of the economic benefits from that use.

U]

As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and non-lease component(s), the Group
has elected not to separate non-lease components and accounts for each lease
component and any associated non-lease components as a single lease component for all
leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease
liability, except for short-term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and
leases of low-value assets. When the Group enters into a lease in respect of a low-value
asset, the Group decides whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The
lease payments associated with those leases which are not capitalised are recognised as an
expense on a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially recognised at the present value
of the lease payments payable over the lease term, discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at
amortised cost and interest expense is calculated using the effective interest method.
Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the
measurement of the lease liability and hence are charged to profit or loss in the accounting
period in which they are incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k)

Leased assets (continued)

U]

As a lessee (continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised is initially measured at cost,
which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability plus any lease payments made at or
before the commencement date, and any initial direct costs incurred. Where applicable, the
cost of the right-of-use assets also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove
the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located,
discounted to their present value, less any lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset
is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see
note 1(l)(iii)), except for the following types of right-of-use asset:

—  right-of-use assets that meet the definition of investment property are carried at fair
value;

— right-of-use assets related to leasehold land and buildings where the Group is the
registered owner of the leasehold interest are carried at fair value; and

— right-of-use assets related to interests in leasehold land where the interest in the land
is held as inventory are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

The initial fair value of refundable rental deposits is accounted for separately from the
right-of-use assets in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to investments in
debt securities carried at amortised cost (see notes 1(g)(i), 1(v)(iii) and 1(l)(})). Any difference
between the initial fair value and the nominal value of the deposits is accounted for as
additional lease payments made and is included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising
from a change in an index or rate, or there is a change in the Group’s estimate of the
amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or there is a change
arising from the reassessment of whether the Group will be reasonably certain to exercise
a purchase, extension or termination option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this
way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset,
or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been
reduced to zero.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k) Leased assets (continued)

U]

(ii)

As a lessee (continued)

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a change in the scope of a lease or the
consideration for a lease that is not originally provided for in the lease contract (“lease
modification”) that is not accounted for as a separate lease. In this case the lease liability is
remeasured based on the revised lease payments and lease term using a revised discount
rate at the effective date of the modification. The only exceptions are rent concessions that
occurred as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic and met the conditions set
out in paragraph 46B of HKFRS 16 Leases. In such cases, the Group has taken advantage
of the practical expedient not to assess whether the rent concessions are lease
modifications, and recognised the change in consideration as negative variable lease
payments in profit or loss in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the
rent concessions occurred.

In the consolidated statement of financial position, the current portion of long-term lease
liabilities is determined as the present value of contractual payments that are due to be
settled within twelve months after the reporting period.

As a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether each lease is a
finance lease or an operating lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of an underlying assets to
the lessee. If this is not the case, the lease is classified as an operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component on a relative stand-alone selling price
basis. The rental income from operating leases is recognised.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, the sub-leases are classified as a finance lease
or as an operating lease with reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head
lease. If the head lease is a short-term lease to which the Group applies the exemption
described in note 1(k)(i), then the Group classifies the sub-lease as an operating lease.

() Credit losses and impairment of assets

U]

Credit losses from financial assets measured at amortised cost

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) on financial
assets measured at amortised cost (including cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables
and other receivables, including loans to associates and joint ventures, which are held for
the collection of contractual cash flows which represent solely payments of principal and
interest).

Other financial assets measured at fair value, including equity and debt securities measured
at FVPL and derivative financial assets, are not subject to the ECL assessment.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

()

Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

U]

Credit losses from financial assets measured at amortised cost (continued)
Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as
the present value of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows
due to the Group in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the following discount rates where the
effect of discounting is material:

—  fixed-rate financial assets and trade and other receivables: effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition or an approximation thereof;

— variable-rate financial assets: current effective interest rate.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period
over which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account reasonable and supportable information
that is available without undue cost or effort. This includes information about past events,
current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

a 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are expected to result from possible default
events within the 12 months after the reporting date; and

= lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected to result from all possible default
events over the expected lives of the items to which the ECL model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs. ECLs on these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors and an assessment of both the current and forecast general economic conditions
at the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises a loss allowance equal to
12-month ECLs unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk of the financial
instrument since initial recognition, in which case the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

()

Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

U]

Credit losses from financial assets measured at amortised cost (continued)
Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of default occurring on the financial
instrument assessed at the reporting date with that assessed at the date of initial
recognition. In making this reassessment, the Group considers that a default event occurs
when () the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without
recourse by the Group to actions such as realising security (if any is held); or (i) the
financial asset is 90 days past due. The Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit
risk has increased significantly since initial recognition:

—  failure to make payments on their contractually due dates;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in a financial instrument’s external or
internal credit rating (if available);

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor;
and

—  existing or forecast changes in the technological, market, economic or legal environment
that have a significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its obligation to
the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments, the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk is performed on either an individual basis or a collective basis. When
the assessment is performed on a collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics, such as past due status and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect changes in the financial instrument’s
credit risk since initial recognition. Any change in the ECLs amount is recognised as an
impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
for financial assets measured at amortised cost with a corresponding adjustment to their
carrying amount through a loss allowance account.

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with note 1(v)(iii) is calculated based on the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-impaired, in
which case interest income is calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial asset.
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() Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

U]

(i)

Credit losses from financial assets measured at amortised cost (continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income (continued)

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a financial asset is credit-impaired. A
financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact
on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable events:
— significant financial difficulties of the debtor;
— a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

— it becoming probable that the borrower will enter into bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation;

— significant changes in the technological, market, economic or legal environment that
have an adverse effect on the debtor; or

—  the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties of
the issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the
extent that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the
Group determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could
generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously written off are recognised as a
reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.

Credit losses from financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make
specified payments to reimburse the beneficiary of the guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss
the holder incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.
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1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

()

Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial guarantees issued (continued)

Financial guarantees issued are initially recognised at fair value, which is determined by
reference to fees charged in an arm’s length transaction for similar services, when such
information is obtainable, or to interest rate differentials, by comparing the actual rates
charged by lenders when the guarantee is made available with the estimated rates that
lenders would have charged, had the guarantees not been available, where reliable
estimates of such information can be made. Where consideration is received or receivable
for the issuance of the guarantee, the consideration is recognised in accordance with the
Group’s policies applicable to that category of asset. Where no such consideration is
received or receivable, an immediate expense is recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the amount initially recognised as deferred income is
amortised in profit or loss over the term of the guarantee as income from financial
guarantees issued.

The Group monitors the risk that the specified debtor will default on the contract and
recognises a provision when ECLs on the financial guarantees are determined to be higher
than the carrying amount in respect of the guarantees (i.e. the amount initially recognised,
less accumulated amortisation).

To determine ECLs, the Group considers changes in the risk of default of the specified
debtor since the issuance of the guarantee. A 12-month ECL is measured unless the risk
that the specified debtor will default has increased significantly since the guarantee is
issued, in which case a lifetime ECL is measured. The same definition of default and the
same assessment of significant increase in credit risk as described in note 1()(i) apply.

As the Group is required to make payments only in the event of a default by the specified
debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed, an ECL is
estimated based on the expected payments to reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it
incurs less any amount that the Group expects to receive from the holder of the guarantee,
the specified debtor or any other party. The amount is then discounted using the current
risk-free rate adjusted for risks specific to the cash flows.
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1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
() Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(iii) Impairment of other non-current assets
Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period to identify indications that the following assets may be impaired or, except in the
case of goodwill, an impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased:

— property, plant and equipment;
—  construction in progress;

— intangible assets;

—  right-of-use assets;

—  goodwill; and

— investments in subsidiaries and associates in the Company’s statement of financial
position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. In addition, for
goodwill, intangible assets that are not yet available for use and intangible assets that have
indefinite useful lives, the recoverable amount is estimated annually whether or not there is
any indication of impairment.

—  Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair value less costs to sell
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
Where an asset does not generate cash inflows largely independent of those from
other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the smallest group of assets
that generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit). A portion of
the carrying amount of a corporate asset (for example, head office building) is
allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if the allocation can be done on a
reasonable and consistent basis, or to the smallest group of cash-generating units if
otherwise.
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1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
() Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(iii) Impairment of other non-current assets (continued)
—  Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the carrying amount of an asset,
or the cash-generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit (or
group of units) and then, to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the
unit (or group of units) on a pro rata basis, except that the carrying value of an asset
will not be reduced below its individual fair value less costs of disposal, or value in
use (if determinable).

—  Reversals of impairment losses
In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment loss is reversed if there has
been a favourable change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount. An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years.
Reversals of impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in the year in which the
reversals are recognised.

(iv) Interim financial reporting and impairment
Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited, the Group is required to prepare an interim financial report in compliance with
HKAS 34, Interim financial reporting, in respect of the first six months of the financial year.
At the end of the interim period, the Group applies the same impairment testing,
recognition, and reversal criteria as it would at the end of the financial year (see notes 1(l)(i)
and (ii)).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in respect of goodwill are not reversed in
a subsequent period. This is the case even if no loss, or a smaller loss, would have been
recognised had the impairment been assessed only at the end of the financial year to
which the interim period relates.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(m)

(n)

(o)

Inventories

Inventories are assets which are held for sale in the ordinary course of business, in the process
of production for such sale or in the form of materials or supplies to be consumed in the
production process or in the rendering of services.

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula and comprises all costs of purchase,
costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is recognised as an expense
in the period in which the related revenue is recognised.

The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of inventories
are recognised as an expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any
reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the amount of
inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration. A
right to receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due.

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component are initially measured at
their transaction price. Trade receivables that contain a significant financing component and other
receivables are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. All receivables are
subsequently stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method and including
allowance for credit losses (see note 1(l)(i)).

Insurance reimbursement is recognised and measured in accordance with note 1(u).

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits with banks
and other financial institutions, property pre-sale proceeds held by solicitor that are held for
meeting short-term cash commitments, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, having been within three months of maturity at acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents
are assessed for expected credit losses (ECL) in accordance with the policy set out in note

10)(0).-
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1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(p)

(q)

(r)

(s)

t)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays non-refundable consideration before the
Group recognises the related revenue (see note 1(v)). A contract liability would also be
recognised if the Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding receivable would also be
recognised.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition,
trade and other payables are stated at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at invoice amounts.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. Interest expense is recognised in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy for borrowing costs (see note 1(y)).

Employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions to defined contribution retirement plans
and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated services
are rendered by employees. Where payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in deferred tax assets and
liabilities. Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit
or loss except to the extent that they relate to business combinations, or items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the relevant amounts of tax are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax
payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable temporary differences
respectively, being the differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax
losses and unused tax credits.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(t)

Income tax (continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can
be utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may support the recognition of deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences include those that will arise from the
reversal of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those differences relate to the same
taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in the same
period as the expected reversal of the deductible temporary difference or in periods into which a
tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward. The same criteria are
adopted when determining whether existing taxable temporary differences support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is, those differences are
taken into account if they relate to the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and
are expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities are those temporary
differences arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets
or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part of a
business combination), and temporary differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the
extent that, in the case of taxable differences, the Group controls the timing of the reversal and
it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of
deductible differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on the expected manner of realisation
or settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
is reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the
extent that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements therein, are presented
separately from each other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset against current tax
liabilities, and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the Group or the Company has
the legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the
following additional conditions are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the Group or the Company intends either to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously; or
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(t)

(u)

(v)

Income tax (continued)
— in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority on either:

— the same taxable entity; or

—  different taxable entities, which, in each future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered, intend to
realise the current tax assets and settle the current tax liabilities on a net basis or
realise and settle simultaneously.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group or the Company has a legal or constructive obligation
arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of
money is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to settle
the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount
cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will
only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed
by another party, a separate asset is recognised for any expected reimbursement that would be
virtually certain. The amount recognised for the reimbursement is limited to the carrying amount
of the provision.

Revenue and other income
Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises from the sale of goods and the
provision of services in the ordinary course of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service is transferred to the customer at
the amount of promised consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled, excluding
those amounts collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(v)

Revenue and other income (continued)

Where the contract contains a financing component which provides a significant financing benefit
to the customer for more than 12 months, revenue is measured at the present value of the
amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in a separate
financing transaction with the customer, and interest income is accrued separately under the
effective interest method. Where the contract contains a financing component which provides a
significant financing benefit to the Group, revenue recognised under that contract includes the
interest expense accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest method. The Group
takes advantage of the practical expedient in paragraph 63 of HKFRS 15 and does not adjust
the consideration for any effects of a significant financing component if the period of financing is
12 months or less.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income recognition policies are as follows:

(i) Sale of goods
Revenue is recognised when the customer takes possession of and accepts the goods.

(ii) Dividends
Dividend income from unlisted investments is recognised when the shareholder’s right to
receive payment is established.

(iii) Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method using the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset. For financial assets
measured at amortised cost or FVOCI (recycling) that are not credit-impaired, the effective
interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset. For credit impaired
financial assets, the effective interest rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross
carrying amount net of loss allowance) of the asset (see note 1(|)(i)).

(iv) Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases is recognised in profit or loss in equal
instalments over the periods covered by the lease term, except where an alternative basis
is more representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the use of the leased
asset. Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the
aggregate net lease payments receivable. Variable lease payments that do not depend on
an index or a rate are recognised as income in the accounting period in which they are
earned.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(w) Government grants

(x)

(v)

Government grants are recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position initially
when there is reasonable assurance that they will be received and that the Group will comply
with the conditions attaching to them. Grants that compensate the Group for expenses incurred
are recognised as income in profit or loss on a systematic basis in the same periods in which
the expenses are incurred. Grants that compensate the Group for the cost of an asset are
recognised as deferred income and consequently are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the useful life of the asset.

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting period. Exchange gains
and losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. The
transaction date is the date on which the Company initially recognises such non-monetary assets
or liabilities. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated
at fair value are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was
measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into Renminbi at the exchange rate approximating
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statement of financial position
items are translated into Renminbi at the closing foreign exchange rates at the end of the
reporting period. The resulting exchange differences are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in equity in the exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of the exchange differences relating to
that foreign operation is reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the profit or loss on
disposal is recognised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an
asset which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or
sale are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Where the funds used to finance a project
form part of general borrowings, the amount capitalised is calculated using a weighted average
of rates applicable to relevant general borrowings of the Group during the period. Other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a qualifying asset commences when
expenditure for the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and activities that
are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of
borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are interrupted or complete.
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1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(2)

(aa)

Asset acquisition

Groups of assets acquired and liabilities assumed are assessed to determine if they are business
or asset acquisitions. On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group chooses to apply a
simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and assets is an asset rather than
business acquisition, when substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets acquired is
concentrated in a single identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets.

When a group of assets acquired and liabilities assumed do not constitute a business, the
overall acquisition cost is allocated to the individual identifiable assets and liabilities based on
their relative fair values at the date of acquisition. An exception is when the sum of the individual
fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities differs from the overall acquisition cost. In such
case, any identifiable assets and liabilities that are initially measured at an amount other than
cost in accordance with the Group’s policies are measured accordingly, and the residual
acquisition cost is allocated to the remaining identifiable assets and liabilities based on their
relative fair values at the date of acquisition.
Related parties
(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or the Group’s parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(i)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(aa)

(ab)

Related parties (continued)
(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies: (continued)

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group.

(vij  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vi) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to
influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported in the financial statements,
are identified from the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior
executive management for the purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for financial reporting purposes
unless the segments have similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the
nature of products and services, the nature of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products or provide the services, and the nature
of the regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not individually material may be
aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.
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ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES

Critical accounting judgements

Note 1(b) contains information about judgements made in concluding that there are no material
uncertainties related to events or conditions which, individually or collectively, may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Key sources of estimation uncertainty are as follows:

U]

(i)

Depreciation and amortisation of mining related assets and reserves estimates

As explained in notes 1(i) and 1(j), mining shafts, mining rights and mining development assets
are depreciated and amortised using the units of production method based on the proved and
probable mineral reserves.

Engineering estimates of the Group’s gold reserves are inherently imprecise and represent only
approximate amounts because of the subjective judgements involved in developing such
information. There is a national standard set by the PRC Government regarding the engineering
criteria that have to be met before estimated gold reserves can be designated as “proved and
probable”. Proved and probable gold reserve estimates are updated at regular basis and have
taken into account recent production and technical information about each mine. In addition, as
prices and cost levels change from year to year, the estimate of proved and probable gold
reserves also changes. This change is considered a change in estimate for accounting purposes
and is reflected on a prospective basis in related depreciation rates.

Despite the inherent imprecision in these engineering estimates, these estimates are used in
determining depreciation and amortisation expenses and impairment losses. Depreciation rates
are determined based on estimated proved and probable gold reserve quantity (the denominator)
and capitalised costs of mining shafts and mining rights (the numerator). The capitalised cost of
mining shafts and mining rights are amortised based on the units of gold produced.

Impairments

In considering the impairment losses that may be required for certain of the Group’s assets
which include property, plant and equipment, construction in progress, right-of-use assets,
intangible assets, goodwill, investments in equity securities with no quoted price in an active
market and investments in its subsidiaries, recoverable amount of these assets need to be
determined. The recoverable amount is the greater of its fair value less costs to sell and value in
use. It is difficult to precisely estimate fair value because quoted market prices for these assets
may not be readily available. In determining value in use, expected cash flows generated by
these assets are discounted to their present value, which requires significant judgement relating
to items such as level of sales volume, selling price and the amount of operating costs. The
Group uses all readily available information in determining an amount that is a reasonable
approximation of recoverable amount, including estimates based on reasonable and supportable
assumptions and projections of items such as sales volume, selling price and the amount of
operating costs.
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ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Impairments (continued)

In considering the impairment losses that may be required for trade and other receivables, the
Group uses a provision of matrix to calculate ECLs for trade and other receivables. The provision
matrix is based on management’s estimate of the lifetime expected credit losses to be incurred,
which is estimated by taking into account the ageing of trade and other receivables, the payment
history of the Group’s individual customers, current market conditions and customer-specific
conditions, all of which involve a significant degree of management judgement.

The provision of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and of customer-specific
conditions. The information about the ECLs and trade and other receivables are disclosed in
notes 25 and 35(a). If the financial condition of the customers was to deteriorate, actual loss
allowance would be higher than estimated.

Net realisable value of inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated cost of completion
and the estimated cost necessary to make the sale. In estimating the net realisable value, future
cashflows need to be determined. One of the key estimates that has to be made is about the
future selling price, it is possible that the recent selling price is not indicative of the future selling
price. Any increase or decrease in selling price would affect profit or loss in future years.

Depreciation

Other than the mining shafts, mining rights and mining development assets, property, plant and
equipment and other intangible assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the estimated
useful lives of the assets, after taking into account the estimated residual value. The Group
reviews annually the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any. The useful lives are
based on the Group’s historical experience with similar assets and taking into account
anticipated technological changes. The depreciation expense for future periods is adjusted if
there are significant changes from previous estimation.

Recognition of deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets carried forward are recognised and measured based on the expected manner
of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of the assets, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period. In determining the carrying amounts of
deferred tax assets, expected taxable profits are estimated which involves a number of
assumptions relating to the operating environment of the Group and requires significant level of
judgement exercised by the Directors. Any change in such assumptions and judgement would
affect the carrying amounts of deferred tax assets to be recognised and hence the net profit in
future years.
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REVENUE
The principal activities of the Group are mining, processing, smelting, sales of gold, other metallic
products and jewellery in the PRC.

Revenue represents the sales value of goods sold to customers, net of sales tax and value added tax.

(i)

(ii)

Disaggregation of Revenue
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by major products lines is as follow:

2021
RMB’000
Revenue from contracts with customers within
the scope of HKFRS 15
Disaggregated by major products lines
— Sales of gold 4,977,778
— Sales of other metals 277,133
— Sales of jewellery -
— Others 92,967
Less: Sales taxes and levies (17,267)
5,330,611

All revenue was recognised at a point in time under HKFRS 15.

In 2022, revenue from sales of gold bullion to Shanghai Gold Exchange has exceeded 10% of
the Group’s revenues, amounting to RMB9,565,030,000 (2021: RMB4,913,037,000). The
Shanghai Gold Exchange certified the Group as a standard gold bullion production enterprise and
the Group has Shanghai Gold Exchange trading rights (note 16). The gold bullion was traded on
or through Shanghai Gold Exchange, thus the counterparty is uncertain and unknown. The details
of concentrations of credit risk arising from Shanghai Gold Exchange are set out in note 35(a).

Further details regarding the Group’s principal activities are disclosed in note 36 to these
financial statements.

Revenue expected to be recognised in the future arising from contracts with customers in existence
at the reporting date.

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 to its sales
contracts for other metals such that the Group does not disclose information about revenue that
the Group will be entitled to when it satisfied the remaining performance obligations under the
contracts for sales of other metals that had an original expected duration of one year or less.
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4 OTHER REVENUE

Interest income on financial assets measured at
amortised cost

Government grants

Scrap sales

Sundry income

2021
RMB’000

23,132
15,221
13,317

2,126

53,796

5 OTHER NET LOSS

Net realised and unrealised loss/(gain) on other financial
instruments at fair value
Net loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets
Net foreign exchange (gain)/loss
Impairment losses of:
— property, plant and equipment (note 14)
— intangible assets (note 16)
— right-of-use assets (note 18)
— investment deposits
Expenditure on government claims of a subsidiary
Provision for legal claims
Others

2021
RMB’000

(13,955)

1,004
22,088

9,986

10,241

15,338
(3,490)

41,212
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6 STAFF COSTS

2021
RMB’000

Salaries, wages and other benefits
Contributions to defined contribution retirement plan

251,740
29,409

281,149

Less: Staff costs capitalised into construction in progress (1,520)

279,629

Pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations in the PRC, the Group participates in defined
contribution retirement benefit schemes (the “Schemes”) organised by the relevant local government
authorities whereby the Group is required to make contributions to the Schemes at the rate of 16%
(2021: 16%) of the eligible employees’ salaries. The local government authorities are responsible for
the entire pension obligations payable to retired employees in the PRC.

The Group has no other material obligation for the payment of pension benefits associated with those
schemes beyond the annual contributions described above.

7 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

2021
RMB’000

(a) Finance costs
Interest expenses on bank loans (note 27(b)) 31,396
Interest expenses on lease liabilities (note 27(b)) 339
Other borrowing costs (note 27(b)) 106,813

138,548
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7 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (continued)

2021
RMB’000
(b) Other items:

Depreciation of right-of-use assets” (note 18) 5,566
Amortisation of intangible assets” (note 16) 23,276

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment?
(note 14) 199,017

Less: Depreciation capitalised
construction in progress (192)
198,825
Provision/(reversal) of impairment losses on:

— property, plant and equipment (note 74) 9,986
— intangible assets (hote 16) -
— right-of-use assets (note 18) -
— purchase deposits (note 25(c)) (50)
— other receivables (note 25(b)) 4,739
— other non-current assets -
— prepayments (1,000)
— investment deposits 10,241
Auditors’ remuneration-audit services 6,448
Research and development expenses 16,010
Environmental rehabilitation fees 8,890
Cost of inventories* (note 24(b)) 4,742,801

# Cost of inventories includes RMB489,602,000 (2021: RMB324,145,000) relating to staff costs, depreciation and
amortisation expenses, which amount is also included in the respective total amounts disclosed separately in note 6
and above for each of these types of expenses.
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INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

(a)

(b)

Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss represents:

Current tax — PRC income tax

Provision for the year
Qver-provision in respect of prior years

Deferred tax

Origination and reversal of temporary differences

2021
RMB’000

43,296
(205)

43,091

12,137

55,228

Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting profit at applicable tax rates:

Profit before taxation

Notional tax on profit before taxation,
calculated at the rates applicable to the
jurisdictions concerned

Effect of tax concessions

Effect of non-deductible expenses

Effect of non-taxable income

Effect of tax assessment and levying

Utilisation of temporary differences not
recognised in previous years

Tax losses and temporary differences not
recognised

Over-provision in prior years

Others

Actual tax expense

(i)iniii)

2021

Note RMB’000

172,867

55,383
(12,426)
8,325
(8,342)
1,739

(7,671)

(iv) 19,124
(205)

(699)

55,228
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INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(continued)

(b)

Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting profit at applicable tax rates: (continued)

Notes:

(i)

)

(ii)

(v)

Under the Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC (the “CIT Law”), which was passed by the Fifth Plenary
Session of the Tenth National People’s Congress, effective from 1 January 2008, the Company and its PRC
subsidiaries are subject to income tax at the statutory rate of 25%, unless otherwise specified.

One of the subsidiaries, Habahe Huatai Gold Company Limited (“Huatai”) was accredited as a “High and New
Technology Enterprise” in December 2020 with 3-year validity period. Huatai was entitled to a preferential
income tax rate of 15% since 1 January 2021.

Hong Kong Profits Tax rate for 2022 is 16.5% (2021: 16.5%). No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is made
as the subsidiary located in Hong Kong did not earn any income which is subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax.

Kyrgyzstan corporate income tax rate (“KR CIT”) in 2022 is 0% (2021: 0%).

On 9 August 2012, the Parliament of Kyrgyz Republic passed the law on amendments and additions to the
Tax Code of the Kyrgyz Republic (“Amended Tax Code”) which became effective from 1 January 2013. In
accordance with the Amended Tax Code, starting from 1 January 2013 the KR CIT rate for gold mining
companies is set at 0% and a revenue-based tax is introduced. Such revenue-based tax is recognised in
“sales taxes and levies”.

Considering the uncertainty of the future available taxable profits against which certain tax benefits can be
utilised in the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity, the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets of
RMB37,632,000 (2021: RMB19,124,000) in respect of unused tax losses of RMB52,788,000 (2021:
RMB66,588,000) and temporary differences of RMB97,740,000 (2021: RMB9,908,000) for the year ended 31
December 2022.
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DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as

follows:

Year ended 31 December 2022

Executive directors

Mr. Chen Jianzheng (re-designated from
supervisors in October 2022)

Mr. Zeng Xiangxin (resigned in October 2022)

Mr. He Chengqun

Mr. Xing Jiangze

Mr. Dai Weitao

Mr. Wu Liming

Non-executive directors

Mr. Wang Guanran
Mr. Zhang Feihu

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Wang Jiheng
Mr. Wang Guanghua
Mr. Xu Rong

Mr. Tan Chong Huat

Supervisors

Mr. Liu Haotian

Mr. Guo Xurang

Mr. Zhao Bingbing

Mr. Yang Shilei

Mr. Chen Jianzheng (re-designated to
executive directors in October 2022)

Total
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9 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2021

Basic
salaries, Contributions
allowances to retirement

and other benefit
Fees benefits schemes Bonus Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Executive directors
Mr. Chen Jianzheng (re-designated to
supervisors in May 2021) — 316 12 — 328
Mr. Zeng Xiangxin — 796 29 - 825
Mr. Xing Jiangze — 751 29 — 780
Ms. Zhou Xing (resigned in May 2021) — - - - —
Mr. Dai Weitao (appointed in May 2021) — 548 22 - 570
Mr. Wu Liming (appointed in May 2021) — 701 29 - 730
Mr. He Chengqun (appointed in May 2021) — 721 29 - 750
Non-executive directors
Mr. Wang Leo (resigned in May 2021) 42 - - - 42
Mr. Shi Yuchen (resigned in May 2021) 42 - - - 42
Mr. Wang Guanran (appointed in May 2021) 58 — — — 58
Mr. Zhang Feihu — - - - —
Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Han Qinchun (resigned in May 2021) 50 = = = 50
Mr. Wang Jiheng 100 — — — 100
Mr. Wang Guanghua 100 - - - 100
Mr. Xu Rong 100 - - — 100
Mr. Tan Chong Huat (appointed in May 2021) 58 T - — 58
Supervisors
Mr. Dai Weitao (resigned in March 2021) — 171 7 - 178
Mr. Guo Xurang - 36 - — 36
Mr. Zhao Bingbing — 36 - - 36
Mr. Yang Shilei = 95 29 = 124
Mr. Liu Haotian (appointed in May 2021) — - - - —
Mr. Chen Jianzheng (re-designated from
executive directors in May 2021) — 442 17 — 459

Total 550 4,613 203 - 5,366
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INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, five (2021: five) are directors and supervisors of the
Company whose emoluments are disclosed in note 9.

DIVIDENDS

(a)

(b)

Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company attributable to the year
No dividend attributable to the year was declared in 2022 or proposed after the end of the
reporting period (2021: Nil).

Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company attributable to the
previous financial year, approved and paid during the year
No dividend attribute to the previous financial year was approved or paid in 2022 (2021: Nil).

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

The component of other comprehensive income does not have any significant tax effect for each of the
years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a)

(b)

Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the earnings attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company of RMB240,222,000 (2021: RMB130,026,000) and 864,249,091
ordinary shares (2021: 864,249,091 ordinary shares) in issue during the year ended
31 December 2022.

Diluted earnings per share
The diluted earnings per share for the current and the prior year is the same as the basic
earnings per share as there are no dilutive ordinary shares during the years.
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14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Office and
Mining Transportation electronic
Buildings shafts Machinery equipment equipment Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Cost:
At 1 January 2021 1,253,615 1,382,144 883,476 79,853 80,161 3,679,249
Exchange adjustments (7,937) (5,326) (8,357) (732) (24) (17,376)
Additions 16,416 27,323 37,729 8,518 2,815 87,796
Transfer from construction in
progress (note 15) 73,210 334,789 103,142 2,841 4,313 518,295
Disposals (2,413) (348) (5,130) (1,247) (344) (9,482)
At 31 December 2021 1,332,891 1,738,582 1,015,860 84,228 86,921 4,258,482
Depreciation and impairment:
At 1 January 2021 577,641 887,012 721,830 58,671 70,268 2,315,422
Exchange adjustments (5,135) (4,842) (2,678) (677) (13) (13,345)
Charge for the year 63,486 88,552 40,720 3,538 2,721 199,017
Impairment loss — 9,986 =+ - - 9,986
Written back on disposals (869) (831) (4,920) (1,104) (73) (7,297)
At 31 December 2021 635,123 980,377 754,952 60,428 72,908 2,503,783

Net book value:

At 31 December 2021 697,768 758,205 260,908 23,800 14,018 1,754,699
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14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Cost:

At 1 January 2022

Exchange adjustments

Additions

Transfer from construction in
progress (note 15)

Disposals

At 31 December 2022

Depreciation and impairment:
At 1 January 2022

Exchange adjustments

Charge for the year

Impairment loss (note (a))
Written back on disposals

At 31 December 2022

Net book value:

At 31 December 2022

Note:

(a) Impairment loss
Impairment loss of RMB48,160,000 was recognised in respect of a cash-generating unit (“‘CGU”), Chifeng Jinchan
Mining Company Limited (“Jinchan”), which is under the mining — PRC reportable segment, during the year ended
31 December 2022. Owing to the under-performance of production and operation of Jinchan, the Group identified
an impairment indicator of its property, plant and equipment, and performed an impairment assessment of the
related assets based on their estimated recoverable amounts.

The recoverable amounts of this CGU are estimated using the present value of future cash flows based on the
financial budgets approved by management covering a ten-year period, and pre-tax discount rates of 16%. Future
cash flows during the forecast period for the CGU are based on several key assumptions, including the expected
gross margin, expected production volume and future gold price. The forecasted gross margin of 35% and
production volume are based on past business performance. The future gold price is consistent with the market
participants’ expectations for market development.

As a result of the assessment, the Group recognised an impairment loss of RMB48,160,000 on the property, plant
and equipment to reduce the carrying amount of this CGU to its recoverable amount of RMB202,208,000. The
impairment loss was recorded in “other net loss” (see note 5) in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the
year ended 31 December 2022.
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15 CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS

2021
RMB’000
At 1 January 570,953
Exchange adjustments (394)
Additions 370,369
Transfer to property, plant and equipment (note 74) (518,295)
Transfer to intangible assets —
At 31 December 422,633
16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Exploration
Shanghai and
Gold evaluation Mining Mining Exploration
Exchange assets  development rights rights
trading rights (note (a)) assets (note (b)) (note (c)) Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Cost:
At 1 January 2021 820 468,760 116,095 378,257 190,964 1,154,896
Exchange adjustments = (224) (660) (2,707) = (3,591)
Additions - 9,129 - 435,010 - 444,139
At 31 December 2021 820 477,665 115,435 810,560 190,964 1,595,444
Amortisation and impairment:
At 1 January 2021 — 36,196 26,343 231,661 190,964 485,164
Exchange adjustments = - (4) (1,427) - (1,431)
Charge for the year = = 6,123 17,153 = 23,276
At 31 December 2021 = 36,196 32,462 247,387 190,964 507,009
Net book value:
At 31 December 2021 820 441,469 82,973 563,173 = 1,088,435
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16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Cost:

At 1 January 2022

Exchange adjustments

Additions

Transfer from construction in
progress

Transfer to others

Reclassification

At 31 December 2022

Amortisation and impairment:
At 1 January 2022
Exchange adjustments

Charge for the year
Impairment loss (note (d)

At 31 December 2022

Net book value:

At 31 December 2022

Notes:

(@) Included in the Group’s exploration and evaluation assets are assets related to mines, which are under the exploration
and evaluation stage as at 31 December 2022, with a carrying value of RMB413,971,000 (31 December 2021:
RMB441,469,000). These assets are not subject to amortisation until they are placed in use.
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16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b) The Group’s mining rights as at 31 December 2022 are as follows:

Mine Location Expiry date
Lingjin One Mine Lingbao, Henan May 2045
Lingjin Two Mine Lingbao, Henan April 2023
Lingjin Three Mine Lingbao, Henan March 2023

Hongxin Gold Mine

Hongtuling Gold Mine

Duolanasayi Gold Mine

Tuokuzibayi Gold Mine

Chifeng Jinchan Mining Company Limited Gold Mine
Laowan Gold Mine

Istanbul Gold Mine

Istanbul Gold Mine

Istanbul Gold Western Mine

Istanbul Gold Eastern Mine

Lingbao, Henan
Lingbao, Henan
Habahe, Xinjiang
Habahe, Xinjiang
Chifeng, Inner Mongolia
Nanyang, Henan

KR

KR

KR

KR

November 2023
February 2028
October 2026
February 2028
January 2023
July 2040

July 2024

July 2032
February 2026
December 2032

(i) The amortisation charge for the year is included in “cost of sales” in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss of the Group.

(c) The exploration rights are amortised to exploration and evaluation assets on a straight-line basis over the estimated
useful lives of one to three years.

(d) During the year ended 31 December 2022, impairment loss of RMB21,215,000 was recognised in respect of a mining
subsidiary due to no further exploration plan. The Group identified an impairment indicator of its exploration and
evaluation assets and concluded that the recoverable amount is low. Therefore, the Group fully impaired this
subsidiary’s exploration and evaluation assets amounting to RMB21,215,000 during the year ended 31 December
2022.
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17 GOODWILL

RMB’000
Cost:
At 31 December 2021, 1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 38,775
Accumulated impairment losses:
At 31 December 2021, 1 January 2022
and 31 December 2022 (34,058)
Carrying amount:
At 31 December 2021 and 2022 4,717
Impairment tests for CGUs containing goodwill
Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s CGUs identified as follows:
2021
RMB’000
Huatai 2,262
Tongbai Xingyuan Mining Company Limited
(“Tongbai Xingyuan”) 2,455
Total 4,717

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined based on value-in-use calculations with certain
key assumptions. Value-in-use calculations use cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by management covering a five-year period, and pre-tax discount rates of 16%. Cash flow
projections during the forecast period for the CGUs are based on several key assumptions, including
the expected gross margin, expected production volume, and future gold price. The forecasted gross
margin 25%-38% and production volume during the forecast period have been determined based on
past business performance. The future gold price is consistent with the market participants’
expectations for market development.

The Group’s management determined that no impairment provision was required based on the
impairment assessment performed as at 31 December 2022 (31 December 2021: Nil).
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18 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Other
properties
Land leased
use rights for own use Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Cost:
At 1 January 2021 127,745 12,268 140,013
Addition 673 - 673
Disposals — (8,047) (8,047)
At 31 December 2021 128,418 4,221 132,639
Depreciation:
At 1 January 2021 8,657 2,845 11,502
Charge for the year 4,709 857 5,566
Written back on disposals - (2,934) (2,934)
At 31 December 2021 18,366 768 14,134

Net book value:

At 31 December 2021 115,052 3,453 118,505
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18 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

Cost:

At 1 January 2022
Addition

At 31 December 2022

Depreciation:

At 1 January 2022
Charge for the year

At 31 December 2022

Impairment:

At 1 January 2022
Charge for the year

At 31 December 2022

Net book value:

At 31 December 2022

Note:

(a) A subsidiary, which is under the mining — PRC reportable segment, was requested by the government to return its
land use rights. The Group’s management concluded that the possibility of extending the land use rights is low. As
a result, impairment loss of RMB17,520,000 was recognised in respect of the land use rights during the year ended
31 December 2022.
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19 INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
Details of the subsidiaries at 31 December 2022 are as follows:

Xinjiang Baoxin Mining Limited liability ~ The PRC 80 20 RMB10,000/ Sales of mineral products
Company Limited company RMB10,000
Hongxin Limited liability ~ The PRC 80 - RMB3,000/  Exploration and
company RMB3,000 processing of gold;
sales of mineral
products
Jiangxi Mingxin Mining Limited liability The PRC 80 - RMBS5,000/  Geological exploration of
Company Limited company RMB5,000 mineral reserves
Huatai Limited liability The PRC 98.4 1.6 RMB100,000/  Mining, processing and
company RMB100,000 smelting of gold,

production of gold
products, sales of gold
bullion products,
machinery, equipment
and components for
gold processing

Tongbai Xingyuan Limited liability The PRC 100 — RMB17,000/ Geological exploration of
company RMB17,000 mineral reserves

Chi Feng City Zheng Ji Limited liability The PRC 80 — RMB15,131/  Geological exploration of

Mining Company Limited company RMB15,131 mineral reserves, sales

of mineral products

Lingbao Gold International  Limited liability Hong Kong 100 —  HKD61,775/  Investment holding
Company Limited company HKD61,775
(“Lingbao Gold
International”)

Jinchan Limited liability The PRC 100 — RMB20,000/ Mining and exploration of

company RMB20,000 mineral reserves

Chifeng Lingjin Mining Limited liability The PRC 80 — RMB40,000/ Sales of mineral products
Company Limited company RMB40,000

Full Gold Mining Limited Limited liability Kyrgyz Republic 82 — SOM33,330/ Mining and exploration of
Liability Company (“Full company SOM33,330 mineral reserves
Gold”)

Lingbao Jinda Mineral Limited liability ~ The PRC - 100 Nil/ Sale of mineral products
Products Trading company RMB10,000

Company Limited

Lingbao City Lingdong Limited liability The PRC 100 = RMBB8,000/  Sale of mineral products,
Mineral Products company RMB8,000 mine engineering
Company Limited construction

Lingbao Lingjin Jewelry Limited liability The PRC 100 — RMB10,000/ Sale of jewellery

Company Limited company RMB50,000
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19 INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Tianshui Hongwu Mining Limited liability The PRC 74 (note (a)) - RMB1,000/  Mining and exploration of
Development Company company RMB1,000 mineral reserves
Limited (“Tianshui
Hongwu”)

Lanzhou Lingjin Mining Limited liability ~ The PRC 100 - RMB1,000/  Sale of mineral products
Company Limited company RMB1,000 and mining machinery

Beijing Fushengda Limited liability The PRC 100 — RMB10,000/ Investment holding
Investment Company company RMB10,000
Limited

Ha Mi Jiachang Mining Limited liability The PRC - 100  RMB20,000/ Mining and exploration of
Investment and company RMB20,000 mineral reserves
Development Company
Limited

Lingbao Gold Yili Limited liability The PRC 100 — RMB25,000/ Processing and smelting
Metallurgical Company company RMB25,000 of gold, further
Limited processing and sales of

gold products

Habahe Huayuan Mining Limited liability The PRC - 60 RMB5,000/  Mining and exploration of
Company Limited company RMB5,000 mineral reserves

Lingbao Lingjin Technology  Limited liability The PRC 100 - RMB1,000/  Development of mining
Company Limited company RMB1,000 and exploration of

mineral reserves
technology; design of
mineral engineering

Lingbao Lingxin Gold Limited liability The PRC 100 - Nil/ Processing and smelting
Metallurgical Company company RMB550,000 of gold, further
Limited processing and sales of

gold products

Tianshui Dongshanhong Limited liability The PRC - 74 RMB1,000/  Geological exploration of
Mining Development company RMB1,000 mineral reserves
Company Limited

Shenzhen Jinda Gold Limited liability The PRC 100 — RMB200,000/ Sales of mineral products
Company Limited company RMB200,000
(“Shenzhen Jinda”)

Lingbao Jinda Gold Limited liability The PRC = 100 RMB10,000/ Sales of mineral products
Company Limited company RMB10,000

Hainan Jinda Jewelry Limited liability The PRC = 100 Nil/  Sales of jewelry; import
Company Limited company RMB10,000 and export of gold

products
Note:

(@) Tianshui Hongwu was acquired by the Group in November 2007. Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement, the
Group is entitled to an amount of initial profit which is equivalent to the Group’s investment cost in Tianshui
Hongwu. Profit generated thereafter is shared between the Group and the non-controlling interests on a 74%: 26%
basis.
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19 INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

The following table lists out the information relating to Full Gold, a subsidiary of the Group which have
material non-controlling interests (“NCI”). The summarised financial information presented below

represents the amounts before any inter-company elimination.

Full Gold

2021

RMB’000

NCI percentage 18%
Current assets 257,978
Non-current assets 287,060
Current liabilities (1,210,657)
Non-current liabilities (231,718)
Net liabilities (897,337)
Carrying amount of NCI (149,966)
Revenue 60,767
Loss for the year (47,519)
Loss attributable to NCI (8,553)
Total comprehensive income (27,080)
Total comprehensive income attributable to NCI (4,874)
Cash flows generated from operating activities 72,065
Cash flows used in investing activities (50,675)
Cash flows used in financing activities (20,236)

20 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

31 December

2021
RMB’000
Financial assets measured at FVPL
— Unlisted, at fair value
— Henan Jinqu Gold Co., Ltd. (note (a)) 4,500
— Others 20
4,520

Note:

(a) It represents the Group’s 5% equity interests in a PRC domiciled enterprise which is mainly engaged in geological
exploration, mining, processing, sales of gold, as well as research, development, production and sale of artificial
industrial diamonds.
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21 INVESTMENT DEPOSITS

2021
RMB’000

Investment deposits
— Beijing Jiuyi 76,594
— Henan Asset Management 94,000
Less: Impairment losses (170,594)

The investment deposits were paid to two independent third party, Beijing Jiuyi Investment Company
Limited (“Beijing Jiuyi”) and Henan Assets Management Company (“‘Henan Assets Management”), in

relation to proposed acquisition of certain mining assets in previous years, which were determined not
to be recoverable.

22 NON-CURRENT PREPAYMENTS

2021
RMB’000

Prepayments for purchase of property, plant and equipment
and construction of mining shafts 14,294
Prepayments for taxes 170,305
184,599
Less: Loss allowance (170,305)

14,294
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23 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(a) Current taxation in the consolidated statement of financial position represents:

2021
RMB’000
At the beginning of the year 52,685
Provision for PRC income tax (note 8) 43,091
PRC income tax paid (21,105)
At the end of the year 74,671
Representing:
PRC income tax
— Payable 74,671
At the end of the year 74,671

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised:

(i) The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position and the movements during the year are as follows:

Depreciation Other
of property, Amortisation  Allowance accruals Share of
plant and  of intangible for bad and  Financial  profits of
equipment assets debt i bles i i Tax losses Total

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

Deferred tax arising from:
At 1 January 2021 7,868 6,936 261,915 7441 39,856 1,559 - 2,673 328,248
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss (2,679) (2,330) (8,610) 7,015 (3,842) 202 (1,522) (371) (12,137)

At 31 December 2021

Credited/(charged) to profit or loss

At 31 December 2022
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23 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: (continued)

(ii) Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of financial position

2021
RMB’000
Net deferred tax asset recognised on the
consolidated statement of financial position 323,612
Net deferred tax liability recognised on the
consolidated statement of financial position (7,501)
316,111

(c) Deferred tax assets not recognised
The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of cumulative unused tax losses of
RMB115,622,000 (2021: RMB156,026,000) as it is not probable that future taxable profits against
which the losses can be utilised will be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity. Tax
losses of RMB39,158,000, RMB48,730,000, RMB6,266,000, RMB12,644,000 and RMB8,824,000
if unused, will expire in 2023, 2024, 2025, 2026 and 2027, respectively.

24 INVENTORIES

(a) Inventories in the consolidated statement of financial position comprise:

2021

RMB’000

Raw materials 828,402
Work in progress 156,733
Finished goods 422,472
Spare parts and materials 111,248

1,518,855
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24 INVENTORIES (continued)

(b)  The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an expense and included in profit and
loss is as follows:

2021
RMB’000
Carrying amount of inventories sold 4,719,321
Write-down of inventories 23,480
Reversal of write-down of inventories —
4,742,801

25 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS
2021
RMB’000
Trade receivables, net of loss allowance 11,819
Bills receivable 12,669
24,488
Other receivables, net of loss allowance (note (b)) 65,949
Amounts due from related parties 231
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 485
66,665
Financial assets measured at amortised cost 91,153
Deposits and prepayments 49,099
Purchase deposits (note (c)) 794,765
Less: Allowance for non-recoverability (741,512)
53,253

Amount due from Beijing Jiuyi (note (d))

193,505
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25 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS
(continued)
All of the trade and other receivables, deposits and prepayments are expected to be recovered within
one year.

Transfers of financial assets

(i) Transferred financial assets that are not derecognised in their entirety
As at 31 December 2022, the Group endorsed certain bank acceptance bills with a carrying
amount of RMB3,953,000 (31 December 2021: RMB9,283,000) to suppliers for settling trade
payables of the same amount on a full recourse basis. As the Group has not transferred the
substantial risks and rewards relating to these bank acceptance bills, the Group’s management
determined not to derecognise the carrying amounts of these bills receivable and the associated
trade payables settled.

(ii) Transferred financial assets that are derecognised in their entirety

As at 31 December 2022, the Group discounted certain bank acceptance bills to banks for cash
proceeds and endorsed certain bank acceptance bills to suppliers for settling trade payables of
the same amount on a full recourse basis. The Group has derecognised these bills receivable
and the payables to suppliers in their entirety. These derecognised bank acceptance bills had a
maturity date less than twelve months from the end of the reporting period. The Group’s
management determined that the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of these bills to its suppliers, and the Group has limited exposure in respect of the
settlement obligation of these bills receivable under the relevant PRC rules and regulations
should the issuing banks fail to settle the bills on maturity date. The Group considered the
issuing banks of the bills are of good credit rating and the non-settlement of these bills by the
issuing banks on maturity is not probable.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s maximum exposure to loss and undiscounted cash
outflow, which is same as the amount payable by the Group to banks or suppliers in respect of
the discounted bills and endorsed bills, should the issuing banks fail to settle the bills on
maturity date, amounted to RMB Nil (31 December 2021: RMB19,000,000) and RMB712,000
(81 December 2021: RMB14,050,000), respectively.

(a)  Ageing analysis
As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade debtors and bills
receivable (which are included in trade and other receivables), based on the invoice date
and net of loss allowance, is as follows.

2021

RMB’000

Within three months 17,228
Over three months but less than six months 6,460
Over six months but less than one year 800

At 31 December 24,488
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25 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS
(continued)

Transfers of financial assets (continued)

(ii)

Transferred financial assets that are derecognised in their entirety (continued)

@

®)

Ageing analysis (continued)

The majority of gold bullion was traded on or through Shanghai Gold Exchange, of which
receivables will be collected within 1-2 days upon the completion of clearing by Shanghai
Gold Exchange. For sales of gold jewellery, the Group requests customers to pay cash in
full immediately upon the delivery. For sales of other metallic products, trade and bills
receivables are due within one month to one year from the date of billing. Further details
on the Group’s credit policy are set out in note 35(a).

Other receivables, net of loss allowance
The allowance for expected credit losses of other receivables as at 31 December is as
follows:

2021

RMB’000

Other receivables 83,567
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses (17,618)
65,949

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recognised the loss allowance for
expected credit losses of other receivables of RMB7,535,000 (31 December 2021:
RMB4,739,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group wrote off the gross carrying amount
of other receivables amounting to RMB6,352,000 (31 December 2021: RMB25,691,000) and
the corresponding allowance for expected credit losses of RMB6,352,000 (31 December
2021: RMB25,691,000).

In measuring expected credit losses, the Group takes into account reasonable and
supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort, which includes
information about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions.
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25 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS
(continued)

Transfers of financial assets (continued)

(ii) Transferred financial assets that are derecognised in their entirety (continued)

(¢)  Purchase deposits

Purchase deposits represent the amounts paid by the Group in advance to suppliers to

secure timely and stable supply of mineral sand for the purposes of refining in future
periods.

Impairment loss in respect of purchase deposits is recorded in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in note 1(I)(i).

The movement in the allowance for non-recoverability of purchase deposits during the year
is as follows:

2021

RMB’000

At 1 January 786,205
Impairment loss recognised/(reversed) (50)
Write-off of impairment loss (44,643)
At 31 December 741,512

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recognised the loss allowance for
expected credit losses of purchase deposits of RMB9,106,000.

The management considered that appropriate procedures have been taken by the Group to
assess the capabilities of the suppliers to supply mineral sand and expect that the
remaining purchase deposits of RMB68,116,000 as at 31 December 2022 would be
gradually recovered through future purchases of mineral sand from the respective suppliers.

(d)  Amount due from Beijing Jiuyi

2021

RMB’000

Amount due from Beijing Jiuyi 30,800
Less: Impairment losses (80,800)

The balance due from Beijing Jiuyi was relating to a compensation payment for a proposed
acquisition in previous years, which was determined not to be recoverable.
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26 PLEDGED DEPOSITS

27

Pledged deposits can be analysed as follows:

2021

RMB’000

Guarantee deposits for bank and other borrowings 1,295,700
Guarantee deposits for issuance of letter of credit 32,190
Guarantee deposits for issuance of bank acceptance bills 25,000
Guarantee deposits for environment governance 7,098
Others 3,373
1,363,361

At 31 December 2022, guarantee deposits of RMB1,398,000,000 (31 December 2021:
RMB1,352,890,000) have been pledged with various banks to obtain bank and other borrowings, to
issue letter of credit and bank acceptance bills. The pledge in respect of the bank deposits will be
released with the expiration of the relevant bank and other borrowings, letter of credit and bank
acceptance bills. All of these deposits are to be collected within one year.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION

(@) Cash and cash equivalents

2021
RMB’000

Cash at bank and on hand

160,145
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27 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(continued)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

At 1 January 2022

Changes from financing cash flows:

Proceeds from bank and other borrowings
Repayment of bank and other borrowings
Proceeds from loans from shareholders
Repayment of a loan from shareholders
Pledged deposits placed for borrowings
Interest paid for bank and other borrowings
Payment for gold future

Capital element of lease rentals paid
Interest element of lease rentals paid

Total changes from financing cash flows
Exchange adjustments

Other changes:

Reclassification

Increase in lease liabilities from entering
into new leases during the year

Interest expenses (note 7(a))

At 31 December 2022
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27 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(continued)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities (continued)

Guarantee
deposits for Financial
Bank and bank and liabilities at fair
other other Interest value through Lease Loan from
borrowings  borrowings payable profit or loss liabilites  shareholders Total

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(note 28) (note 26) (note 29) (note 29) (note 31) (note 32)

At 1 January 2021 3,760,616 (1,319,857) 1,084 233 9,524 - 2,451,599

Changes from financing cash flows:

Proceeds from bank and other borrowings 4,261,048 = = = = = 4,261,048
Repayment of bank and other borrowings (4,470,366) = = = = - (4,470,366)
Proceeds from loans from shareholders - - - - - 90,000 90,000
Repayment of a loan from shareholders = = = = = (50,000) (50,000)
Pledged deposits collected for borrowings - 24,157 - - - - 24,157
Interest paid for bank and other borrowings = = (139,003) = = = (139,003
Payment for interest swap settlement - - - (439) - — (439)
Capital element of lease rentals paid - - - - (3,201) - (3,201)
Interest element of lease rentals paid - - - - (339) - (339)
Total changes from financing cash flows (209,318) 24,157 (139,003) (439) (3,540) 40,000 (288,143)
Exchange adjustments (8,421) - 849 - - - (7,572)

Other changes:

Reclassification = = = 1,499 = = 1,499
Increase in lease liabilities from entering into

new leases during the year = - - - (2,686) - (2,686)
Interest expenses (note 7(a)) — = 138,209 o 339 = 138,548

At 31 December 2021 3,542,876 (1,295,700) 1,139 1,293 3,637 40,000 2,293,245
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27 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(continued)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases
Amounts included in the cash flow statement for leases comprise the following:

2021
RMB’000
Within operating cash flows 4,442
Within financing cash flows 3,540
7,982
All these amounts are related to lease rentals paid.
28 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
The analysis of the carrying amount of bank and other borrowings is as follows:
At
31 December
2021
RMB’000
Short-term bank and other borrowings:

— Bank and other borrowings 3,507,810

— Add: Current portion of long-term bank and
other borrowings 35,066
3,542,876

Long-term bank and other borrowings:

— Bank and other borrowings 35,066

— Less: Current portion of long-term bank and
other borrowings (35,066)

3,642,876
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28 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)

At 31 December 2022, the bank and other borrowings were repayable as follows:

2021
RMB’000
Within one year or on demand 3,542,876
Over one year but within two years -
3,542,876
At 31 December 2022, the bank and other borrowings were secured as follows:

2021
RMB’000

Bank and other borrowings
— Secured 1,857,429
— Guaranteed 891,791
— Unsecured 793,656
3,542,876

At 31 December 2022, bank loans of a subsidiary, named Shenzhen Jinda, amounting to
RMB40,000,000 were secured by its building with carrying amount of RMB63,841,000 and guaranteed
by the Company (see note 34(b)).

At 31 December 2022, bank and other borrowings of the Group amounting to RMB685,390,000 were
secured by pledged deposits with the carrying amount of RMB552,560,000.

At 31 December 2022, bank and other borrowings of the Group amounting to RMB980,000,000 were
secured by pledged deposits with the carrying amount of RMB820,000,000 and guaranteed by the
D&R Asset Management Group Company Limited (“D&R Investment”) with maximum guarantees of
RMB160,000,000 (see note 37(d)).

At 31 December 2022, bank and other borrowings of the Group amounting to RMB666,358,000 were
guaranteed by D&R Investment with maximum guarantees of RMB785,000,000 (see note 37(d)).

At 31 December 2022, bank loans of a subsidiary, named Full Gold, amounting to USD2,800,000
(RMB equivalent 19,501,000) were guaranteed by the Company (see note 34(b)).

At 31 December 2022, bank loans of the Company amounting to RMB140,000,000 were guaranteed
by a subsidiary named Huatai with maximum guarantees of RMB140,000,000 (see note 34(b)) and D&R
Investment with maximum guarantees of RMB140,000,000 (see note 37(d)), respectively.
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28 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)

Certain of the Group’s bank loan agreements were subject to the fulfilment of covenants imposing
certain specific performance requirements on the Group. If the Group were to breach the covenants,
bank loans drawn down would become payable on demand. As at 31 December 2022, certain
covenant of the bank loan agreement from a bank was breached by a subsidiary of the Company
named Full Gold. For the bank loan drawn down by Full Gold, no waiver letter had been obtained as
at 31 December 2022. As a result, the balance of bank loan amounting to USD2,800,000 (RMB
equivalent 19,501,000) was recorded in the current portion of long-term bank and other borrowings as
at 31 December 2022.

At 31 December 2021, bank loans of a subsidiary, named Shenzhen Jinda, amounting to
RMB40,000,000 were secured by its building with carrying amount of RMB65,775,000, and guaranteed
by the Company (see note 34(b)).

At 31 December 2021, bank and other borrowings of the Group amounting to RMB1,432,581,000
were secured by pledged deposits with the carrying amount of RMB1,154,200,000.

At 31 December 2021, bank and other borrowings of the Group amounting to RMB270,000,000 were
secured by pledged deposits with the carrying amount of RMB135,000,000 and guaranteed by the
D&R Investment with maximum guarantees of RMB195,000,000 (see note 37(d)).

At 31 December 2021, bank and other borrowings of the Group amounting to RMB114,848,000 were
secured by pledged deposits of RMB6,500,000 and certain inventories.

At 31 December 2021, bank and other borrowings of the Group amounting to RMB716,725,000 were
guaranteed by D&R Investment with maximum guarantees of RMB850,000,000 (see note 37(d)).

At 31 December 2021, bank loans of a subsidiary, named Full Gold, amounting to USD5,500,000
(RMB equivalent 35,066,000) were guaranteed by the Company (see note 34(b)).

At 31 December 2021, bank loans of the Company amounting to RMB140,000,000 were guaranteed
by a subsidiary named Huatai with maximum guarantees of RMB140,000,000 (see note 34(b)) and D&R
Investment with maximum guarantees of RMB90,000,000 (see note 37(d)), respectively.
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29 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

31 December

2021
RMB’000

Current trade and other payables
Bills payable 74,000
Trade payables 326,214
Other payables and accruals 468,684
Interest payables (note 27(b)) 1,139
Payable for mining rights 111,934
Deferred income (note (a)) 79,779
Payable to non-controlling interests 52
Amount due to related parties (note 37) 4,167
Dividend payable 4,758
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 1,293
1,072,020

Non-current other payables

Payable for long-term assets (note (b)) 311,032
Deferred income (note (a)) 59,364
Decommissioning costs (note (c)) 114,559
484,955

Notes:

(@) Deferred income represents grants received from the government for the exploration of mines and construction of
mining related assets. When certain conditions are met, the government grants are recognised as income over the
periods necessarily to match them with the related costs of assets constructed which they are intended to
compensate over the periods and in the proportion in which depreciation on those assets is charged.

(b) Payable for long-term assets represents non-current payables in respect of procurement of property, plant and
equipment, construction in progress and mining rights.

(c) The decommissioning costs relate to reclamation and closure costs relating to the Group’s mine operations. The
decommissioning costs are calculated as the net present value of estimated future net cash flows of the reclamation
and closure costs, discounted at 4.9%, which amounted to RMB111,189,000 (31 December 2021:
RMB114,559,000) in total as at 31 December 2022.
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The ageing analysis of trade payables (which are included in trade and other payables), based on the

invoice date, is as follows:

Within three months

Over three months but less than six months
Over six months but less than one year
Qver one year but less than two years

Over two years
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2021
RMB’000

281,980
16,909
9,922
4,549
12,854

326,214

30 CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Made-to-order manufacturing arrangements
— Billings in advance of performance

31 December
2021
RMB’000

30,045

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract liabilities recognised are as follows:

Made-to-order manufacturing arrangements

When the Group receives a deposit before the production activity commences this will give rise to
contract liabilities at the start of a contract, until the revenue recognised when control over a product
transferred to the customers. The Group typically receives a deposit on acceptance of orders from
new customers, the amount of the deposit, if any, was negotiated on a case by case basis with

customers.
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CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued)

Movements in contract liabilities

2021
RMB’000
Balance at 1 January 2,778
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of billing in advance
of manufacturing activities 273,771
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of recognising
revenue during the year (246,504)
Balance at 31 December 30,045
All of the other contract liabilities are expected to be recognised as income within one year.
LEASE LIABILITIES
At 31 December 2022, the lease liabilities were repayable as follows:
2021
RMB’000
Within 1 year 480
After 1 year but within 2 years 816
After 2 years but within 5 years 1,256
After 5 years 1,586
3,157
3,637

LOAN FROM SHAREHOLDERS

On 28 December 2021, the Company and D&R Investment entered into a loan agreement and the
unsecured loan of RMB40,000,000 was provided by D&R Investment, which is bearing interest per
annum at 5.39% and with a maturity of one month. The loan of RMB40,000,000 was repaid in
January 2022.

On 24 February 2022, the Company and D&R Investment entered into a loan agreement and the
unsecured loan of RMB30,000,000 was provided by D&R Investment, which is bearing interest per
annum at 5.39% and with a maturity of one month. The loan of RMB30,000,000 was repaid in April
2022.
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33 CAPITAL AND RESERVES

(@) Movements in components of equity
The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of each component of the Group’s
consolidated equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of the
changes in the Company’s individual components of equity between the beginning and the end
of the year are set out below:

The Company

PRC

Share Share statutory
capital premium reserves Retained Total
(note 33(b)) (note (i)) (note (ii)) profits equity

Note RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000

At 1 January 2021 172,850 891,926 160,070 1,079,926 2,304,772

Changes in equity for 2021

Total comprehensive income for the year = = = (65,020) (65,020)
Appropriation of safety production fund - — 40,908 — 40,908
Utilisation of safety production fund (40,908) = (40,908)

At 31 December 2021 38

Changes in equity for 2022

Total comprehensive income for the year
Appropriation of safety production fund
Utilisation of safety production fund

At 31 December 2022 38

Notes:

(i) Share premium
The share premium represents the difference between the total amount of the par value of shares issued and
the amount of the net proceeds received upon the global initial public offering. The application of the share
premium account is governed by sections 167 and 168 of the PRC Company Law.

(i) PRC statutory reserves
Transfers from retained earnings to the PRC statutory reserves were made in accordance with the relevant
PRC rules and regulations and articles of association of the Company and its subsidiaries incorporated in the
PRC.

The Company and the subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC are required to transfer 10% of their net profit,
as determined in accordance with the PRC accounting standards and regulations, to the statutory surplus
reserve (the “SSR”) until the reserve balance reaches 50% of the registered capital. Subject to certain
restrictions as set out in the relevant PRC regulations, the SSR may be converted to increase the share
capital of the Company, provided that the remaining balance after the capitalisation is not less than 25% of
the registered share capital.

Pursuant to the relevant regulations in the PRC, the Group is required to provide for safety production fund
based on volume of ores excavated and sales amount of certain products.
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33 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(a)

(b)

Movements in components of equity (continued)
Notes: (continued)

(i) PRC statutory reserves (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company transferred RMB59,808,000 (2021: RMB40,908,000)
from retained earnings to specific reserve for the provision for the safety production fund, and transferred
RMB59,808,000 (2021: RMB40,908,000) from reserves to retained earnings for the utilisation of the safety

production fund according to relevant PRC regulations.

(i) Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of overseas operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies set

out in note 1(x).

(iv) Other reserve

The excess of purchase consideration on acquisition of non-controlling interests over the carrying value of the

share of net assets acquired are charged to other reserve.

Share capital

Amount
RMB’000

113,395
59,455

Number of
shares
As at 31 December 2021, 1 January 2022 and
31 December 2022
Registered, issued and fully paid:
Domestic shares of RMBO0.20 each 566,975,091
H shares of RMB0.20 each 297,274,000
Total 864,249,091

172,850

The holders of Domestic shares and H shares are entitled to receive dividends as and when
declared by the Company. All Domestic shares and H shares are ordinary shares and rank pari

passu with the same rights and benefits.
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33 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(c) Statutory reserves — specific reserves
Pursuant to the relevant regulations in the PRC, the Group is required to provide for safety
production fund based on volume of ores excavated and sales amount of certain products.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group transferred RMB85,028,000 (2021:
RMB57,885,000) from retained earnings to specific reserve provision for the safety production
fund and transferred RMB85,028,000 (2021: RMB57,885,000) from specific reserve to retained
earnings for the utilisation of the safety production fund according to relevant PRC regulations.

As at 31 December 2022, the consolidated retained profits included an appropriation of
RMB52,328,000 (31 December 2021: RMB47,557,000) to PRC statutory reserve made by the
subsidiaries of the Group.

(d) Capital management
The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and
market confidence and to sustain future development of the business. The Board of Directors
actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure to maintain a balance between
the higher shareholder returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the
advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes adjustments to the
capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

Consistent with industry practice, the Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of a net
debt-to-adjusted capital ratio. For this purpose the Group defines net debt as total debt (which
includes bank and other borrowings, trade and other payables, lease liabilities less cash and
cash equivalents and pledged deposits). Adjusted capital comprises all components of equity
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company less unaccrued proposed dividends.

In order to maintain or adjust the ratio, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends payable to
shareholders, issue new shares, return capital to shareholders, raise new debt financing or sell
assets to reduce debt.
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33 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(d) Capital management (continued)
The Group’s adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021
was as follows:

31 December

2021
Note RMB’000
Current liabilities:
— Bank and other borrowings 28 3,542,876
— Trade and other payables 29 1,072,020
— Lease liabilities 31 480
— Loan from shareholders 32 40,000
4,655,376
Non-current liabilities:
— Bank and other borrowings 28 -
— Other payables 29 484,955
— Lease liabilities 31 3,157
488,112
Total debt 5,143,488
Less: Cash and cash equivalents 27 (160,145)
Pledged deposits 26 (1,363,361)
Adjusted net debt 3,619,982
Total equity attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company 1,929,031
Adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio 188%

There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the year.

A bank loan agreement of the Company was subject to the fulfiment of covenants imposing
certain specific performance requirements on the Company, including the asset debt ratio not
higher than 75%, current ratio not lower than 60% and contingent liability not higher than
RMB500,000,000. If the Company was to breach the covenants, bank loan amounting to
RMB100,000,000 would become payable on demand.

Other than the abovementioned covenants of bank loan agreement, neither the Company nor any
of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
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34 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

(a)

(b)

Capital commitments, representing purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
outstanding at 31 December 2022 not provided for in the financial statements, were as follows:

2021

RMB’000

Authorised and contracted for 102,532
Authorised but not contracted for 372,944
475,476

Financial guarantees issued
As at 31 December 2022, the Company has issued the following guarantees:

(i) Guarantees to a subsidiary, Lingbao Gold International, in respect of a loan granted to another
subsidiary, Full Gold, of USD1,739,000 (RMB equivalent 12,111,000) (31 December 2021:
USD1,426,000 (RMB equivalent 9,092,000));

(i)  Guarantees to a bank in respect of a bank loan granted to a subsidiary, Shenzhen Jinda,
of RMB40,000,000 (31 December 2021: RMB40,000,000) (see note 28); and

(i)  Guarantees to certain banks in respect of bank loans granted to a subsidiary, Full Gold, of
USD2,800,000 (RMB equivalent 19,501,000) (31 December 2021: USD5,500,000 (RMB
equivalent 35,066,000)) (see note 28).

As at 31 December 2022, a subsidiary of the Group, Huatai, has issued a guarantee to the
Company in respect of bank loans granted to the Company, of RMB140,000,000 (31 December
2021: RMB140,000,000) (see note 28).

Other than the covenants breached by a subsidiary named Full Gold (see note 28), the
management does not consider it probable that a claim will be made against the Group or the
Company under any of the guarantees. The maximum liability of the Group or the Company at
the end of the reporting period under the guarantees issued is the above outstanding loans
granted to the subsidiaries of the Company.

Except for the above guarantees, the Group or the Company does not provide any guarantees
which would expose the Group or the Company to credit risk.
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35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES
Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate, gold price, other commodity price, foreign currency and
procurement of raw material risks arises in the normal course of the Group’s business. The Group’s
exposure to these risks and the financial risk management policies and practices used by the Group to
manage these risks are described below.

(a)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting
in a financial loss to the Group. The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and other
receivables, deposits and prepayments. The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from cash
and cash equivalents, bills receivable and derivative financial assets is limited because the
counterparties are banks and financial institutions with high credit quality, for which the Group
considers to have low credit risk.

Trade receivables

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer. The default risk of the industry and country in which customers operate also has an
influence on credit risk but to a lesser extent.

The majority of gold bullion was traded on or through Shanghai Gold Exchange, of which
receivables will be collected within 1-2 days upon the completion of clearing by Shanghai Gold
Exchange. Therefore, there is no significant credit risk in respect of the receivables due from
Shanghai Gold Exchange.

For sales of jewellery, the Group has no significant credit risk as the transaction amounts are
required to be settled immediately upon the delivery.

For sales of other metallic products, the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are
subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an
ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debt is not significant. Normally, the Group
obtains a part of advance receipts from customers.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs,
which is calculated using a provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss experience does
not indicate significantly different loss patterns for different customer segments, the loss
allowance based on past due status is not further distinguished between the Group’s different
customer bases.

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience over the past two years. These rates
are adjusted to reflect differences between economic conditions during the period over which the
historic data has been collected, current conditions and the Group’s view of economic conditions
over the expected lives of the receivables.
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35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES (continued)

(a)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

Credit risk arising from purchase deposits

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had purchase deposits of RMB68,116,000 (net of provision)
(81 December 2021: RMB53,253,000) to suppliers to secure its supplies of mineral sand which is
the major raw materials in the smelting process. The balance represented 2.09% of the total
current assets at 31 December 2022 (31 December 2021: 1.65%). The purchase deposits will be
recovered through purchases from these suppliers in future periods. In the event that these
suppliers ceased to provide mineral sand to the Group, the Group may expose itself to
significant credit risk arising from the recoverability of the purchase deposits and hence the
profitability will be adversely affected.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s purchase deposits of RMB750,618,000 (31 December
2021: RMB741,512,000) were individually determined to be impaired (see note 25(c)).
Management of the Group will continue to monitor the progress of the recoverability of the
purchase deposits and chase for settlement of the outstanding balances from the suppliers
regularly.

The maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of any collateral held is represented
by the carrying amount of each financial asset in the consolidated statement of financial position
after deducting any impairment allowance, and discounted and endorsed bills with full recourse
which were derecognised by the Group (see note 25).

Except for the financial guarantees given by the Company and a subsidiary, as set out in note
34(b), the Group does not provide any other guarantees which would expose the Group to credit
risk.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from
trade and other receivables and purchase deposits are set out in note 25.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as and
when they fall due. The Group’s approach in managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible,
that it will always have sufficient funding to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and
stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risk damage to the Group’s
reputation.

The Group closely monitors cash flow requirements and optimising its cash return. The Group
prepares cash flow forecasts and ensures it has sufficient cash for the servicing of operation,
financial, and capital obligations. This excludes the potential impact of extreme circumstances
that cannot be reasonably predicted, such as natural disasters.
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35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES (continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (continued)
Other than discounted and endorsed bills with full recourse which were derecognised by the
Group, the following table details the remaining contractual maturities at the end of the reporting
period of the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities and derivative financial liabilities, which are
based on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments computed using
contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the end of the reporting period) and the
earliest date the Group can be required to pay:

2021 Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
More than ~ More than

Within 1 year but 2 years but Carrying
1yearor  lessthan  less than  More than amount at
on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total 31 Dec

Note RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000

Bank and other

borrowings 28 3,558,405 - - — 3,558,405 3,542,876
Lease liabilities 31 720 480 1,360 2,800 5,360 3,637
Loan from shareholders 32 40,165 - = - 40,165 40,000
Trade and other

payables 1,047,520 111,787 107,361 165,148 1,431,816 1,368,551

4,646,810 112,267 108,721 167,948 5,035,746 4,945,064
Note:

Further information on management’s plans to manage the Group’s liquidity needs is set out in note 1(b).

(c) Interest rate risk
The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from interest-bearing borrowings. Borrowings issued
at variable rates and fixed rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk and fair value
interest rate risk respectively. Management monitors interest rate exposures and will consider
hedging significant interest rate risk should the need arise. The Group’s interest rate profile as
monitored by management is set out below.
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35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES (continued)
(c) Interest rate risk (continued)

(i) Interest rate profile
The following table details the interest rate profile of the Group’s net borrowings at the end
of the reporting period, after taking into account the effect of swap contracts.

2021
Interest
rate
% RMB’000

Net fixed rate borrowings:

Bank and other borrowings 2.63 ~ 4.79 2,975,961

Lease liabilities 4.90 3,637
Loan from shareholders 5.39 40,000
3,019,598
Net variable rate
borrowings:
Bank and other borrowings 3.85 ~ 4.85 566,915
Less: Cash and cash
equivalents 0.05 ~ 4.20 (160,145)

Pledged deposits 0.05 ~ 2.70 (1,363,361)

(956,591)
Total net borrowings 2,063,007
Net fixed rate borrowings as a
percentage of total net
borrowings 146%
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35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES (continued)
(c) Interest rate risk (continued)

(ii) Sensitivity analysis
The Group does not account for any fixed rate borrowings at fair value through profit or
loss. Therefore a change in interest rate at the reporting date would not affect profit or
loss.

As at 31 December 2022, it is estimated that a general increase/decrease of 100 basis
points in variable interest rates, with all other variables held constant, would decrease/
increase the Group’s net profit for the year and retained earnings by approximately
RMB10,796,000 (2021: RMB7,174,000). This sensitivity analysis has been determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred at the end of reporting period and
the change was applied to the Group’s variable rate borrowings at that date with exposure
to cash flow interest rate risk. The impact on the Group’s net profit and retained earnings
is estimated as an annualised impact on interest expense or income of such a change in
interest rates. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2021.

(d) Commodity price risk
Gold price risk arises from the risk of an adverse effect on current or future earnings resulting
from fluctuations in the price of gold.

The Group entered into forward and futures contracts for the sale of gold. All forward and future
commodity contracts can only be carried out under the approval of the General Manager’s Office
which is composed of top management of the Company and established by the Board of
Directors of the Company. As approved by the Board of Directors of the Company, the holding
position of gold underlying the exposure positions of forward and future contracts should not
exceed certain percentage of annual gold planned production volume of the Group, respectively.
In addition, the price range of the forward and future commodity contracts is closely monitored
by the General Manager’s Office. As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, most forward and future
commodity contracts had been closed out. The details of exposure positions of forward and
future contracts are set out in note 35(g).

Accordingly, a reasonably possible fluctuation of 10% in commodity prices would have no
significant impact on the Group’s net profit and retained earnings for the year.

(e) Foreign currency risk
The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through cash and cash equivalent, trade and
other receivables, trade and other payables and bank and other borrowings that are
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the operations to which they
relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily United States dollars (“USD”). In
addition, as the Hong Kong dollar (“HKD”) is pegged to the USD, the Group considers the risk of
movements in exchange rates between the HKD and the USD to be insignificant.
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35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES (continued)

(e)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

U]

(i)

Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group’s exposure at the end of the reporting period to
currency risk arising from recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a currency other
than the functional currency of the entities to which they relate. For presentation purposes,
the amounts of the exposure are shown in Renminbi, translated using the spot rate at the
year end date. Differences resulting from the translation of the financial statements of
foreign operations into the Group’s presentation currency are excluded.

Exposure to foreign currency
(expressed in Renminbi)

2021

USsD

RMB’000

Trade and other receivables 968,651
Cash and cash equivalents 5,632
Trade and other payables (583,580)
Bank and other borrowings (216,029)
Overall net exposure 704,574

Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the instantaneous change in the Group’s profit after tax and
retained profits that would arise if foreign exchange rates to which the Group has
significant exposure at the end of the reporting period had changed at that date, assuming
all other risk variables remained constant.

2021
Increase/
(decrease) in
profit after
Increase/ tax and
(decrease) in increase/
foreign (decrease) in
exchange retained
rates profits
% RMB’000
uUSD 3 15,853

@) (15,853)
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35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES (continued)
(e) Foreign currency risk (continued)

(ii) Sensitivity analysis (continued)
Result of the analysis as presented in the above table represent an aggregation of the
instantaneous effects on each of the Group entities’ profit after tax and equity measured in
the respective functional currencies, translated into Renminbi at the exchange rate ruling at
the end of the reporting period for presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in foreign exchange rates had been
applied to re-measure those financial instruments held by the Group which expose the
Group to foreign currency risk at the end of the reporting period, including inter-company
payables and receivables within the Group which are denominated in a currency other than
the functional currencies of the lender or the borrower. The analysis excludes differences
that would result from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations in the
Group’s presentation currency. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2021.

(f) Procurement risk of raw material

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s supplies of direct materials from
independent third parties for smelting segment represent 79.2% (2021: 77.2%) of the Group’s
total direct materials, in which, the top five suppliers in 2022 represent 55.4% (2021: 43.1%) of
the Group’s total direct materials. Although the Group believes that it maintains good
relationships with its suppliers, there can be no assurance that its suppliers will continue to sell
to the Group on normal commercial terms as and when needed. In the event that these
suppliers cease to sell to the Group and the Group could not secure other sources of supply,
the Group’s revenue and profitability will be adversely affected.
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35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES (continued)

(9)

Fair value measurement

U]

Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s financial instruments measured at
the end of the reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level fair
value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement. The level into which a fair
value measurement is classified is determined with reference to the observability and
significance of the inputs used in the valuation technique as follows:

o Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted
quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
at the measurement date

o Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs
which fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs for which
market data are not available

o Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant unobservable inputs

The Group has a team headed by the finance manager performing valuations for the
financial instruments. The team reports directly to the chief financial officer. A valuation
report with analysis of changes in fair value measurement is prepared by the team at each
interim and annual reporting date, and is reviewed and approved by the chief financial
officer. Discussion of the valuation process and results with the chief financial officer is held
twice a year, to coincide with the reporting dates.
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35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES (continued)
(g) Fair value measurement (continued)

(i) Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value (continued)

Recurring fair value
measurement
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss:
— Unlisted equity
securities

Financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or
loss:

— Gold future and forward
(note)

Note:

At 31 December 2022, the exposure positions of gold future and forward contracts were 1,645kg and the

value of these contract was approximately RMB673,677,000. The closing date was not determined when the
Group entered into these contracts.
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35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES (continued)
(g) Fair value measurement (continued)
(i) Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value (continued)

Fair value measurements as at
31 December 2021 categorised into

Fair value at

31 December
2021 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Recurring fair value
measurement
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss:
— Unlisted equity
securities 4,520 - - 4,520
— Gold future 485 485 - -

Financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or
loss:
— Precious metal forward (1,2983) (1,2983) - -

During the year ended 31 December 2022, there were no transfers between Level 1 and
Level 2 (2021: Nil), or transfers into or out of Level 3 (2021: Nil).

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy as at the
end of the reporting period in which they occur.

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

The fair value of unlisted equity securities is determined using the price/sales ratios of
comparable listed companies adjusted for lack of marketability discount. The fair value
measurement is negatively correlated to the discount for lack of marketability.

Significant
Valuation techniques unobservable inputs

Unlisted equity securities Market comparable Discount for lack of
companies marketability

(ii) Fair values of financial assets and liabilities carried at other than fair value
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments carried at cost or amortised cost
are not materially different from their fair values as at 31 December 2021 and 2022.
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36 SEGMENT REPORTING
The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are organised by a mixture of business lines
(production processes, products and services) and geography. In a manner consistent with the way in
which information is reported internally to the Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment, the Group has presented the following
four reportable segments. Operating segments with similar nature of the production process, products
and services have been aggregated to form the following reportable segments.

Mining — PRC — Gold mining and mineral ores processing operations in the PRC.

Mining — KR — Gold mining and mineral ores processing operations in the KR.

Smelting — Gold and other metal smelting and refinery operations carried out in the PRC.
Retailing — Gold and other jewellery retailing operations in the PRC.

(a)

Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and allocating resources between
segments, the Group’s senior executive management monitors the results, assets and liabilities
attributable to each reportable segment on the following bases:

Segment assets include all tangible assets, intangible assets, deferred tax assets and current
assets with the exception of investments in financial assets and other corporate assets managed
by head office. Segment liabilities include trade creditors and accruals attributable to the
activities of the individual segments, deferred tax liabilities and bank and other borrowings
managed directly by the segments with the exception of bank and other borrowings managed by
head office.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable segments with reference to sales
generated by those segments and the expenses incurred by those segments or which otherwise
arise from the depreciation or amortisation of assets attributable to those segments. However,
other than reporting inter-segment sales of goods, assistance provided by one segment to
another, including sharing of assets and technical know-how, is not measured.

Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments as provided to the Group’s most senior
executive management for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 is set out below.
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36 SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

(@) Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued)

Mining = PRC Mining — KR Smelting Retailing Total

2021 2021 2021 2021 2021
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Revenue from external
customers 63,662 64,741 5,219,475 5,347,878
Inter-segment revenue 1,365,534 11,561 - 1,367,085
Sales taxes and levies (102) (15,525) (1,640) (17,267)
Reportable segment revenue 1,419,094 60,767 5,217,835 6,697,696
Reportable segment profit/(loss) 521,676 (39,424) (7,069) 475,183
Reportable segment assets 3,460,741 540,728 2,722,614 6,724,083
Reportable segment liabilities 2,261,007 1,442,375 1,968,129 5,671,511
Other segment information
Interest expenses (30,589) (2,823) (44,746) (78,158)
Depreciation and amortisation
for the year (161,594) (20,955) (23,068) (205,617)
(Provision)/reversal of
impairment on:
— property, plant and
equipment (9,986)
— intangible assets =
— right-of-use assets =
— purchase deposits 50
— other non-current assets -
— trade and other receivables (1,680)
— prepayment -
— investment deposits (9,400)
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36 SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

(b) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues, profit or loss, assets and

liabilities
2021
RMB’000
Revenue
Reportable segment revenue 6,697,696
Elimination of inter-segment revenue (1,367,085)
Consolidated revenue 5,330,611
Profit or loss
Reportable segment profit 475,183
Elimination of inter-segment profits (62,412)
Reportable segment profit derived from the Group’s
external customers 412,771
Other net loss (41,212)
Share of (losses)/profits of associates 6,089
Finance costs (138,548)
Unallocated head office and corporate expenses (66,233)
Consolidated profit before taxation 172,867
Income tax (55,228)
Profit for the year 117,639
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36 SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

(b) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues, profit or loss, assets and
liabilities (continued)

2021
RMB’000
Assets
Reportable segment assets 6,724,083
Elimination of inter-segment receivables (989,619)
Elimination of unrealised profits (105,718)
5,628,746
Interest in associates 28,620
Other financial assets 4,520
Cash and cash equivalents managed by head office 832,861
Unallocated head office and corporate assets 509,154
Consolidated total assets 7,003,901
Liabilities
Reportable segment liabilities 5,671,511
Elimination of inter-segment payables (989,619)
4,681,892
Unallocated head office and corporate liabilities 573,813
Consolidated total liabilities 5,255,705
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37 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Directors are of the view that the following companies
are material related parties of the Group:

D&R Investment Major shareholder of the Group
ELCREEEEERMARRAA

Lingbao Wason Copper-Foil Company Limited Entity controlled by D&R Investment
EEEERBARI AL T (“Wason Copper-Foil”)

Shenzhen Londian Electrics Company Limited Entity controlled by D&R Investment

FINBEEERND BR QA (“Shenzhen Londian”)

D&R International Capital Management (Hong Kong) Limited  Entity controlled by D&R Investment
ECEBREAERE (F%) AR AA (“D&R Hong Kong”)

Henan Daren mineral products supply chain management Entity controlled by D&R Investment
Co., Ltd
HEAECRERBEEEEFR A A (“D&R Henan”)

The English translation of the names is for reference only. The official names of these entities are in
Chinese.

(@) Key management personnel remuneration
Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group, including amounts paid to the
Company’s directors and supervisors as disclosed in note 9 is as follows:

2021

RMB’000

Short-term employee benefits 5,898
Post-employment benefits 261
6,159

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see note 6).
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37 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b) Material transactions with related parties

2021

RMB’000
Loan from shareholders
D&R Investment (note 32) 90,000
Guarantee charge
D&R Investment (note 37(d)) 3,590
Rental expense
D&R Investment 2,520
Sales of other metals
Wason Copper-Foil 2,593
Purchases of other metals
D&R Henan -
Payment on behalf of the Company
D&R Investment 1,477
Rental income
Shenzhen Londian 1,200
D&R Hong Kong -
Interest expense
D&R Investment 165
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37 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(c) Balances with related parties

As at the end of each reporting period, the Group had the following balances with related

parties:
2021
RMB’000
Amounts due from related parties
Shenzhen Londian 231
D&R Investment 4,310
D&R Hong Kong -
D&R Henan —
Loan from related parties
D&R Investment 40,000
Amounts due to related parties
Shenzhen Londian 443
D&R Investment 116
D&R Hong Kong 3,453
Wason Copper-Fail 155

(d) Guarantee issued by related parties
During the year ended 31 December 2022, D&R Investment issued maximum guarantees
amounting to RMB1,085,000,000 to several banks in respect of bank and other borrowings (see
note 28), bank acceptance bills and letter of credit of the Company (2021: RMB1,135,000,000).

In 2021, the Company and D&R Investment entered into an agreement for guarantee charge in
relation to the above guarantees issued by D&R Investment. The guarantee charge was
calculated based on the principals of unpledged bank and other borrowings with annual fee rate
of 1%. For the bank and other borrowings pledged by deposits, inventories or long-term assets,
no guarantee charge was occurred during the year ended 31 December 2022.

(e) Applicability of the Listing Rules relating to connected transactions
The related party transactions with D&R Investment and the subsidiaries of D&R Investment
constitute connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The disclosures
required by Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules are provided in section “Connected transactions” of
the Directors’ Report.
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38 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

31 December

2021
Note RMB’000
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 913,007
Construction in progress 108,031
Intangible assets 467,484
Right-of-use assets 66,900
Interests in subsidiaries 19 2,897,470
Interests in associates 28,620
Other financial assets 4,520
Non-current prepayments 742
Deferred tax assets 508,687
4,995,461
Current assets
Inventories 1,177,969
Trade and other receivables, deposits and
prepayments 109,101
Amounts due from subsidiaries 308,534
Pledged deposits 1,301,550
Cash and cash equivalents 38,202
2,935,356
Current liabilities
Bank and other borrowings 2,087,810
Trade and other payables 553,681
Lease liabilities -
Contract liabilities =
Loan from shareholders 32 40,000
Current tax payable 42,576
Amounts due to subsidiaries 2,587,819
5,311,886
Net current liabilities (2,376,530)
Total assets less current liabilities 2,618,931
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38 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)

31 December

2021
Note RMB’000
Non-current liabilities

Bank and other borrowings -
Other payables 376,868
Lease liabilities s
Deferred tax liabilities 2,311
379,179
NET ASSETS 2,239,752

CAPITAL AND RESERVES 33
Share capital 172,850
Reserves 2,066,902
TOTAL EQUITY 2,239,752
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39 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has issued a number of
amendments and a new standard, HKFRS 17, Insurance contracts, which are not yet effective for the
year ended 31 December 2022 and which have not been adopted in these financial statements. These
developments include the following which may be relevant to the Group.

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

HKFRS 17, Insurance contracts 1 January 2023

Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial statements: Classification 1 January 2023
of liabilities as current or non-current

Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial statements and HKFRS 1 January 2023
Practice Statement 2, Making materiality judgements: Disclosure of
accounting policies

Amendments to HKAS 8, Accounting policies, changes in accounting 1 January 2023
estimates and errors: Definition of accounting estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12, /ncome taxes: Deferred tax related to assets and 1 January 2023
liabilities arising from a single transaction

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these amendments, new
standards and interpretations is expected to be in the period of initial application. So far it has
concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the consolidated
financial statements.
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FIVE YEARS SUMMARY

Year ended 31 December

2021 2020 2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Assets and liabilities
Non-current assets
Net current liabilities

3,768,035 3,129,363 3,038,076 2,975,760
1,624,226 1,323,136 977,769 101,145

Total assets less current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

2,243,809 1,806,227 2,060,307 2,874,615
495,613 195,206 567,285 937,189

NET ASSETS 1,748,196 1,611,021 1,603,022 1,937,426

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital
Reserves

172,850 172,850 172,850 172,850
1,756,181 1,610,298 1,479,486 1,893,599

Total equity attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company
Non-controlling interests

1,029,031 1,783,148 1,652,336 2,066,449
(180,835)  (172,127)  (149,314) (129,029

TOTAL EQUITY 1,748,196 1,611,021 1,603,022 1,937,426

Operating results
Revenue 5,330,611 5,599,947 5,874,357 5,384,027
Profit/(loss) from operations 305,326 286,739 (20,768) (716,954)
Finance costs (138,548) (164,522) (182,464) (299,593)

Profit/(loss) before taxation 172,867 122,217 (203,232) (1,016,547)

Income tax (55,228) (64,896) (48,609) 126,480
Profit/(loss) for the year 117,639 57,321 (251,841) 777,834
Profit on disposal of discontinued

operations — — — 1,667,901
Attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the Company 130,026 89,700 (233,502) 796,162
Non-controlling interests (12,387) (82,379) (18,339) (18,328)

Profit/(loss) for the year 117,639 57,321 (251,841) 777,834
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